INCLUSIVE CLASSROOM SETTING FOR HIGH SCHOOL STUDENTS WITH EMOTIONAL BEHAVIOR DISORDERS: A PHENOMENOLOGICAL STUDY OF EDUCATORS' EXPERIENCES

by

Marvin Marshall

Liberty University

A Dissertation Presented in Partial Fulfillment
Of the Requirements for the Degree

Doctor of Philosophy

Liberty University

2024

INCLUSIVE CLASSROOM SETTING FOR HIGH SCHOOL STUDENTS WITH EMOTIONAL BEHAVIOR DISORDERS: A PHENOMENOLOGICAL STUDY OF EDUCATORS' EXPERIENCES

by

Marvin Marshall

A Dissertation Presented in Partial Fulfillment
Of the Requirements for the Degree

Doctor of Philosophy

Liberty University, Lynchburg, VA
2024

APPROVED BY:

Kristy Motte, Ed.D., Committee Chair Craig Bailey, Ed.D., Committee Member

Abstract

The purpose of this qualitative hermeneutic phenomenological study was to understand the experiences of public high school teachers educating students with emotional behavior disorders (EBDs) in the inclusive classroom setting in the Major County School District. The theory guiding this study was Ryan and Deci's self-determination theory (SDT). SDT was applied to this study to understand the autonomy, competence, and relatedness experiences of teachers. Hermeneutics, meaning interpretive or explanatory, was the application of phenomenological design that was used for this study. This approach focused on the commonality of lived experiences that lay beneath surface awareness which is an interpretive process in an individual's world. Criterion sampling with maximum variation in mind was done to select 14 participants who have experienced the study's central phenomenon. Data was collected through individual interviews, focus group interviews, and behavior documents collected. The data was analyzed using the Saldaña method of first and second order coding. Three themes were revealed during the data analysis process: teachers are committed to supporting students, preparing teachers for the inclusive classroom setting, and support system for teachers. A major finding of this study was that professional development programs for teachers are vital in the development of them adequately educating students with EBDs in the inclusive classroom setting.

Keywords: inclusive, differentiate, accommodate, self-contained, behaviors

Copyright Page

Copyright 2024, Marvin Marshall

Dedication

I dedicate this dissertation to my wife and children. May you continue to grow in knowledge and wisdom throughout your lives.

Acknowledgments

I must acknowledge the advice and encouraging words from my Chair. Her encouraging words convinced me to persevere and complete the process. I am very grateful for Dr. Kristy Motte. There could not have been a better Chair chosen for me.

Table of Contents

Abstract	3
Copyright Page	4
Dedication	5
Acknowledgments	6
Table of Contents	7
List of Tables	11
List of Abbreviations	12
CHAPTER ONE: INTRODUCTION	13
Overview	13
Background	13
Historical Context	14
Social Context	16
Theoretical Context	18
Problem Statement	19
Purpose Statement	20
Significance of the Study	21
Research Questions	23
Sub-Question One	24
Sub-Question Two	24
Sub-Question Three	25
Definitions	25
Summary	26

CHAPTER TWO: LITERATURE REVIEW	28
Overview	28
Theoretical Framework	28
Related Literature	30
Summary	58
CHAPTER THREE: METHODS	60
Overview	60
Research Design	60
Research Questions	62
Central Research Question	62
Sub-Question One	62
Sub-Question Two	62
Sub-Question Three	62
Setting and Participants	62
Setting	63
Participants	64
Researcher Positionality	64
Interpretive Framework	65
Philosophical Assumptions	66
Ontological Assumption	66
Epistemological Assumption	67
Axiological Assumption	68
Researcher's Role	68

Procedures	69
Permissions	70
Recruitment Plan	70
Data Collection Plan	70
Individual Interviews	71
Focus Groups	75
Data Synthesis	77
Trustworthiness	78
Credibility	78
Transferability	79
Dependability	80
Confirmability	81
Ethical Considerations	81
Summary	82
CHAPTER FOUR: FINDINGS	83
Overview	83
Participants	83
Results	91
Theme 1	92
Research Question Responses	112
Central Research Question	112
Sub-Question One	113
Sub-Question Two	113

Sub-Question Three	114
Summary	115
CHAPTER FIVE: CONCLUSION	116
Overview	116
Discussion	116
Interpretation of Findings	118
Implications for Policy or Practice	124
Theoretical and Empirical Implications	129
Limitations and Delimitations	132
Recommendations for Future Research	133
Conclusion	135
References	137
Appendix A	166
Appendix B	168
Appendix C	171
Appendix D.	172

List of Tables

Table 1. Teacher Participants	85
Table 2. Themes and Subthemes	93

List of Abbreviations

Behavioral Intervention Plan (BIP)

Education for All Handicapped Children Act (EAHCA)

Emotional Behavior Disorder (EBD)

Free Appropriate Public Education (FAPE)

Individuals with Disabilities Education Act (IDEA)

Individualized Education Plan (IEP)

Institutional Review Board (IRB)

Least Restricted Environment (LRE)

No Child Left Behind Act (NCLBA)

Self-Determination Theory (SDT)

Students with Disability (SWD)

CHAPTER ONE: INTRODUCTION

Overview

Teachers have experienced unique challenges educating students with emotional behavior disorders (EBD) in the inclusive classroom setting (Mahabbati et al., 2022; McGuire & Meadan, 2022; Van Mieghem et al., 2022). This chapter provides the background of teachers' experiences in the inclusive classroom setting educating students with EBDs. The historical and social contexts provide the foundation of information related to teacher experiences and the theoretical context provides information from previous research and theories as they relate to this topic. The problem statement provides insight into the issue of teachers not being properly trained to educate students with EBDs in the inclusive classroom setting. The significance of the study describes how this research may theoretically and empirically contribute to existing research on the topic of teachers' experiences and proper training. The research questions correlate to the foundation of the study and the pertinent definitions are included. There is a gap in the literature pertaining to adequate training and development for general education teachers educating students with behavioral disabilities in the inclusive classroom setting.

Background

A provision of the special education law mandates that students with special needs be educated in the general education setting (Mooney & Ryan, 2022) with their non-disabled peers (Melloy & Murry, 2019) in the least restricted environment (LRE) to the maximum extent appropriate (McKenna et al., 2019). The term emotional behavior disorder (EBD) was previously referred to as serious emotional disturbance(s) (Pereira & Lavoie, 2018), which originated from emotional disturbance(s) (ED) and was revised to lessen the language intensity of the designation (American Psychiatric Association, 2022). Students who are identified as having emotional

behavior disorders (EBDs) display behaviors that go beyond the conventional challenging behavior for a typically developing student (McGuire & Meadan, 2022). Teachers have varied perceptions about how students with EBDs progress in an inclusive classroom learning environment (Ndivhuwo et al., 2022). Some support such inclusion (Pereira & Lavoie, 2018), while others are opposed (Rodríguez et al., 2021). Research shows a lack of teacher support for inclusion (Dalgaard et al., 2022), as this may affect the progression of the student with special needs academically and behaviorally (McKenna et al., 2019). While this study's goal is to understand the importance of teachers being properly and adequately trained to educate students with EBDs in the inclusive classroom setting. It is first important to understand the historical, social, and theoretical context of this topic.

Historical Context

In the 1940s, federal and state government agencies moved individuals with disabilities into public schools and mainstream society (Oelrich, 2012). In 1974, it was documented that nearly half of the six million students who did attend school received no special education services from the public school system (Bettencourt et al., 2018; Oelrich, 2012). In 1975, the United States Congress enacted the Education for All Handicapped Children Act (EAHCA) in response to the discrimination of special education students in public schools, which was renamed and amended to the Individuals with Disabilities Education Act (IDEA) (Bettencourt et al., 2018). IDEA is a set of legalized rights that allows students with special needs to receive free appropriate public education (FAPE) in the LRE (Bacon & Pomponio, 2023). Before IDEA, students continued to face discrimination as the number of students with special needs who were excluded from public education was massive (Garland & Dieker, 2019).

IDEA mandates that school districts create an individualized education plan (IEP) for

students identified as having a disability (Zoromski et al., 2021). The IEP was introduced in 1975 and was designed to meet the needs of every child with a disability with parental approval (American Psychiatric Association, 2022). The IEP identifies the academic, behavioral, and functional goals for students to reach on an annual basis (Sanderson & Goldman, 2023). The IEP is a roadmap to how the school will provide students with disabilities (SWD) a FAPE (Weiss et al., 2021). Throughout the years, students who felt they were not receiving FAPE challenged their school systems in court on multiple occasions (Van Mieghem et al., 2022). In 2000, two SWDs who were deaf from birth (Easterbrooks et al., 2004) and were denied FAPE (Lanterman et al., 2021). They were placed in a classroom with students that had severe and multiple disabilities (McConnell et al., 2021). The teacher had no knowledge of how to educate deaf students nor did the teacher understand sign language (Silvestri & Hartman, 2022). Because the two students were denied FAPE, they were awarded 2.5 million dollars by the courts in Alabama (Easterbrooks et al., 2004).

Recently, there has been a shift with teachers in inclusive classrooms providing various learning tools to students with EBDs and those with other disabilities (Verret et al., 2022) so the students develop the learning skills needed to live independently in society (Crispel & Kasperski, 2021). Teachers are required to search for effective instructional strategies and methods of accommodating students with EBDs (Lanterman et al., 2021), to keep them engaged in classroom activities because of the increase of SWD in inclusive environments (Ennis & Katsiyannis, 2018). The No Child Left Behind Act (NCLBA) (2001) increased the population of SWD and EBD in general education classrooms (Bacon & Pomponio, 2023). The NCLBA profoundly affects the education of students with EBDs, who consistently perform below grade level as their general education peers (Karagianni & Drigas, 2023). Based on a review covering

25 years of the academic status of students with EBDs, the review found that 91% of these students did not perform above grade or age level and were labeled academically deficient (Vannest et al., 2009). The NCLBA increases the focus on academic accountability, as it mandates that the academic achievement of students with EBDs should be measured in the same manner as their peers (Karagianni & Drigas, 2023; Vannest et al., 2009).

SWDs have the guarantee of FAPE through the legislation of IDEA (Hurwitz et al., 2021). In 2023, it is hard to believe that any student would be denied FAPE in school systems because of the laws for general and special education students that are in place (Koehler & Wild, 2019; Mathews et al., 2023). As a result, it is becoming increasingly difficult to distinguish general education students from SWD (Curran et al., 2021). However, school systems continue to struggle to practice inclusive education for students with EBDs consistently (Mahabbati et al., 2022). The inclusive education practice continues to struggle (Mason et al., 2021), because of the fear some teachers have of students with EBDs in the classroom among other general education students (Mutter et al., 2023).

Social Context

Students who are identified as having an EBD display behavior that go beyond the conventional challenging behavior for a typically developing student (McGuire & Meadan, 2022) which can directly impact their social contexts. For students with EBDs, learning in the inclusive classroom setting alongside their peers can lead to a variety of struggles (Van Mieghem et al., 2022). There are internalizing and externalizing behaviors exhibited in students with EBDs (Ahmed et al., 2022). Internalizing behaviors exhibited in these students are depression, social withdrawal, anxiety, or psychosomatic reactions (Inbar-Furst & Landau, 2022). Externalizing behaviors consist of attention problems, aggression, disruptive behavior, immaturity, or self-

injurious behavior (Tamsah et al., 2023). These internalizing and externalizing behaviors can directly impact their social contexts in the classroom and community (Inbar-Furst & Landau, 2022; McGuire & Meadan, 2022).

One of the social struggles students with EBDs experience is difficulty building relationships with their peers (Rukavina et al., 2019). In order to increase their engagement and the building of quality relationships between special and general education students in the classroom and community (Chambers et al., 2020), teachers can be taught how to develop soft and hard skills in their classroom settings (McConnell et al., 2021). In some school systems, educational leaders require teachers to utilize soft skills for SWD in the classroom setting to increase the students' everyday skills (Bartlett & Freeze, 2019). The concept of soft refers to skills that are social and personal (Fernandes et al., 2021) and the opposite of hard (Tamsah et al., 2023). Hard skills are skills that relate to technical skills that relate to tools or programs (Kwon et al., 2023). In the past, these skills were considered in other categories of the profession (Sengupta et al., 2023). Students with EBDs need to form healthy peer relationships in the classroom to increase the likelihood of engaging with others in social environments in the future (Archbell & Coplan, 2022; McGuire & Meadan, 2022).

Students with EBDs can also struggle socially to form strong relationships with their teachers (Alkahtani, 2022). In terms of social closeness between students with EBDs and their teachers, these students have low levels of closeness and high levels of dependency on their teachers (Evashkovsky & Osipova, 2023). There is often little positive social interaction between teachers and students with EBDs (Soares et al., 2022), which makes it difficult for these students to socialize with teachers and other students in the classroom or within the school community (Ndivhuwo et al., 2022). Engaging the students in classroom activities that require all student

involvement for rewards works well for social interaction with others and reduces deficiency behaviors in students with EBDs (Francisco et al., 2020). Positive student-teacher relationships can be important for students with EBDs in reducing their feelings of anxiety and depression, as well as teachers effectively managing their classrooms of students with diverse disabilities and disorders in the inclusive learning environment (Keane et al., 2023; Knopik et al., 2022).

Theoretical Context

A variety of theories have been used to understand the instruction of students with EBDs. Two foundational theories are the medical model and social model of disabilities. The medical model of disability focuses on an individual's mental or physical limitations and is not connected to the social environment (Chou et al., 2023). The medical model of disability is applied when focusing on the deficiency behaviors that must be treated within the student (Chambers et al., 2020). This model of disability helps aid practices for SWD in helping them become independent, develop communication skills, learn to make new friends, reach teachers' behavioral expectations, and complete tasks in the same manner as their general education peers (Chou et al., 2023; Park et al., 2021). This model is a contrast with the social model of disability. The social model of disability is known as a social construct, as individuals who are disabled show deficiencies from an ableist, inaccessible environment not by a problem within themselves (Zagona et al., 2022). This model of disability focuses on the person who is disabled in an environment among other people and how these things become a hindrance to the person who is disabled (Graham et al., 2021). Exclusion from individuals without disabilities and how this may protect individuals who are disabled can be a way of accommodating the person who is disabled in the social model (Ndivhuwo et al., 2022).

Many theories can be used to understand the experience of teachers in the inclusive

classroom setting educating students with EBDs (Bacon & Pomponio, 2023). For example, Deci and Ryan's (1980) self-determination theory (SDT) states that the expectation of incentives or rewards in the future is derived by inherent motivation (Nukhu & Singh, 2023). It has been used to understand the core elements that influence behavior: autonomy, relatedness, and competence (Ryan & Deci, 2000). For students with EBDs specifically, researchers have used SDT to understand the self-regulation development of students (Xia et al., 2023), problem-solving (Sheldon & Prentice, 2019), and choice-making skills (Ward et al., 2010). These are highly relevant to satisfying basic psychological needs (i.e., autonomy, competence, relatedness) (Umemoto & Inagaki, 2023).

Problem Statement

The problem is that students with EBDs in inclusive settings are not being properly accommodated academically (Mahabbati et al., 2022) or behaviorally (Bettini et al., 2019) by teachers who are adequately trained to support their needs (Evashkovsky & Osipova, 2023), which can cause irreparable harm for these students now and in the future (McKenna et al., 2022). In 2018, according to the National Center for Education Statistics, only 69% of SWDs graduated with a regular diploma, while 18% dropped out (American Psychiatric Association, 2022). Other groups with disabilities, such as students with EBDs accounted for 35% of those dropping out of school (Silvestri & Hartman, 2022). According to the U.S. Department of Education, an average of 40% of students with EBDs graduate from high school compared to 76% of general education students completing the same requirements (Kielblock & Woodcock, 2023; Vaughan, 2020). This disparity is alarming and comes at a great cost to both society and the individual. The average high school dropout costs the economy approximately \$260,000 (American Psychiatric Association, 2022) over the student's lifetime in terms of higher reliance

on Medicaid and Medicare, higher reliance on welfare, higher rates of criminal activity, and lower tax contributions (McFarland et al., 2016). Although inclusive settings result in these high rates of attrition for students with EBDs, inclusion is mandated by IDEA (Brazzolotto & Phelps, 2021). There are many barriers to true inclusion for students with EBDs including negative stereotypes and stigmas (Garwood & Van Loan, 2019), difficulty integrating with peers (Ferreira et al., 2023; Zweers et al., 2019) and connecting with their teachers (Cornell & Sayman, 2020; Ndivhuwo et al., 2022). Peer interactions and student-teacher interactions may play a role in placement choices for these students, with the student potentially being placed in a general or special education learning environment (Zweers et al., 2019). Irrespective of regular or special educational context, studies that examined student-teacher relationships have consistently found that typically developing students have far better student–teacher relationships than students with EBDs (Knopik et al., 2022). Research shows meeting the needs of all learners requires movement away from one-size-fits-all instruction towards differentiated instruction in the classroom setting (Brazzolotto & Phelps, 2021). However, there is limited research on teacher experiences with classroom-based practices for students with EBDs in the inclusive classroom setting (Burgueño et al., 2022).

Purpose Statement

The purpose of this hermeneutic phenomenological study was to describe the experiences of public high school teachers educating students with EBDs in inclusive classroom settings. At this stage in the research, inclusion was generally defined as placing students with EBDs in a classroom setting with their general education peers (Van Mieghem et al., 2022). Students with EBDs was defined as students who exhibit behaviors that go beyond the conventional challenging behavior for a typically developing student (McGuire & Meadan, 2022).

Significance of the Study

The purpose of this study was to understand teachers' experiences in inclusive classroom settings instructing students with EBDs. Considering the different characteristics of students with special needs, one of the factors of inclusive education was to change the negative views teachers have, which is imperative for creating a comfortable learning environment in the inclusive classroom setting (Bogush et al., 2022). In challenging a teacher's existing pedagogical design, one's teaching practice requires deliberate engagement in learning and discussion that encourages self-reflexivity (Brazzolotto & Phelps, 2021). A teacher's engagement with their student that impacts their self-reflexivity was important to the theoretical, empirical, and practical view of this study. This study aimed to be significant theoretically, empirically, and practically (Ferreira et al., 2023).

Theoretical

The self-determination theory was applied to this study to understand the autonomy, competence, and relatedness experiences of teachers instructing students with EBDs in inclusive settings (Deci & Ryan, 1985). Quality teachers being properly developed through teacher training and professional development programs can improve teacher competencies and minimize teacher abandonment which has been occurring at a high rate over the years (Burgueño et al., 2022). In understanding that motivation determines the maintenance and initiation of a person's behavior, studying the motivational processes in teachers educating students with EBDs in inclusive classroom settings can be of great interest (Harbour et al., 2022). Students who develop a positive connection with their teachers are more likely to develop integrated and identifiable regulations for learning lessons than those who feel a sense of disconnection from their teachers (Xia et al., 2023). Teachers with a greater sense of relatedness with their

environment in school perform better in the classroom and tend to remain longer in the profession than others who do not feel a sense of connectedness or relatedness (Deci & Ryan, 1985). This study will be theoretically significant as it applies self-determination theory to a specific setting, namely teachers of students with EBDs. It may confirm, disprove, or even extend Deci and Ryan's (1985) theory as it relates to this population.

Empirical

There is a growing discourse in education on inclusive practices when it comes to the often-overlooked perspective of teachers in literature (Ferreira et al., 2023). In search of a supportive environment for students with or without special needs, new challenges for teachers have been brought in inclusive education (van den Berg & Stoltz, 2018). In this study, conducting a comprehensive analysis of teachers' experiences and attitudes toward inclusive education is an important topic because teaching behavior is triggered by attitudes (Cornell & Sayman, 2020). While the attitudes of teachers towards inclusion is a commonly researched topic (Kielblock & Woodcock, 2023), this study aimed to be empirically significant by adding to the existing literature on attitudes with the perceptions and experiences of teachers regarding students with EBDs in inclusive settings specifically.

Practical

This study may be practically significant for teachers who have general education students and students with EBDs in their inclusive classroom setting. Research shows teachers struggle with classroom management and the appropriate placement and integration of students with EBDs in the classroom (van den Berg & Stoltz, 2018). Teachers can increase their understanding of their relationships with their students and colleagues in the classroom (Brazzolotto & Phelps, 2021). Expanding teachers' pedagogical skills, content knowledge, and

professional dispositions is vital in accommodating students with EBDs academically and behaviorally in the inclusive classroom setting (Ferreira et al., 2023). After this study, teachers may be able to apply behavioral strategies to their classroom rules and regulations that better accommodate general education students and students with EBDs. Teachers will be able to glean important information from this study concerning the seating arrangement for students with more externalizing behaviors in the inclusive classroom.

Research Questions

This hermeneutic phenomenology study sought to understand the experiences of teachers educating students with EBDs in the inclusive classroom setting. Recent studies have called for advanced interventions and intensive support for students with EBDs with complex needs in inclusive settings (Cornell & Sayman, 2020). There has been a lack of professional development for general education teachers, in preparing them to educate students with EBDs in the inclusive classroom setting (Crispel & Kasperski, 2021). The relationships between the teachers, parents, and/or community agencies are critical for overcoming these challenges teachers experience on a consistent basis in the field of special education (Zweers et al., 2019). The theoretical framework for this study, built around Deci and Ryan's SDT (Deci & Ryan, 1985) has served to develop all aspects of this study including the research questions (Ryan & Deci, 2000). This study was guided by one central research question and three sub-questions:

Central Research Question

What are the shared experiences of public high school teachers instructing students with emotional behavior disorders (EBDs) in inclusive classroom settings?

The need for this research is to better understand the experiences of teachers educating students with EBDs in an inclusive setting. The collective experiences of the teachers will

become the catalyst to pursue further learning in order to bring needed change that supports inclusive education for students with EBDs and other students with disabilities. This question is further explored through three sub-questions.

Sub-Question One

What challenges do high school teachers experience while instructing students with emotional behavior disorders (EBDs) in inclusive classroom settings?

SDT provided the theoretical foundation for this question. It was used to understand the challenges teachers face instructing students with EBDs in inclusive settings. SDT proposes that teachers may experience extrinsic motivation, which could involve external rewards or avoid punishment from educational leaders (Deci & Ryan, 1985; Ryan & Deci, 2000). As teachers experience the challenges of educating students with EBDs, the motivation to understand how to meet the needs of the students encourages the teachers to be well prepared to meet the challenges they may face in the inclusive setting.

Sub-Question Two

What are the relatedness experiences of public high school teachers instructing students with emotional behavior disorders (EBDs) in inclusive classroom settings?

Deci and Ryan's SDT theory also provided a theoretical framework for this question. As teachers understand current practices concerning inclusive education for students with EBDs, there exist opportunities to learn from other educators teaching in the inclusive learning environment. The relationships between teachers and others in the inclusive classroom and outside the inclusive classroom environment is important for the success of teachers instructing students with EBDs. This question was used to understand the relationship teachers have with their student who has an EBD, their other students, other teachers, and their administration.

Sub-Question Three

What are the competence experiences of public high school teachers instructing students with emotional behavior disorders (EBDs) in inclusive classroom settings?

Again, SDT provided the theoretical framework for this question. Deci and Ryan spoke of the intrinsic motivation that drives learning for the teacher (Deci & Ryan, 1985; Ryan & Deci, 2000). SDT provides the structure of teachers internally motivated to teach students with EBDs. This question provided insight into the teachers' competence level of educating students with EBDs in the inclusive classroom setting. It revealed a lack of competence or how teachers remediated their competence when it was lacking.

Definitions

- 1. *Accommodations* An alteration in the general education curriculum that provides support to students with disabilities for them to succeed in receiving general education content as their general education peers (Bettencourt et al., 2018).
- 2. Andragogy Viewed as a system of concepts and the art and science of adult learning where students are encouraged to participate in the learning environment by utilizing their own experience (Note et al., 2021).
- 3. *Differentiation* Altering instructional content to meet each student's individual needs (Graham et al., 2021).
- 4. *Emotional Behavior Disorder (EBD)* A disability or disorder characterized by deficits in behavior different from appropriate age, ethnic norms, or culture that adversely affect educational performance (American Psychiatric Association, 2022).

- 5. *Inclusive Classroom* A classroom where students with disabilities and students without disabilities learn educational content in the same learning environment (Francis et al., 2021).
- 6. *Individualized Education Plan (IEP)* A written plan developed by a team of individuals for a student with a disability that clearly defines the student's present levels of functional and academic performance. The team of individuals consists of the parent, a special education liaison, a general and special education teacher, and any other individual that works to support the special education student (Mahabbati et al., 2022).
- 7. Least Restrictive Environment (LRE) A learning environment that enables students with disabilities to be educated alongside their peers to the maximum extent appropriate (Kurth et al., 2019).
- 8. *Mainstream Classroom* A classroom setting where the majority of students do not exhibit a disability or disorder (Alkahtani, 2022).
- Pedagogy The art and science of teaching methods to lead students (Friesen & Su, 2023).
- 10. *Self-contained Setting* A classroom setting that contains only special education students in the learning environment (Jackson et al., 2017).

Summary

The purpose of this study was to understand the experiences of public high school teachers have educating students with EBDs in the inclusive classroom setting. Despite the advancements in modern educational technologies, the teacher remains the most important requirement of the educational process for general and special education students (Ahmad Al Remawi, 2022; Brazzolotto & Phelps, 2021). Today, because of the manifold roles of teachers,

some educational institutions are requiring in-service training for their much-needed development (Ahmad Al Remawi, 2022; Garland & Dieker, 2019). Moreover, the teacher's ability to perform these roles in the classroom is of great importance to the student and educational institution (Chen et al., 2023), in order for the student to show progression academically, behaviorally, and socially (Inbar-Furst & Landau, 2022; Rivera & McKeithan, 2021; Rukavina et al., 2019). There is a gap in the literature pertaining to effective training and development for teachers in the inclusive classroom environment educating students with EBDs (Evashkovsky & Osipova, 2023; Van Mieghem et al., 2022; Zoromski et al., 2021). Due to the importance of the role they play in educating students with EBD, one of the most important issues that occupy pedagogical and educational institutions is the preparation of special education teachers (Bruhn et al., 2023; Crispel & Kasperski, 2021; Friesen & Su, 2023), as it will elevate their professional competence and provide them with the necessary skills to advance in their field of work (Ahmad Al Remawi, 2022; Lanterman et al., 2021).

CHAPTER TWO: LITERATURE REVIEW

Overview

The purpose of this hermeneutic phenomenological study was to describe the experiences of public high school teachers educating students with EBDs in inclusive classroom settings, considering the abilities and individual characteristics of each student. This chapter begins with a review of the study's theoretical framework. Then, it continues with an overview of related literature, beginning with EBDs, inclusive classrooms, teacher perceptions of EBDs, and teacher preparation programs. It closes with a summary.

Theoretical Framework

This study aimed to understand the experiences of public high school teachers who teach students with EBDs in the inclusive classroom setting, self-determination theory (SDT) serves as the theoretical framework for this study. SDT was originated by Richard Ryan and Edward Deci and has been researched for the past 40 years, (Cho et al., 2023). SDT is a major theory that represents an expansive framework for the study of human motivation and personality (Nukhu & Singh, 2023). The propositions of SDT have been used to understand the dynamics in classrooms, families, organizations, teams, cultures, and clinics (Ward et al., 2010). At the core of this theory is intrinsic motivation, which is defined as the motivation to engage in an activity because of the inherent satisfaction rather than the desire for a reward (Deci & Ryan, 1985). Intrinsic motivation can be increased or decreased by a change in the self-perception of a person (Ryan & Deci, 2000). From Freud onward, there is a long history of dynamic perspectives upon recognizable personalities (Sheldon & Prentice, 2019).

Deci and Ryan developed SDT, because they were interested in the factors that facilitate or undermine high-quality motivation in people being wholeheartedly engaged in something

giving their best experience and performance (Deci & Ryan, 1985). Deci and Ryan proposed that people were willing to do things they wanted to do, from an autonomous standpoint (Ward et al., 2010). Their theory of motivation toppled the belief that the best way to get people to perform tasks is to reward them (Umemoto & Inagaki, 2023). SDT is an approach to human motivation and personality that uses inner resources for personality development, identifying three needs that are essential for facilitating optimal functioning for growth and constructive social development which are autonomy, competence, and relatedness (Sheldon & Prentice, 2019).

Autonomy

Autonomy is a basic psychological need defined as the opportunity to be in control of one's own behavior and the volition to self-regulate an individual's experiences (Ryan & Deci, 2000), in which all individuals are motivated to attain and feel competent in performing certain tasks (Deci & Ryan, 1985). Greater intrinsic motivation and a desire for challenges are empowered in students by teachers who are autonomy-supportive (Ward et al., 2010). In contrast, students learn less effectively when they are taught with a more controlling approach (Nukhu & Singh, 2023). Autonomous motivation leads to more in-depth learning for teachers to feel a sense of self-endorsement and volition in their actions educating students in their classroom (Cho et al., 2023).

Competence

Competence is another psychological need defined as having feelings of effectiveness to produce desired outcomes and experience mastery within an environment, physically or socially (Ward et al., 2010). Perceived competence in teachers differs by teacher profile (length of time in the profession), class size, and individuals in the classroom with various exceptionalities (Sheldon & Prentice, 2019). Teachers with more experience in the classroom possess higher

levels of competence; however, having larger classrooms showed a drop in intrinsic motivation and perceived competence (Sanchez-De Miguel et al., 2023).

Relatedness

Relatedness is defined as being connected with others as well as individuals having feelings of being part of a community, caring for, and being cared for (Ward et al., 2010). Teachers' positive emotions, appreciation, and involvement with students develops relatedness within the classroom environment. When relatedness occurs from teacher to pupil, a potential rise in growth, openness, sincere involvement, vitality, and positive feelings can perpetuate a positive cycle (Webster & De Boer, 2021). When relatedness is not accomplished in the classroom with their colleagues, teachers feel isolated and often leave the teaching profession (Mason et al., 2021; Soares et al., 2022).

SDT characterizes a general framework of personality and forecasts multiple types of human motivation (Cho et al., 2023). As it relates to learning, motivation is an important factor for all individuals (Umemoto & Inagaki, 2023). In this study, SDT propositions will be used to understand how these factors facilitate teachers' perceptions of teaching students with EBDs in the inclusive classroom setting. Given that motivation determines the initiation of an individual's behavior, studying the motivation processes of teachers in general and special education classroom settings would seem essential to analyze (Burgueño et al., 2022).

Related Literature

The practice of educating all students in general education classrooms, with accommodations and modifications available to support SWD to the maximum extent appropriate is the definition of inclusive education (Harrison et al., 2019). It is imperative to examine teachers' attitudes, beliefs, and motivation toward students with EBDs in the general

education environment (Lanterman et al., 2021). Teachers held the strongest positive attitudes toward students with sensory and physical disabilities; however, the same teachers held the strongest negative feelings toward the inclusion of students that exhibited behavior problems in the classroom (Alkahtani, 2022). A major cause of teachers' negative attitude toward inclusion is the anxiety and stress that are caused by students with EBDs in their classroom environment (Lawrence et al., 2010). These negative feelings can cause burnout, professional dissatisfaction, and can lead to teachers leaving the teaching profession (Inbar-Furst & Landau, 2022).

While teachers are willing to adapt their practices to support students with EBDs, they often struggle to determine which strategies are effective (Verret et al., 2022) and desire greater training and support (Virani & Ali, 2022). Successful training for general and special education teachers enables self-efficacy and powerfully shapes teachers' skills in enhancing their ability to provide effective instruction to students, which allows them to achieve individual specialized goals (Mathews et al., 2023). General and special education teachers' engagement with professional learning development is a widely used practice that has been shown to increase teacher efficacy and impact student achievement in a positive way (Kielblock & Woodcock, 2023). However, addressing the specific demands, needs, and motivations of teachers is part of the complexity of professional development implementation and planning (Harbour et al., 2022). Today, addressing the topic of having qualified general and special education teachers effectively educating a rapidly growing special needs population in inclusive classroom environments, is of extreme importance for the betterment of the students' progress socially and functionally in our society (Verret et al., 2022). The following review of related literature dives more thoroughly into emotional behavior disorders, the least restrictive environment, inclusive classroom settings, general and social inclusion, inclusive strategies, differentiating instruction in inclusive settings, addressing barriers in inclusive settings, SWD and relationships, self-contained settings, placement of SWD, co-teaching in inclusive settings, professional development, and the summary.

Emotional Behavior Disorders

An emotional behavior disorder is a disability or disorder characterized by deficits in behavior different from appropriate age, ethnic norms, or cultural that adversely affect educational performance (American Psychiatric Association, 2022). Students are labeled with an EBD and qualify for special education services in the public school system when their behavior has an adverse effect on their academic performance in the classroom environment (Garwood & Ampuja, 2019). EBDs cause a range of conditions, including conduct disorders, oppositional defiant disorder, anxiety disorders, and disruptive mood dysregulation disorder which is included for children up to the age of 18 who exhibit frequent episodes of behavioral issues (Scott et al., 2023). The results of which, are an emotional liability for the individual (Yue et al., 2022). Each disorder manifests differently in each student (American Psychiatric Association, 2022). In addition, students with EBDs commonly exhibit difficulties in managing their emotions, poor communication skills, depression, impulsivity, and showing aggressive actions toward peers and adults (Riden et al., 2022).

There are challenging connectedness experiences related to academic, social, and behavioral problems for students who have an EBD (Mahabbati et al., 2022). These challenges can lead to, a sense of isolation and frustration, academic underachievement, minimal task engagement, and strained relationships with their peers and teachers (Conroy et al., 2023). In the classroom environment, these problems can be particularly concerning because they can cause disruptions to the ongoing activities in class and can hinder others from learning (Francisco et

al., 2020), which is more detrimental when other students are affected (Carr et al., 2022). When these issues are prevalent, services are no longer provided in an inclusive classroom setting with other general education students (Zweers et al., 2020). This can result in exclusion from school with a higher risk of being placed in the juvenile justice system (Oliveira et al., 2023).

Students with EBDs should be granted the same legal and educational rights as other SWD (Hurwitz et al., 2021). Every student deserves an education that nurtures their unique strengths, enhances their growth, and equips them with the necessary skills to succeed in life (Mahabbati et al., 2022). Despite effective interventions for students with EBDs in school, they continue to have extreme academic failure, high criminal activity, and the poorest post-school economic outcomes (Mahabbati et al., 2022; Owens & Lo, 2022). Function-related intervention teams implementing classroom management programs based on positive behavior support have found to be effective strategies in special education classrooms (Wills et al., 2023). However, once students with EBDs are placed in the juvenile justice system their chances of graduating from high school decrease (Ferolino & Yap, 2023). This can have a long-term effect on students with EBDs because juvenile justice systems are becoming increasingly more like criminal justice systems around the world (Oliveira et al., 2023).

According to the world report on disability from the World Health Organization, ninety-three million children up to the age of fourteen are estimated to have a moderate or severe disability in both developing and already developed countries (Tiwari, 2023). The World Health Organization has developed programs for families of children with disabilities to address the gap for children in low-income international countries (Sengupta et al., 2023). These outcomes have become a worldwide challenge due to a lack of successful inclusive practices in education (Zabeli et al., 2021). Beginning from preschool and continuing through higher education, the

implementation of inclusion principles and the education of students with EBDs remains a persistent challenge around the globe (Supriadi et al., 2023). The disassembling of segregated education is the primary concern of inclusive education in some countries, as evidenced in many cross-cultural studies assisted by international bodies to ensure that all students have access to general education content (McConnell et al., 2021). The inclusion of SWD is legislated internationally and the acceptance of inclusive education is continuously growing around the world (Francisco et al., 2020).

According to the NCLBA (2001), there are laws that mandate inclusive education for every child in the educational school system that requires all students to be involved in all mainstream activities internationally and in the United States (Karagianni & Drigas, 2023). The No Child Left Behind Act (2001) proposes that all students have access to the general education curriculum with the content taught by highly qualified teachers (Koehler & Wild, 2019). Since the inception of inclusive education in the United States, the educational framework of SWD has been defined by legal determinations of court cases, the civil rights movement, and the passing of state and federal laws (Fernandes et al., 2021). For this reason, the efficacy and appropriateness of inclusive education continues to be complex and multifaceted, especially when the topic of inclusion includes students with EBDs in the LRE (Harrison et al., 2019).

Students with EBDs experience high rates of behavioral and academic failure in various classroom settings (Garland & Dieker, 2019). Students with EBDs are among the most marginalized group of students in schools and various data sources indicate that they are disproportionally impacted by illicit practices that deny them their civil rights to a FAPE (Melloy & Murry, 2019). They often develop negative self-concepts academically and experience frustration when it comes to learning new material and concepts relating to a subject matter

(Garwood & Ampuja, 2019). Many school districts are quick to label students with EBD and segregate them from other students placing them in separate classrooms and institutions (Yoon, 2019). This relates to poor outcomes for students with EBDs in the future (Owens & Lo, 2022).

In order to access the curriculum effectively students with EBDs may require accommodations, modifications, and additional supports (Bacon & Pomponio, 2023). This may involve academic scaffolding, assistive technology, individualized behavior intervention plans, differentiated instruction, and sensory regulation strategies (Chen et al., 2023). By creating a predictable and structured classroom environment (van den Berg & Stoltz, 2018), teachers can provide a sense of stability and help minimize triggers for these students to assist them in having behaviors conducive to the classroom environment (Hurwitz et al., 2021). School officials or the IEP team must know the school climate and connectedness in relation to variations of EBDs (Mahabbati et al., 2022). Furthermore, it is significant to understand the impact students with EBDs have on inclusive and self-contained learning environments and to provide the necessary interventions when needed (Curran et al., 2021).

To improve student outcomes, knowledgeable and skilled teachers must give students with EBDs evidence-based behavioral and academic supports (State et al., 2019). Effective evidence-based practices make a difference on meeting the needs of challenged students, with solid preparations from the teacher (Rivera & McKeithan, 2021). With the use of effective-based practices, teachers must be prepared to balance the impact of academic and behavioral challenges (Melloy & Murry, 2019). In order to master content objectives and develop the emotional, social, and behavioral skills needed to collaboratively work together, problem solve, and accept constructive feedback to appropriately resolve conflicts in school and life, these foundational skills are needed (Van Mieghem et al., 2022). Students with EBDs are in critical need of support

from teachers because EBD students face challenges throughout their lives (Filderman et al., 2022). More than other students with exceptionalities, students with EBDs struggle with poor academic performance as well as behavioral challenges, and without effective taught skills their performance doesn't improve over time (Lawrence et al., 2010). Thus, the need for efficient instruction is imperative from effective teachers who have the knowledge and skills to implement the necessary strategies (State et al., 2019).

Once students with EBDs are placed in general education settings it is vital for teachers to utilize techniques and strategies to include these students in classroom activities and functions, not just merely having them placed in the classroom environment as a statistic (Lanterman et al., 2021). It calls into question the degree to which students with EBDs are appropriately being served through inclusion with their peers (Karimah & Hasegawa, 2022). Today, it is still not clear if an inclusive setting is appropriate for students with EBDs to meet their individualized goals and objectives (Jackson et al., 2017), because of this many concerns remain (McKenna et al., 2022). Teachers in inclusive classrooms have an obligation to know and understand each EBD student's behavioral intervention plan to improve patterns of behavior and to ensure continued access to the general education curriculum (Hurwitz et al., 2021). By acknowledging the professional dialog concerning inclusion, the validity of the assertion that students with EBDs can effectively be included in the general education classrooms in greater proportions can be supported by general and special education teachers (Zweers et al., 2020).

Educational leaders have an obligation to prepare general and special education teachers to effectively implement responsive approaches to meet the needs of general and special education students in public schools (Scott et al., 2022). However, these responsive approaches are more significant for students with EBDs (Garland & Dieker, 2019). A key issue in inclusive

education is the ability of students with EBDs to develop positive peer relationships and develop age-appropriate skills in general education classes (Banks et al., 2018). Without this interaction with others in general education classes, it is difficult for EBD students to progress in school and in society (Karimah & Hasegawa, 2022). Over the years, research has shown that a large number of EBD students struggle to interact with others and develop friendships with their peers compared to students without an exceptionality (van den Berg & Stoltz, 2018). At times, many students with EBDs fail to identify boundaries and the early trauma that they may have endured in their lives carries over into the school environment (Whitlow et al., 2019). Despite the increasing number of SWD being placed in general education settings, the placement of students with EBDs in the least restricted environment (LRE) requires intervention, highly specialized instruction, and support to improve their academic, behavioral, and social skills (McKenna et al., 2022).

Least Restrictive Environment (LRE)

SWD have the legal right to be educated in the LRE as their general education peers to the maximum extent appropriate and the separation of these students may only occur when the severity of the disability is such that the use of services and supplemental aids may not be achieved in the inclusive setting (Harrison et al., 2019). As the legislative act, the Education for All Handicapped Children (EAHCA) states, all students with an exceptionality or disability have the legal right to be educated in a learning environment as close as possible to other general education students in the general education classroom (Cumming et al., 2021). Since the inception of the LRE over 40 years ago, there have been multiple revisions made throughout the years (McKenna et al., 2022). Within IDEA, the LRE is articulated broadly, with the use of services and supplementary supports a placement resulting in more restrictive settings should

only occur when the nature of the disability is such that education in the general education setting cannot be adequately accomplished (Reiner, 2018). However, there remain points of confusion among local educational agencies and school districts regarding its implementation and interpretation (Bolourian et al., 2020). Therefore, some teachers and educational leaders have suggested that the general education classroom may not be considered the LRE for all students, despite the law's language (Kurth et al., 2019).

Federal laws in the United States mandate that students with EBDs have access to the general education curriculum and these policies protect inclusive practices for EBD students (Harrison et al., 2019). These mandates classify a philosophical orientation within FAPE in the LRE, while explicitly requiring evidenced-based practices as well as other learning and behavioral strategies (van den Berg & Stoltz, 2018). There have been many reports by proponents of inclusion that the inclusion of students with special needs in the LRE can become more of a contributing factor of quality social interactions and positive school outcomes (Karimah & Hasegawa, 2022). The positive effect of the inclusion of students with and without exceptionalities in the LRE setting is why many educators have argued in support of these types of settings, which impact students' academic performance and social acceptance (Lanterman et al., 2021).

Under the LRE mandate, federal regulations require all schools to have a continuum of placements available to meet the needs of all students with special needs, regardless of their age (Zweers et al., 2019). The educational placement of the traditional LRE continuum model extends from the least restrictive end of the general education classroom settings to hospital homebound instruction on the most restrictive end of the continuum (Bacon & Pomponio, 2023). The students who require more extensive services, such as students with EBDs, are assigned to a

more restricted classroom placement (Whitlow et al., 2019). As the placement of EBD students in the LRE is mitigated, there can be misinterpretations and inconsistency in their placement (McKenna et al., 2022), which can cause a contentious environment between families and some schools (Rowe et al., 2023). Decisions may be decreased when it comes to the implementation of students with EBDs in the LRE because of concerns of educational inequality (Bolourian et al., 2020). There have been several issues over the LRE and classroom placement for SWD, as parents have increasingly pursued due process under procedural safeguards and parental participation authorized under IDEA (Dalgaard et al., 2022). Unfortunately, when the LRE is interpreted as placement in the local schools for SWD, inclusive education is considered to be more of an ideology rather than the intention of IDEA (Silvestri & Hartman, 2022).

Inclusive Classroom Settings

The commitment to include SWD in the classroom with general education students is defined as inclusive education (Van Mieghem et al., 2022). The concept of inclusion originated in human rights as a political initiative and was passed down from the United Nations to the government and then to schools (Gidlund, 2018). The first time the principle of inclusive education was recognized was at the World Conference on Special Needs Education in 1994 (Tiwari, 2023). IDEA influences inclusion because it allows legal grievances, but states through their own policies, may impact the degree of inclusion (Bacon & Pomponio, 2023). Public funding or the lack of public funding can have an adverse effect on inclusion, due to social policies within government entities (Westling, 2019). IDEA proposes that all school buildings possess adequate facilities to accommodate special needs students such as cool-off rooms, adequate restrooms, toilets for handicapped persons, and transporting areas for all children at all levels within that particular school environment (Jameson et al., 2020). Thus, emphasizing the

term *inclusive education*, which indicates that all students learn together in the same school and classroom learning environment (Ahmed et al., 2022).

Inclusive education provides opportunities for each student to learn in the same learning environment, as teachers collaborate with others in support of SWDs (Van Mieghem et al., 2022). Teachers play an underlining key role in shaping adolescents' inclusive experiences because these pupils are experiencing various feelings of acceptance at the adolescent age (Dimitrellou & Male, 2022). It is imperative to establish a positive school climate at this level because of the many social issues such as teasing, bullying, and violence that hinders a student's learning (Rukavina et al., 2019). If adequate academic interventions are not performed, the academic performance worsens in high school (Afacan & Wilkerson, 2019). According to the National Assessment of Educational Progress, less than 10% of eighth grade SWD performed above proficiency in mathematics in inclusive classroom settings (Morris et al., 2022). Moreover, the Nation's Report Card reported that only 10% of eight graders with disabilities scored proficient in reading, warranting additional concerns (O'Connor et al., 2019). SWD disruptive behaviors in middle school were associated with poor grades across all core content areas, loss of teaching time, and poor social interactions with their general education peers (Zoromski et al., 2021).

General and Social Inclusion

In the United States and other countries around the world, as one of the priorities of educational reform agendas, there is a growing move to include SWD in general education classrooms with their general education peers and in their local community (Van Mieghem et al., 2022). There is teamwork with teachers, parents, and students involved in prevention and intervention practice, influencing inclusive environment outcomes (Inbar-Furst & Landau, 2022).

Merely placing SWD in a classroom environment with their general education peers does not automatically mean that their communication skills or social interaction will facilitate improvement in the inclusive setting (Bogush et al., 2022). However, the use of necessary strategies and evidence-based practices can increase the probability of SWD progressing adequately and reaching their full potential academically and socially in the classroom environment, as well as effectively interacting with others in their community (Verret et al., 2022). Building an inclusive and active society is predicated on providing support for all students in school and in the community (Gagnon, 2022).

Two types of inclusion are easily noticed in an effective inclusive classroom environment (McGuire & Meadan, 2022). The two types are general and social inclusion (Banks et al., 2018). General inclusion is when there are general and special education students actively participating and showing achievement in academic classroom activities (Van Mieghem et al., 2022). Inclusion in the classroom often requires two or more certified educators to be present with general and special education students in the classroom (Jackson et al., 2017). Social inclusion involves the integration of students being actively engaged with others in the classroom and school communities, having equal participation and opportunities for reciprocal and positive relationships with adults and peers (Vyrastekova, 2021). It is well recognized that inclusion in the classroom must go well beyond the physical inclusion of students (van den Berg & Stoltz, 2018), but involve meaningful social interaction where they have relationships, friendships, and contacts as other students (McGuire & Meadan, 2022). There is limited research on practices that can guide educators in promoting communication and social interaction between students in inclusive classroom settings (Bacon & Pomponio, 2023).

Promoting social change in special education exposes the exclusion that exists in nominally inclusive schools and redirects education toward inclusive practices in the classroom and the surrounding community (Bartlett & Freeze, 2019). There are some advantages and disadvantages for SWD when it comes to community life and relationships with others (Robinson et al., 2021). When determining which intervention practices to use for professionals who provide services to various learners, they are urged to look at adjacent fields specifically from those students with severe, multiple disabilities, or students who have behavioral needs (Kwon et al., 2023). In addition, when there are general education students engaged in the interventions the teacher provides, the general education students serve as models and assist their SWD peers (Evashkovsky & Osipova, 2023). Some disadvantages for SWDs, when it comes to community life and relationships with others, are that SWDs are less likely to be employed and more likely to experience impoverished living conditions in their community (Robinson et al., 2021). Many students with EBDs experience low social competence and find it difficult to cooperate and have positive relations in interpersonal interactions in social environments (De Swart et al., 2023). The ability to function effectively in a social environment is social competence (De Swart et al., 2023). These difficulties have far-reaching consequences in the future if there is no change socially in the school environment and the community (Inbar-Furst & Landau, 2022).

During the adolescence phase of SWD, communication issues with peers can negatively impact academic learning, functional independence, and social emotional development (Dimitrellou & Male, 2022). Therefore, early and continuous intervention in the areas of functional and social development is imperative for the development of improving communication skills (Blackwell & Stockall, 2021). The social learning model is relied on by

theories of peer relations (Rukavina et al., 2019). This social learning model argues that students are mostly influenced by the company they keep (Banks et al., 2018). It declares that students learn appropriate and inappropriate behaviors from their peer group (Moore et al., 2022). Behavioral, social, and school related skills are learned from peers and adults through interactions in social institutions such as classroom environments (Yell, 2019). Although SWD may have a willingness to communicate with their peers, a lack of pragmatic language skills may isolate them without a notable reason (Shenton, 2004). Generally, SWD verbal communication may lack appropriate responses, topic maintenance, cohesive devices, or lack of initiation (Sanders et al., 2018).

In recent years, it has become common practice to place SWD in classroom settings with general education students, in order to prepare general and special education students for today's society (Francisco et al., 2020). Positive classroom engagement between educators and peers encourages all-around positive morale for all students (McKenna et al., 2022). Modifying practices can provide effective interventions to meet the needs of SWDs, relating to their social and communication skills (Owens & Lo, 2022). Teachers often implement activities to boost social interaction between general and special education students, where students can earn points individually or as a group for positive social involvement and abiding by classroom rules (De Swart et al., 2023). Some teachers feel the inclusion of special and general education students is vital to academic and social growth of special needs students, but other teachers do not support this practice among students (Van Mieghem et al., 2022). For this reason, there are teachers that do not feel academic or social change is necessary (Verret et al., 2022). For teachers to have success in the inclusive classroom, effective strategies must be implemented for students (Kwon et al., 2023).

Inclusive Strategies

A variety of strategies are needed for effective inclusion at the individual, small group, and classroom levels (Krajnc, 2018). For the individual, strategies include embracing students' interest in activities and engaging in one-on-one time in or outside the classroom setting (Bolourian et al., 2022; Evashkovsky & Osipova, 2023). When including SWD in inclusive small groups, strategies such as brainstorming on a particular topic may be effective (Li et al., 2023). Brainstorming is done for students to give their input concerning a particular topic and learn from other students' input in a timely manner (Sabayleh & Sakarneh, 2023). For teachers instructing SWD in a whole classroom setting, strategies such as humanism-based instructional strategies have been effectively practiced, which are student-centered and highlight each student's motivators and needs (Al-Shammari, 2021). This practice promotes intrinsic motivation and avoids the need for students to rely on outside praise (Mutter et al., 2023). Today, general and special education teachers are required to implement strategies for accommodating SWDs in meeting rigorous grade-level standards and demonstrating progress toward measurable individualized goals in supporting inclusive practices (Mathews et al., 2023).

An effective strategy for supporting inclusive practices in the inclusive classroom setting is incidental teaching, which is an interaction between individuals that occur naturally in everyday situations (Sanders et al., 2018). Whenever an SWD shows some sort of interest in something within the classroom environment, that student's interest becomes the subject of the teacher's teaching for that particular instructional class period (Sanderson & Goldman, 2023). The teacher structures the classroom environment around the students' interest in order to initiate conversations for the development of an interacting socially inclusive classroom community (Blackwell & Stockall, 2021; Cosma & Soni, 2019). Incidental teaching involves the

arrangement of an inclusive classroom environment, to start conversations specific to the students' age, skills, and interests while addressing specific language targets (Blackwell & Stockall, 2021; McGuire & Meadan, 2022).

Differentiating Instruction in Inclusive Settings

Differentiation in the classroom is defined as instruction tailored to meet an individual's needs (Rodgers et al., 2021). Differentiating is critical in the context of creating classroom inclusivity and effectively accommodating general and special education students individually in a collective manner (Gheyssens et al., 2021). Over the last quarter century, the work of general and special education teachers has become increasingly complex and specialized for individual special education students, demanding a high level of skill in delivering, determining, and designing the effectiveness of IEPs (Evashkovsky & Osipova, 2023). This is reflected in pivotal court cases and policy changes that have occurred over the past few years in the educational field (Mathews et al., 2023). In order to meet FAPE standards, the instructional content in the classroom needs to be individualized for SWD (Sanders et al., 2018). This is especially apparent with the labeling and placement of students with EBDs (Yell, 2019).

The labeling and treatment of students in the special education classroom continue to operate with a deficit focus, despite IDEA's emphasis on the LRE and FAPE (Lanterman et al., 2021). Operating with a deficit focus means that teachers and educational leaders continue to treat SWD different from their general education peers, by placing SWD in a more restrictive setting than the previous setting, as soon as an issue arises (Van Mieghem et al., 2022). In addition, teachers' perceptions and treatment of SWD are based upon a pre-existing view of how the student should respond to the teachers' redirection or instructional teaching (Cosma & Soni, 2019). With the various challenges and multiple demands of teachers in the inclusive educational

environment, there is widespread acknowledgment that pedagogy is out of sync and that general education teachers are not utilizing the teacher-learning practices suitable for an inclusive educational setting for general or special education students (Brazzolotto & Phelps, 2021). The labels placed on the SWD become more of a detriment, than serving as an eligibility category for learning how to support and accommodate SWD according to their individual needs (Murza & Ehren, 2020).

The labeling and treatment of students with EBDs contribute to an unequal system of educating them in the public school system (Lanterman et al., 2021). Students with EBDs are more likely to be placed in a nonintegrated specialized setting than other SWDs (Alkahtani, 2022). However, a multifaceted long-term approach can be a goal of ensuring successful full inclusion of students with EBDs and other SWD in the inclusive classroom environment (Zabeli et al., 2021). There is a higher willingness of general and special education teachers to differentiate instruction in an inclusive classroom setting with students who have learning disabilities, whereas with students with EBDs, there is very little willingness from the same teachers (Lübke et al., 2019). Teachers' interactions with EBD students can be enhanced with a sense of responsibility for students' progression (Rodríguez et al., 2021), from pathognomonic to interventionist beliefs (Lanterman & Applequist, 2018). Pathognomonic beliefs are the mindset that the disability of a student is fixed and no progression could be sustained (Zhang & Markon, 2021). In contrast, teachers with interventionist beliefs feel that SWD can show progression in any area with taught skills (Hochtritt, 2019). Therefore, there is a difference in the attitudes of teachers educating students with EBDs (Rodríguez et al., 2021).

Today, differentiating instruction in an inclusive classroom setting is known to be the standard way of educating students effectively according to their independent needs (Graham et

al., 2021). However, when schools place students with EBDs in self-contained classrooms instead of the inclusive classroom setting, less differentiating of instruction is performed which causes a lack of instructional quality (Benner et al., 2020). Poor outcomes persist as EBD students continue to experience isolation in the classroom with limited praise, academic feedback, and opportunities to respond (Cumming et al., 2021). The instructional content is seldom of high quality in the self-contained setting (Zagona et al., 2022); therefore, it is challenging to retain quality educators that will give effective instruction to students with EBDs (Bettini et al., 2019).

Addressing Barriers in Inclusive Settings

As general and special education teachers remain to be an essential component of educational inclusion there manages to be a rising pupil to teacher ratio, a lack of autonomy over content, as well as a weak network of professional teachers (Van Mieghem et al., 2022). In primary schools, children with disabilities endure exclusion and considerable prejudice from the general educational system, which creates many negative consequences for their education (Virani & Ali, 2022). In recent years, there has been a distinct shift from a medical model of disability to a focus on the cultural and social factors that can act as barriers to students achieving their goals and having their needs met functionally and academically (Chambers et al., 2020). High-quality inclusive practices are provided to all students when barriers are addressed in the inclusive classroom (Soares et al., 2022). There are various barriers experienced by students with EBDs and other students with exceptionalities that are as diverse as a lack of funding for additional support, inappropriate assessment methods, or barriers related to rigid curriculum (Kielblock & Woodcock, 2023). This adds to the ongoing attitudinal barriers that need to be observed from a broader perspective (Garwood & Van Loan, 2019). Ideally, the

inclusion of students in the classroom would reduce the barriers by locating the problem in the student rather than a change in the environment and circumstances surrounding the student (Van Mieghem et al., 2022).

Inclusion takes on many forms in the public-school system as disability biases are prevalent in the classrooms; some individual supports and aides are used to assist the student by reducing barriers and enhancing engagement between all students (Zabeli et al., 2021). Over the past 20 years, there are a range of factors affecting the implementation of inclusive education for SWD operating at different levels (Ahmed et al., 2022), such as a lack of resources and infrastructure for the inclusion of SWD, which can be scarce in certain areas in the United States (Park et al., 2021). The transformative role of inclusive education does not only apply to the classroom, but to the entire infrastructure of the educational school environment (Chambers et al., 2020). Rather than addressing environmental or institutional barriers, most research focuses on improving the skills of students with special needs (Gheyssens et al., 2021), which can be the key to inclusive disability development for students (Knopik et al., 2022). Improving their learning skills and increasing classroom involvement decreases exclusion from other students in the inclusive setting (Van Mieghem et al., 2022). Children with significant disabilities have distinct learning demands that require a specialized setting to facilitate their participation in the classroom, which enhances their chances of being successful, and building positive qualities before reaching the middle school level (Rukavina et al., 2019).

SWD and Relationships

General education students declared that general education or inclusive classroom settings were appropriate environments to form peer relationships with SWD (de Swart et al., 2023). However, some students with special needs felt isolated at times in the same inclusive

environments (McGuire & Meadan, 2022). Despite these mixed reports (McGuire & Meadan, 2022), general education students continued to spend less time with their special needs peers and more time with other general education students (Weiss et al., 2021). However, this problem was due to barriers associated with a lack of social inclusion by general education teachers (Bogush et al., 2022), in addition to inclusive strategies and techniques that should be implemented for the progression of all general and special education students (Blackwell & Stockall, 2021). Social interaction and increased communication between peers are needed, especially in inclusive settings (Lawrence et al., 2010). When there is a relationship between a reward and a communicative response students learn at a more rapid pace, which leads to fewer behavior issues in the classroom environment (de Swart et al., 2023). For example, a SWD may be rewarded for enunciating an object correctly and receiving the object, rather than receiving points on a chart as a reward (Sanderson & Goldman, 2023).

There can also be animosity between the general and special education students in the same classroom environment (Inbar-Furst & Landau, 2022). General education students feel that special treatment is shown toward SWD and students that exhibit EBDs (Ennis & Katsiyannis, 2018) because favorable conditions for examinations are provided, as well as lenient consequences when SWD misbehave in the classroom environment (Sanderson & Goldman, 2023). This can have an adverse impact on the inclusive class dynamics with feelings of unfair practices toward SWD (Kurth & Jackson, 2022). Therefore, educators who are qualified in the dynamics of special education practices can sensitize the process of assisting general education students in understanding that disabilities and misbehaviors lead to disadvantages (Weiss et al., 2021). The attention that is shown toward SWD is to compensate for their exceptionalities, which all individuals possess in their own way (Knopik et al., 2022).

There is a growing need to understand how teachers perceive students with EBDs due to the number of students with exceptionalities growing rapidly in the public-school systems in the United States (Alkahtani, 2022). Teacher-student relationships can be strongly influenced by problem behaviors from students that are in the category of having a behavioral disorder (Inbar-Furst & Landau, 2022). A teacher-student relationship that is conflictual represents a risk factor that could lead to coercion escalations in students and disruptions in the classroom environment with other students (Conroy et al., 2022). At the core of student development, teachers building relationships with their students is very important, as it provides students with social competencies essential to mastering social challenges (Berchiatti et al., 2022). Teachers who have the proper training in understanding the importance of positive teacher-student relationships have a greater opportunity in managing their classroom environment with students that have EBDs or multiple exceptionalities (Whitlow et al., 2019).

There is a vast amount of literature that specifies an association between emotional behavioral outcomes in students and their relationships with teachers (Sanders et al., 2018). Some general education teachers are pushing out SWD (Inbar-Furst & Landau, 2022), particularly students with EBDs, from their classrooms because of the lack of training these teachers receive for teaching in an inclusive classroom setting and the potential to have low assessment scores from the special needs students who are attributed to the teacher's overall classroom test scores (Ahmed et al., 2022). Teacher-student relationships were more positive when teachers attended professional development programs working with EBDs (Conroy et al., 2022).

Self-Contained Settings

In the special education field, a self-contained classroom is a specialized classroom setting where instructional content is taught to students diagnosed with a disorder or with a disability in the same learning environment (Jackson et al., 2017). Historically, SWD were segregated from their peers to learn instructional content at a separate school (Adamson et al., 2019), until the integration of general and special education students in school and society in the 1940s (Oelrich, 2012). In the 1950s, state courts ruled in favor of schools to exclude students who had limited intelligence or were disruptive in the school learning environment (Yell 2019). The Civil Rights Movement of the 1950s became the catalyst of change not only for minorities but for individuals with disabilities as well (Turnage, 2020). The self-contained classroom setting is a different learning environment than the inclusive classroom setting (Karimah & Hasegawa, 2022). In the inclusive classroom setting general and special education students are taught content in the same learning environment (Anggrawan et al., 2023). In previous years, SWD with complex support needs were given specialized instruction to meet functional and social needs in the self-contained classroom setting once they entered the public school system (Mahabbati et al., 2022).

These self-contained classrooms were deemed necessary and beneficial for SWD with instruction being taught in smaller classroom settings, and specific individualized teaching according to their skill level (Mooney & Ryan, 2022); however, allowing these students to be separated from their general education peers and from instructional content taught by highly qualified teachers (Kurth & Jackson, 2022). Nationally, about 33% of students with EBDs are in a self-contained setting (Mathews et al., 2021). There is concern for students with EBDs in self-contained settings with consistently identified substantial problems with both poor instructional quality of content taught and working conditions for teachers (Cumming et al., 2021). Poor

working conditions for teachers affect their morale to teach students and cause unnecessary stressful conditions on the job (Anggrawan et al., 2023). In the self-contained setting, teachers are encouraged to increase behavioral praise toward EBD students and decrease reprimands (Murphy & Johnson, 2023). These practices increase the probability of EBD students being successful in the LRE (Orr et al., 2020), which may be the self-contained classroom setting (Zweers et al., 2019).

Placement of SWD

Placement decisions for SWD are complex and present unique challenges for each student in the school district (Zweers et al., 2019). Educational placement is an operative principle that is not fixed (Ferolino & Yap, 2023), in which specific educational instruction is given to students and is intended to guide IEP teams in making the best decisions to support the unique learning needs of SWD (Stone, 2019). The IEP team consists of the special education teacher, a general education teacher, the child's parent, and the district's special education department representative (Mahabbati et al., 2022). This IEP team makes the placement decision for the child that exhibits a disability or disorder (Cole et al., 2021). In the United States, placement decisions are largely based on the SWD's educational needs in elementary school (Webster & De Boer, 2021) and whether the SWD was experiencing significant mathematics or reading difficulties by performance on independently administered, untimed, and psychometrically measures (Morgan et al., 2023).

The guidance regarding educational placement of SWD has become one of the most contentious points in the LRE mandate (Wilson et al., 2020). Therefore, in recent years IEP teams have been given more latitude in assigning placement for SWD, with a growing emphasis on supporting these students to make progress in gaining access to the general education

curriculum in the inclusive classroom environment along with general education students (Lanterman et al., 2021). According to the US Department of Education (2020), about 30% of students with learning disabilities, 35% of students with other health impairments, and 51% of students with EBD spend less than 80% of their school day in general education classrooms (Morgan et al., 2023). Moreover, SWD who spent 80% or more of their time in a general education-inclusive classroom did significantly better in both math and reading assessment scores than their peers who spent more time in the self-contained classroom setting (Cole et al., 2021). In the general education classrooms, SWD can receive intensive, effective, and specialized instruction to their unique learning needs (Mathews et al., 2023). In comparison, these unique learning needs are not regularly addressed in the self-contained setting with other SWD (Zweers et al., 2019). However, the debate is ongoing concerning placement practices for students with extensive support needs or who exhibited behavior issues in the classroom with general education students (Murphy & Johnson, 2023).

Most general education teachers in general education classrooms suggested more restrictive placements for students who exhibited behavioral issues in their classrooms (Alkahtani, 2022; Mahabbati et al., 2022). For this reason, there has been an ongoing and persistent concern in schools across the country of disparity placement for students with EBDs (Ferolino & Yap, 2023; Garland & Dieker, 2019). Data show that there are negative long-term outcomes associated with students with EBDs placed in the most restrictive settings, behaviorally and academically (Garwood & Van Loan, 2019). The qualitative differences between placement and inclusion can be discussed by educators as the placement trends are reported (Evashkovsky & Osipova, 2023; Lanterman et al., 2021). For students with EBDs, between 1990 and 2007, the rate of general education placement increased by 105% (McKenna

et al., 2022). In light of IDEA, these statistics from the Americans with Disabilities Act on placements in the LRE are concerning (Ennis & Katsiyannis, 2018).

Co-teaching in Inclusive Settings

The role of the general and special education teacher in an inclusive setting can be complex, as they are usually not prepared to collaborate with other educators to serve SWD in the inclusive classroom setting (Garland & Dieker, 2019; Pizana, 2022). Ideally, in an inclusive classroom setting there is a general and special education teacher delivering substantive instruction (Webster & De Boer, 2021) deliberately and flexibly accommodating the needs of a diverse group of students together in the general education classroom (Jackson et al., 2017). There are few educational systems throughout the country that require cross-training in special education and general core content courses (Mason et al., 2021), leaving both content and special education teachers to remediate the gaps that exist in their practice (Soares et al., 2022). In some classrooms, the general and special education teachers are granted a paraprofessional or paraeducator, which is known as a teacher assistant who holds a unique role in supporting special education students with various disabilities in the areas of behavioral emotional support, social skills, academic instruction, and personal care (Mason et al., 2021).

Under the supervision of a certified general or special education teacher, the paraprofessional is authorized to perform a number of both instructional and non-instructional roles in the self-contained and inclusive classroom setting (Filderman et al., 2022). Paraprofessionals are expected to assist general and special education students in various educational environments on school grounds, in the classroom, gymnasium, or outdoors (Evashkovsky & Osipova, 2023). Paraprofessionals play significant roles in the functional and social progression of SWD and are vital members of the special education team (Soares et al.,

2022). In inclusive classrooms, novice general and special education teachers report that stress is a major factor for burnout on their jobs in their early years (Ndivhuwo et al., 2022). However, working collaboratively in the classroom with paraprofessionals and other teachers really builds their morale and encourages them during this difficult time (Garwood & Ampuja, 2019).

There are cases where the special education teacher will be assisted by the paraprofessional and a general education teacher in the same inclusive classroom setting (Kurth & Jackson, 2022). This support can be bidirectional, where the novice special education teacher is supported by an experienced general education teacher and paraprofessional or the special education teacher actively mentors both the general education teacher and the paraprofessional (Sanderson & Goldman, 2023). The roles between the special education teacher and paraprofessional are interdependent as well as interwoven, as they share responsibilities working closely in the classroom educating SWD (Mason et al., 2021). They work together to address students' needs and assist one another in helping their SWD reach their individualized goals in the classroom and school environment (Soares et al., 2022). However, paraprofessionals are often stretched thin (Filderman et al., 2022). There are reports that 40% of paraprofessionals do not feel valued or respected by school personnel (Evashkovsky & Osipova, 2023). Paraprofessionals are constantly given inappropriate work assignments with a lack of supervision in performing various tasks (Mason et al., 2021). A classroom with effective management strategies placed by teachers, has paraprofessionals that possess satisfactory working alliances with teachers and students (Fritzsche & Köpfer, 2022).

Professional Development

Special education teachers hold a complex role that requires extensive training and integrative preparation (Bruhn et al., 2023). Reducing teacher burnout and stress while

improving social and literacy wellness of students with EBDs can only occur when teachers have been equipped to manage behaviors and deliver resourceful instruction (Conroy et al., 2022). However, educator preparation programs provide minimal instruction in emotional and social learning for students, which leaves teachers unprepared to support students effectively with EBDs or those who have other disabilities (Benner et al., 2022). The unique challenges that teachers face in the classroom setting with students with EBDs are rarely addressed in teacher preparation programs (Filderman et al., 2022). The role of teachers and the potential for preparation programs are explored to teach educators to embrace students with EBDs and improve the numbers of inclusion for these students and others with special needs (Lanterman et al., 2021).

Given the challenges of supporting teachers in educating SWD, there is a definite need for professional learning and development for teachers (Hirsch et al., 2022). A major problem in educational systems is a lack of funding for professional development programs for teachers who are required to teach SWD in inclusive classroom settings (Ahmed et al., 2022). However, there is potential for professional development programs to have a profound impact on the well-being of students with EBDs and other students with exceptionalities, with the increased funding from government programs for teachers in inclusive classroom environments (Scott et al., 2022). Professional development is a way to expand teachers' knowledge, with a variety type of programs used across the field of education (Webster & De Boer, 2021). Some educators believe professional development programs for general and special education teachers are the key to success for productive classroom management in self-contained and inclusive classroom settings (Healy et al., 2020). There should be a clear purpose for professional development for teachers

with specific content which provides a concrete context with built-in supports for learning and activities that foster conversations, peer interactions, and collaboration (Filderman et al., 2022).

Teacher learning is a multi-faceted experience dependent on an integrated bundle of contexts and factors with multiple points of engagement (Harbour et al., 2022). As the educational system and society grow in our country and around the world, there are ongoing changes in the special education field with definitions and thresholds for identification that require professional learning for teachers and educational officials (Evashkovsky & Osipova, 2023). From a transnational perspective, in order to enable successful inclusion for teachers, a professional developmental learning program must include interprofessional and collaborative training for general and special education teachers and the teachers must acknowledge that the potential problems they face will be multifaceted (van den Berg & Stoltz, 2018). By using a combination of professional practices from a variety of professional development programs, rather than using practices from a single session or one approach, teachers have reported a change for the better in their practice in the classroom (Bruno et al., 2021). Professional development programs are more successful when they are geared toward the teachers' interest and the activities are meaningful to their practice using constant feedback with continuous training (Webster & De Boer, 2021). Classroom pedagogy, teachers' content knowledge, and student learning increase when teachers fully engage and are confident in the strategies taught in the professional development programs (Brazzolotto & Phelps, 2021).

In targeting the unique needs of students with EBDs, unfortunately teachers receive limited to no professional development in classroom management practices (State et al., 2019). Teacher education programs can be modified to meet the distinctive needs of certain students with certain disabilities or disorders in certain environments (Hirsch et al., 2022). These

programs are especially relevant for inclusive educators who are preparing to educate special needs students with various disabilities (Scott et al., 2022). It is apparent that teacher education programs are productive for students who are in inclusive classrooms with general and special education teachers (Evashkovsky & Osipova, 2023). Students with EBDs greatly benefit from participating in certain subject areas in general education classrooms from teachers who have participated in educational programs (Filderman et al., 2022). However, because of the behaviors students with EBDs are known to exhibit in class, they are frequently excluded from general education classrooms and do not receive quality instruction as other students without EBDs (Garland & Dieker, 2019).

At times, fundamental changes are necessary for developing quality educators for the achievement of students in self-contained and inclusive classroom settings (Liu et al., 2020). Educational training and teacher preparation are ways educational systems can meet the demand of highly qualified teachers who understand the role of supplying students with skills to achieve success academically and socially in the classroom (Mathews et al., 2023). Teachers' overall knowledge of inclusion comes from the policy of the Educational Act and their own experiences (Gidlund, 2018). Numerous teachers in the educational system have been teaching for many years and have never received any formal training for educating SWD in an inclusive classroom setting (Kielblock & Woodcock, 2023). In addition, over 50% of general education teachers lacked experience in educating SWD in an inclusive classroom setting (Ahmed et al., 2022).

Summary

A review of the literature reveals that students with EBDs are faced with many challenges that can be addressed in the educational learning environment. Teachers are challenged to educate general and special education students in the same learning environment without being

fully equipped to accommodate students with EBDs. As a result, teachers struggle in their everyday routine, to implement evidence-based instructional practices pedagogically to students with EBDs in the inclusive classroom setting (Filderman et al., 2022). This study can potentially fill the gap of students with EBDs being effectively integrated academically and socially in the inclusive classroom setting by general and special education teachers. The self-determination theory properly allows educators to learn from their experiences of applying strategies and techniques in accommodating students with EBDs in the inclusive classroom setting, improving professional practice.

CHAPTER THREE: METHODS

Overview

This hermeneutic phenomenological study sought to understand the experiences of public high school teachers educating students with EBDs in inclusive classroom settings. This chapter begins with a discussion of the study's design followed by research questions for the participants. The setting, participants, procedures, and techniques of how the data was collected and analyzed are described in this chapter. A personal biography of the researcher and the trustworthiness practices of this study are also discussed. A summary concludes the chapter.

Research Design

Qualitative research begins with assumptions and the use of interpretive and theoretical frameworks that inform the study of research problems addressing the meaning of individuals to a problem (Creswell & Poth, 2016). Qualitative research seeks to explore a problem that has been identified and seeks to understand society through individual choice and response (Creswell & Poth, 2016; Plust et al., 2021). The qualitative method was most fitting for my study because quantifying the experiences of teachers instructing students with EBDs would be very limited to behaviors that could be tallied using the quantitative method. Instead, I looked to construct a rich understanding of experiences, which is done qualitatively. This study uses a qualitative design to investigate the participants in their natural settings.

While qualitative methodology has been chosen, there are several designs that operate using qualitative methods. For this study, phenomenological design was chosen.

Phenomenological research attempts to set aside biases and direct the interest of the study to the individuals' lived experiences (Creswell & Poth, 2016; van Manen, 2017). This approach utilizes the participants' perspectives and understandings of the phenomenon and illuminated the

specifics of the phenomenon (van Manen, 2017). In order to gain an understanding of educators' experiences of students with EBDs in an inclusive classroom setting, a phenomenological design was most appropriate. A phenomenological study deals with the "what" and the "how" of individuals' experience of a common phenomenon in order to describe the essence of such phenomenon (van Manen, 2017). Phenomenology seeks to search through a vivid and accurate rendering of the experience, rather than ratings and scores (Creswell & Poth, 2016; van Manen, 2017). The focus was on the experiences of the teachers on a high school level. I have chosen this design for my study because I am intimately connected with the phenomenon and have a personal interest in what I am seeking to know, which is at the heart of phenomenological research (Moustakes, 1994; van Manen, 2017).

A hermeneutic phenomenological approach is fitting for this research which provides a central meaning that leads to new prejudgments regarding the phenomenon (van Manen, 2017). Hermeneutics, meaning interpretive or explanatory, is the theory and methodology of interpretation (van Manen, 2017). Hermeneutics originated with the Reformers of the sixteenth century. Later, Wilhelm Dilthey (1833-1911) developed a more contemporary form of hermeneutics, making way for Martin Heidegger (1889-1976) and Hans-George Gadamer (1900-2002) to develop hermeneutic phenomenology (Creswell & Poth, 2016; van Manen, 2017). A hermeneutical phenomenological approach grants an in-depth understanding of the experiences of the participants answering questions from the interviewer (Neubauer et al., 2019; van Manen, 2017). A qualitative hermeneutic phenomenology research design was used to examine the lived experiences of public high school teachers in the inclusive classroom setting educating students with EBDs. Because of my extensive experience with the study's central phenomenon, a hermeneutical phenomenology design was conducted. I chose hermeneutic phenomenology over

transcendental because hermeneutic phenomenology requires reflective interpretation of a study to achieve meaningful understanding (van Manen, 2017). Hermeneutic phenomenology is an interpretive process in an individual's world of life (van Manen, 2017), whereas transcendental is descriptive (Moustakas, 1994). Because of my extensive experience educating students with EBDs, the interpretive design was appropriate.

Research Questions

This study was guided by one central research question and three sub-questions:

Central Research Question

What are the shared experiences of public high school teachers instructing students with emotional behavior disorders (EBDs) in inclusive classroom settings?

Sub-Question One

What challenges do high school teachers experience while instructing students with emotional behavior disorders (EBDs) in inclusive classroom settings?

Sub-Question Two

What are the relatedness experiences of public high school teachers instructing students with emotional behavior disorders (EBDs) in inclusive classroom settings?

Sub-Question Three

What are the competence experiences of public high school teachers instructing students with emotional behavior disorders (EBDs) in inclusive classroom settings?

Setting and Participants

The setting of this qualitative study was a rural school district in the state of Georgia and the participants were general education high school teachers. The setting and participants in this study were carefully chosen in order to meet the purpose of the study or understand the factors

that impact general education teachers' perceptions of students with EBDs in public high schools in inclusive classroom settings. The teachers were purposely and carefully chosen to ensure they have all experienced the phenomenon at the heart of the phenomenological design. These participants are fitting, since the hermeneutical phenomenology approach is to examine the lived experiences of the participants (van Manen, 2017). Criterion sampling was done to select the participants who have experienced the phenomenon in this qualitative study to gather information-rich data (Creswell & Poth, 2016). Criterion sampling's most basic concept based on pre-established criteria is to include appropriate situations (Karademir et al., 2020). This section provides an in-depth overview of the setting and participants for this study.

Setting

The setting of my research was in Major School District, located in a rural community in the state of Georgia. The graduation rate in Major School District is 92%. This school district is one of the fastest growing counties in the state of Georgia with a total of 31 schools; 18 are elementary schools, eight are middle schools, five are high schools, and one is a virtual academy. The five high schools were the schools that served as the sites for this study. I aimed to interview at least two teachers from each high school. The minority enrollment is 44% of the student body (majority Black). It is less than the Georgia public school average of 62% minority school enrollment (majority Black).

The district ranks among the top 20% of public-school districts in the state of Georgia and in the top 10% academically. Math proficiency is in the top 20% of Georgia districts. The Reading/Language Arts proficiency is in the top 10%. The graduation rate is in the top 20. This school district was chosen for this study because the schools in the area have a very diverse population of students. There are a total of 1753 teachers and approximately 28,266 total

students in the school district, which is a 16:1 student to teacher ratio. There are approximately 2400 students in the elementary and middle schools that have an IEP and 750 high school students in the district that have an IEP. Seven percent of those students are classified as having an EBD. There are 62 special education high school teachers in the Major school district that instruct SWD. There are 46 co-taught teachers in the inclusive classroom setting. There are a total of 18 teachers in the self-contained setting that instruct SWD and four of those teachers instruct students with EBDs in their self-contained classroom.

The organizational and leadership structure of the district consists of a lead principal, along with four assistant principals for grades 9-12. A local educational agent (LEA) is a liaison between the high school special education department and the county district special education department. The LEA represents the school district in an official capacity. There is often an assistant principal who is designated to advocate for the special education students in the building and can often serve as an LEA at any given IEP meeting if an LEA from the county district is not readily available.

Participants

The participants of the study were 12 general education high school teachers and two special education teachers selected in Major District with at least one year of experience teaching students with EBDs in the public school system in an inclusive classroom setting. The teachers were selected by using the criterion sampling approach. The teachers had at least one student in their classroom with an EBD. The participants had at least one year of experience in an inclusive classroom teaching students with EBDs at the high school level.

Researcher Positionality

My motivation for conducting this study was to understand the experiences of teachers

educating students with EBDs in the inclusive classroom. As a veteran teacher in the field of special education, I continue to witness teachers who are not properly trained to educate students with EBDs in the inclusive classroom setting. I have witnessed this lack of training in two school districts. The lack of training given to these teachers has a negative effect on the students with EBDs and on the unqualified teacher (Evashkovsky & Osipova, 2023). The general and special education students in the inclusive classroom suffer because of the lack of instruction taught to the students in the classroom and teachers leaving the profession because of teacher burn-out from a lack of training and knowledge of how to properly educate general and special education students in an inclusive classroom environment. Therefore, I have developed a passion for understanding the correlation between a successful inclusive classroom environment and an inclusive classroom environment that is not successful in hopes of contributing to a solution for this problem in the special education field.

Interpretive Framework

As a researcher, I believe gathering a variety of perspectives from participants in a study allows the researcher to develop a theory, with rich data collected from multiple viewpoints. In social constructivism, the researcher relies heavily on a variety of views from individuals in order to develop a pattern of meaning or theory rather than start with a theory (Creswell & Poth, 2018; Tang et al., 2023). A researcher can focus on the specific contexts in which people live, by recognizing that their own background shapes their interpretations which flow from their own personal, historical, and cultural experiences (Creswell & Poth, 2018; Moustakas, 1994). In the social constructivism paradigm, a person seeks knowledge and understanding of the world in which an individual works and lives (Creswell & Poth, 2018; King, 2018). From a social constructivist perspective, reality evolves through what is real and interpersonal interactions,

reality is not based on objective fact (King, 2018). A theoretically unique decision-making approach in social constructivism places the decision-making model into the social context itself and takes it out of the head of the decision-maker (Dempsey et al., 2021). The goal of social constructivists in research is to rely heavily on the participants' views of the situation or study (Deulen, 2013). Therefore, I will be led to look for a variety of views, rather than narrowing the meanings into only a few categories (Creswell & Poth, 2018). These subjected views are formulated through the interactions of the participants with other individuals (Moustakas, 1994). This relates well to my study, as I will be conducting interviews consisting of multiple individuals, individually and in focus groups. As a social constructivist, I will look to the participants to describe their experiences and provide their meaning; this is best accomplished through strong open-ended interview questions and active listening (Creswell & Poth, 2018).

Philosophical Assumptions

The importance and understanding of philosophical assumptions as an element of research begins with assessing where it fits within the process of research and considering how to actively write it into a qualitative study (Qazi Ha, 2011). In a developing study, philosophical assumptions are usually the first ideas. Researchers have always been encouraged to underpin methodological stances with rigorous and robust philosophical assumptions (Mazandarani, 2022). Philosophical assumptions must be integrated into a study if ethical considerations are explained throughout the conduct of the study. It is, therefore, contradictory if philosophical assumptions are not noted (Mazandarani, 2022). Philosophical assumptions must be identified in a study to avoid misunderstandings and reduce ambiguities (Halvorsen, 2019). My ontological, epistemological, and axiological assumptions are discussed below.

Ontological Assumption

Ontological is a philosophical assumption about reality that is internal to the knower (Neubauer et al., 2019). In qualitative research, something is real when it's built in the minds of the individuals involved in a situation (Creswell & Poth, 2018). As a researcher presents different perspectives from multiple individuals when conducting qualitive research, the researcher is embracing the idea of multiple realities (Qazi Ha. 2011). Based on the ontological claim that human beings are always already engaged purposively in the world, in contrast to the dominant intellectual tradition, is hermeneutic realism (Yanchar, 2015). In our relationship with experience, an unconstrained and careful analysis of ontological categorizations and metaphysical assumptions of a study will give a more in-depth awareness of the essential theoretical choices (Neubauer et al., 2019; Valore et al., 2021). In the understanding of empirical data, ontological categorization can enlighten the relation between limits and the metaphysical framework that is presupposed to make sense of our experience (Valore et al., 2021). In this qualitative study, my ontological assumption is that there are multiple views of reality from a multitude of individuals when studying their perceptions concerning the phenomenon. As a researcher, I will be reflexive concerning the ontological nature of subjects that are used in the research as well as the epistemological assumptions underpinning methods of data (Creswell & Poth, 2018; Mauthner & Doucet, 2003). In the form of intangible, multiple constructions that are socially based, I believe that realities are apprehendable.

Epistemological Assumption

Epistemological is a philosophical assumption that knowledge is known through the subjective experiences of people (Becker & Niehaves, 2007). Therefore, in a qualitative research study, it is imperative that the researcher develops a rapport with the participants and conducts the research in the field where the participants work and live (Qazi Ha, 2011). The longer a

researcher stays in the field with the participants the better understanding the researcher has of knowing what they know concerning the phenomena (Qazi Ha, 2011). My epistemological beliefs are that through experiences, facts can be known. I believe the more time I spend with the participants in this study, the more I will understand their experiences from their perspective.

Axiological Assumption

Axiology is the study of research, which prompts the researcher to reflect on the fundamental values essential to a research question (Kelly et al., 2018). In a study, qualitative researchers make their values known, even though all researchers bring values to a study (Gericke, J. W. 2012). Like synthesis in general, pursuing axiological integrity is about highlighting the important values, and rather than an absolute requirement, it is a matter of judgment (Kelly et al., 2018). In axiological assumption, the researcher acknowledges that biases are present in relation to their role in the study context and that research is value-laden (Creswell & Poth, 2018). I will seek to understand the experiences of teachers in the inclusive classroom setting and honestly report their perceptions and views. I will implement reflexivity to increase the transparency and trustworthiness of the study. Reflexivity will help me to ensure that the research practices are ethical by addressing the concerns from participants. I will seek to understand the research problem through the perspectives of the participants and use the results to assist the district leaders in understanding why teachers are not prepared to educate students with EBDs in the inclusive classroom environment.

Researcher's Role

I will serve as the human instrument for this study. My role will be to collect data, examine the data collected, effectively conceptualize the information received, and disseminate it (Creswell & Poth, 2016). My goal will be to use qualitative methods to understand the

experiences of individuals and report the findings by providing a realistic picture to help the reader experience the feeling of the participants (Creswell & Poth, 2016). The participants in this study are general education teachers who educate students with EBDs in high school. Some of the participants in this study may teach students at the same school I teach. However, I am not the supervisor of any of the participants neither are any of the participants my supervisor in this study. The questions that I developed for the participants in the study are from personal experience and collaborating with other teachers in teaching and developing EBD students in self-contained and inclusive classroom settings. I currently teach high school students with EBDs in a self-contained classroom setting. I collaborate with special and general education teachers for my students to reach their full potential academically, behaviorally, and functionally. This research design fits my study because of the experiences of the participants and providing a realistic picture to help the reader experience the feelings of the participants (Creswell & Poth, 2016). As the researcher is taking a hermeneutic approach, it is inconsistent to take an unbiased approach to the data collected. Instead, as the researcher I acknowledge the preconceptions and reflect on how the subjectivity is part of this analysis process (Neubauer et al., 2019).

Procedures

Prior to beginning the research, a permission request was submitted to Liberty University's Institutional Review Board (IRB) for approval to conduct the study. This ethical research will utilize three types of data collection which are 14 individual interviews, two focus-group interviews to establish triangulation of data, and collect any behavioral documents of students from teachers. Triangulation of data is drawing upon multiple data sources and methods to establish the validity and trustworthiness of the study (Creswell & Poth, 2016; Rosadi et al., 2022). The step-by-step procedures for conducting the proposed study are covered below.

Permissions

Initially, securing approval from Institutional Review Board (IRB) (see Appendix A), the local school Board of Education (see Appendix B), and participants in the district of the setting for the study through informed consent (see Append C) was acquired in writing before any steps were made towards the research. To secure the local school Board of Education's approval, I had to go through several individuals to receive approval to conduct the study of the teachers in their school district. To conduct research on-site, the researcher sought and received approval from individuals in authority and conveyed to them that the research I was conducting will provide the least disruption to any activities at the site (Creswell & Poth, 2016).

Recruitment Plan

Prior to the research, I sent a recruitment email to all high school teachers in the district (see Appendix D). As teachers, we are given an information sheet of all teachers' email addresses at the beginning of the year, this is how I obtained the email addresses for every teacher in the district. The participants were not deceived at any time about the research or the process of providing the data to the researcher (van Manen, 2017). The anonymity of the participants was protected; therefore, an informed consent form was submitted to each participant with the recruitment email as well as an explanation for the purpose of the study (Creswell & Poth, 2016). Once participants returned their consent forms to indicate their interest in participating, I confirmed they met the study criteria. Participants were notified by phone, email, or in person once they were selected.

Data Collection Plan

In order to gain information concerning the factors that impact general education teachers' perceptions of students with EBDs in inclusive classroom settings, a variety of

collection methods were used for this qualitative phenomenological study. The methods and sequence of collecting data was initially individual face-to-face interviews, secondly focus group interviews involving 14 teachers as participants over a period of time (van Manen, 2017), and finally behavioral documents collected of students from teachers. I chose this sequence of collecting data because the face-to-face interview allowed me as the researcher to build rapport and comfort with the participants (Creswell & Poth, 2016). Then, collecting documents built on an understanding of teacher experiences because it can provide insight on the students' behaviors and the teachers' discipline actions of the incidents. The focus group interviews assisted participants in realizing other aspects of the questions asked that were not thought about until another participant spoke (van Manen, 2017). When the interviewees were cooperative and friendly to one another, the interaction among them yielded the best information (Creswell & Poth, 2016). The face-to-face interview had a group of questions that were different from the focus group questions. However, each participant was asked the same questions in the face-toface interviewing process. As with any effective interpretation, hermeneutics is a process, that is circular and involves scientific reasoning that requires the researcher to remove prejudices to listen to what the data is saying (van Manen, 2017).

Individual Interviews

The first step of data collection was individual interviews with each of my participants. A set of open-ended questions were asked of the participants (Creswell & Poth, 2016) using a semi-structured interview guide. Open-ended questions are appropriate for qualitative research because the participants have an opportunity to give multiple worded answers that will generate a vast amount of information with potential follow-up questions (Creswell & Poth, 2016; van Manen, 2017). An interview guide allows the flexibility of asking follow-up questions while

ensuring multiple answers (Creswell & Poth, 2016; van Manen, 2017). Interviews were held in the Major School District at an agreed upon, safe, and neutral location that was suitable for the participant. There was a voice recorder and notes were taken on a notepad. Every word the participant said was recorded. Immediately after each interview, the recording was listened to for a reflection on the answers given by the researcher. Then I did listen to the recording again later to transcribe the interview and the notes taken during each interview. Member-checking strategies was conducted by asking the participants to review the individual interviews and focus group discussions that were transcribed to ensure accuracy, to enhance confidence in data interpretations. Member-checking is a technique for exploring the credibility of results (Sahakyan, 2023).

Individual Interview Questions

- Can you please describe your educational background and your career path leading to your current teaching position? CRQ
- Please describe the challenges in your inclusive classroom when working with students with EBDs. SQ1
- 3. How do you respond to problem behaviors from students with EBDs? SQ1
- 4. Please describe the antecedents to the disruptive behaviors of the students with EBDs?
 SQ1
- 5. How do you plan to manage future behavioral incidents in the classroom? SQ1
- Please describe the behavioral interventions you use in response to disruptive behaviors.
 SQ1
- 7. Please describe the behavior of the students with EBDs when he or she is redirected in class in front of others compared to one-on-one redirection. SQ1

- 8. Please describe your relationship with the students with EBDs in your inclusive classroom. SQ2
- Please describe your relationship with the general education students in your inclusive classroom. SQ2
- Please describe your relationship with the co-teacher and/or paraprofessional in your inclusive classroom. SQ2
- 11. Please describe your relationship with the administration staff at your school. SQ2
- Please describe your relationship with the parents/guardians of the students with EBDs.
 SQ2
- 13. When challenges arise in your inclusive classroom with students with EBDs, do you feel supported by the administration to discipline the student with the EBD the way you see fit? Why or why not? SQ3
- 14. Do you feel confident and well-prepared to instruct students with EBDs in the inclusive classroom? Why or why not? SQ3
- 15. What ideas would you like to share on how school districts could prepare teachers to instruct students with EBDs in the inclusive classroom? SQ3
- 16. What else would you like to add to your experiences with students with EBDs in your classroom? CRQ

The purpose of questions one through seven was to provide information concerning the challenges of teachers in the inclusive classroom. The responses to questions eight through 12 were to provide information concerning the relationship the teacher has with others in the inclusive classroom and outside the inclusive classroom environment. The response to questions

13 through 15 provided insight into the teachers' competence level in educating students with EBDs in the inclusive classroom setting.

Individual Interview Data Analysis Plan

The participants' answers were recorded and then transcribed to a computer. Each interview was transcribed verbatim to ensure accuracy (Creswell & Poth, 2016). For further analysis, the data was organized into various categories and themes through a process of coding and condensing the codes. Coding is an important aspect of analyzing data, allowing the researcher to cross-reference the data into organized categories (Saldaña & Mallette, 2017; van Manen, 2017). The data analysis process did begin with open coding, then axial coding, and finally selective coding (Creswell & Poth, 2016; van Manen, 2017). Open coding consists of coding the data for its major categories based on the information (van Manen, 2017). An important aspect was to listen through the whole process several times until I could reconstruct the complete picture (Heinonen, 2015), making note of the essential themes as experienced by the interviewees (van Manen, 2017). I will used Saldaña's structural coding, which clusters comparably coded passages (Saldaña, 2013). I looked for a word that was descriptive of the context of the sentence. In order to differentiate between the categories and validate connections, axial coding was utilized. Axial coding is the process of relating codes to each other (Creswell & Poth, 2016; Saldaña & Mallette, 2017). Creswell & Poth (2016) noted the central steps of collecting data in reducing the data into meaningful segments and assigning names to the segments, combining codes into broader themes or categories, and utilizing data graphs, tables, and charts to compare and display the data. I used Excel as my qualitative data analysis software to code the data collected in this research.

Document Analysis Data Collection Approach

For this study, collecting documents of students from the participants involved discipline referrals, behavior contracts, students' behavioral intervention plan (BIP) which is a part of their IEP, students' supports page which is a part of their IEP (consists of classroom testing accommodations & modifications, instructional accommodations & modifications), call log to parent, and respond to intervention meeting information if it was available. The documents collected in this study were used to assist in triangulation. Reflective and descriptive notes were recorded from each document received from the participants with the date, place, and time of the behavior incident as the heading on the notepad (Creswell & Poth, 2016). The content area and lesson/activity being conducted at the time was recorded from the behavior documents as well, if recorded on the document (see Appendix E).

Document Analysis Data Analysis Plan

The teacher provided all documents that are available, pertaining to the students with emotional behavior disorders at the individual interview meeting with the interviewer. The steps for analyzing the behavior documents were similar to the steps used for the individual and focus-group interviews. First, I utilized open coding by treating all information as data for its major categories (Saldaña & Mallette, 2017). Then, I conducted axial coding by collecting data. This resulted in reducing the data into meaningful segments and assigning names to the segments (Creswell & Poth, 2016).

Focus Groups

The focus group interview was advantageous as the interaction among participants likely brought the most in-depth answers (Creswell & Poth, 2016). There were two focus group interviews with seven participants in each group interview. A prior agreed-upon time and location was scheduled for both interviews. The interview was voice recorded and I took notes

during the interview. Immediately after the interview, I listened to the recording for a reflection on the answers given. Then again later, to record on the computer along with notes taken during the interview. The purpose of the focus group questions was to understand the personal experiences of each individual collectively and how their interrelationships bring about richthick information (Moustakas, 1994). The two focus-group interviews provided the opportunity for the interviewer to evaluate statements from each participant as they relay information to one another from their experiences (Fraser et al., 2020), which generated conversations and potentially, a greater amount of data than a definitive statement from a single participant could provide (Saldaña & Mallette, 2017).

Focus Group Questions

- 1. What does the term inclusive education mean to you? CRQ, SQ1, SQ3
- What has been your personal experience in the inclusive classroom setting educating students with EBDs? CRQ, SQ1
- 3. What strategies can be used to improve your experience in the inclusive classroom setting? SQ1, SQ3
- 4. What barriers prevent successful inclusive practices? SQ1
- 5. What measures are school districts taking to overcome these barriers? SQ2, SQ3
- 6. How do you feel about the preparation programs that exist for teachers who teach students with EBDs? CRQ, SQ3
- 7. What preparation for educating students with EBD in inclusive settings did you lack and what tools or strategies have been helpful to overcome that lack? CRQ, SQ3 SDT posits that environments or settings that provide autonomy support, competence support, and opportunities for relatedness are more likely to foster intrinsic motivation and

overall well-being (Ryan & Deci, 2000). The purpose of question one was to discover the focus group participants' understanding of the term inclusive education and their experience with the phenomenon. The term inclusive education also means, the inclusion of students from diverse backgrounds and ethnicities, among other categories (Li et al., 2023). As teachers understand inclusive education for SWDs, there exists opportunities to learn from other educators teaching in the inclusive classroom (Webster & De Boer, 2021). The purpose of focus group question two spoke to the successful strategies implemented by teachers in the inclusive classroom and addressed the concern of research focus group question three. The purpose of focus group questions three through five was to offer insight into the development of educating students with EBDs in the inclusive setting. Teachers not adequately prepared to educate students with EBDs can be one of the barriers that exist in the inclusive classroom environment (Evashkovsky & Osipova, 2023). Questions six and seven aimed to understand the competence experiences of teachers instructing students with EBDs and how teacher preparation and/or professional development programs contributed to teachers' competence perceptions.

Focus Group Data Analysis Plan

To analyze the focus group data, the Saldaña method of first and second-order coding was conducted (Saldaña & Mallette, 2017). The steps for analyzing the focus group transcripts were similar to the steps used for the individual interviews. First, I utilized open coding by treating all information as data for its major categories (Saldaña & Mallette, 2017). Then, I conducted axial coding by collecting data. This will resulted in reducing the data into meaningful segments and assigning names to the segments (Creswell & Poth, 2016).

Data Synthesis

Once all three sources of data were collected and individually analyzed, I synthesized my data. Selective coding was the final step and was utilized to connect all the categories from axial coding around one core category, which represented the central thesis of the research (Creswell & Poth, 2016). The purpose of selective coding was to define a new theory or modify an existing theory based on an individual's research (Talaee et al., 2023). The core category that is developed in selective coding came from elevating one of the categories from the axial coding stage or may be a new category that is drawn based on other categories (Talaee et al., 2023). As the phenomenological approach of this study was informed by the hermeneutic circle, the parts are understood in relation to the whole, and the whole gains meaning from its parts (van Manen, 2017). As the interpreter gains new insights, the understanding of a text or experience is not seen as fixed but is constantly evolving in the research process, to allow rich data to be generated (van Manen, 2017). I reflected on and interpreted the synthesized data to form a final composite description of how participants experienced the phenomenon of instructing students with EBDs in inclusive high school classrooms.

Trustworthiness

In this qualitative study, trustworthiness was established by addressing credibility, transferability, dependability, and comfortability (Creswell & Poth, 2016). The frameworks for ensuring rigor in the trustworthiness of qualitative research have been in existence for many years (Shenton, 2004). In particular, Guba's (1985) constructs have won considerable favor (Shenton, 2004). In this study, trustworthiness will be evident from the detailed descriptions of all stages, specifically individual interviews, focus-group interviews, and document collection.

Credibility

Credibility is the quality of being trusted and seeks to demonstrate the accuracy of the internal validity of the data (Shenton, 2004). The weight of evidence should become persuasive, in order to demonstrate credibility as the researcher looks for recurring factors. Moreover, contrary interpretations and disconfirming evidence must also be considered in confirming credibility (Creswell & Poth, 2016). The triangulation of data sources, investigators, and methods to establish credibility are proposed techniques in the field of trustworthiness in a study (Creswell & Poth, 2016; Rosadi et al., 2022). In this study, I will use individual interviews, focus group interviews, and collect documents to address credibility using triangulation. Triangulation of data is drawing upon multiple data sources and methods to establish validity and trustworthiness of the study (Creswell & Poth, 2016; Rosadi et al., 2022). To enhance confidence in data interpretations, member-checking strategies will be conducted by asking the participants to review the individual interviews and focus group discussions that were transcribed to ensure accuracy. Member-checking is a technique for exploring the credibility of results (Sahakyan, 2023). Member-checking in qualitative research is one of the key instruments in ensuring data accuracy (Sahakyan, 2023). In addition, to ensure the questions will collect the needed information to understand the phenomenon of the study, credibility will be established through experts examining the interview questions. Peer debriefing will be conducted with a colleague, who will ask tough questions concerning the methods and interpretations of the data (Odo, 2016). Peer debriefing will occur after the data is analyzed by a peer, an education professor, who holds a Doctor of Education degree in Curriculum and Instruction. The educator will review my analysis of the data to ensure I present the data honestly.

Transferability

Transferability addresses the external validity of the data and is the means by which a study and its findings are able to transfer to other settings (Shenton, 2004). Transferability can only be made by the reader; the researcher can only create the conditions for transferability within the study (Creswell & Poth, 2016). As the researcher, I will provide detail for the context of the field work for the reader to decide whether the findings and environment are similar, to that which is familiar to the reader. Using a rich description of this study's setting in the Major School District, the 10-12 teacher as participants, and the students with EBDs to determine if the information can transfer to other situations (Shenton, 2004). The findings in a particular study that employs the same methods in a different environment could be of great value to the researcher (Moustakas, 1994). Maximum variation sampling will also be conducted in selecting participants, if there are more than the required number of participants initially selected (Benoot et al., 2016). To get to the desired number of participants, identifying key dimensions of variations will give me the opportunity to select a variation of the participants based on their age, gender, ethnicity, etc.

Dependability

Through an auditing of the research process, dependability is established (Creswell & Poth, 2016). Through interviews and focus groups, dependability involves determining how authentic the data is in the study. The dissertation committee and the Qualitative Research Director will audit the data from the beginning to the end to confirm dependability. An audit trail will be maintained by keeping accurate records of all documents of interviews, behavior documents from participants of students with emotional behavior disorders, and any other data used in an orderly manner. Audit trails are records of how research is conducted in a study (Mayo-Dosayla et al., 2022). The processes within a study should be reported in detail, in order

to address dependability, enabling someone in the future to gain the same results after repeating the work (Shenton, 2004).

Confirmability

Confirmability seeks to govern if the data is authentic to which the researcher admits their own predispositions (Shenton, 2004). Similar to dependability, confirmability is established through an audit of the research process (Moustakas, 1994). An audit trail will be conducted to ensure dependability for this study, which involves a qualified person examining the process and results. I will reduce the effect of investigator bias, emphasizing the role of triangulation in promoting confirmability (Shenton, 2004). With an emphasis on researcher reflexivity, the validation research will move toward the interpretive lens of qualitative research (Creswell & Poth, 2016). From the outset of the study, I will disclose the values, experiences, and biases that are brought to qualitative research. Therefore, the reader understands the position from which I take the inquiry (Creswell & Poth, 2016). I will take notes during the interview and collect behavior documents. Reflexive journaling will take place during and after collecting data. The notes will be included as an appendix. The notes will be transcribed to a computer immediately after the interviews and the recording will be listened to for a reflection of the answers given.

Ethical Considerations

Before the interviewing process began, approval from the Institutional Review Board (IRB) and individuals at the Board of Education was obtained (see Appendix A and Appendix B). A written permission form was submitted to each participant involved in the study (see Appendix C). Pseudonyms will be used to protect the confidentiality of participants and locations. The participants were notified that at any time they can withdraw from the study and that the study is voluntary. The interviews were conducted at a time that was convenient for the

researcher and participant, at an agreed upon safe neutral location that was suitable for the participant. The purpose of the study was explained to each participant. After the answers were transcribed, I had the participants review their answers and listen to the audio version of the interview to confirm all answers given. I discussed to the participant the length of time the data will be secured for three years. The data will be on an electronic file data storage with the password only known to me in a locked file cabinet in my home. However, any participant who withdraws from the study the data will be destroyed immediately. Ethical validation means that all research agendas must question their ethical and political implications as well as their underlying moral assumptions (Creswell & Poth, 2016).

Summary

This qualitative study was seeking to describe the experiences of public high school teachers educating students with EBDs in inclusive classroom settings. A hermeneutic phenomenological study ass appropriate, in which data was collected from individuals who have experienced the phenomenon (van Manen, 2017). Individual interviews, focus-group interviews, and documentation collection were utilized in this study (van Manen, 2017). The data analysis process occurred through open coding, axial coding, and selective coding (Creswell & Poth, 2016). To ensure the areas of credibility, dependability, confirmability, and transferability were met through data triangulation, peer debriefing, and member-checking to establish the trustworthiness of the study.

CHAPTER FOUR: FINDINGS

Overview

This hermeneutic phenomenological studied the experiences of public high school teachers educating students with EBDs in inclusive classroom settings. This chapter begins with a discussion of the study's participants presented through demographic information followed by a brief history of educational experience for each interviewee. The participants' experiences concerning students with EBDs were both rewarding and challenging. Further, the chapter includes a discussion of the results of the data presented through themes, aligned with the research questions and the theoretical framework associated with the research question. A summary concludes the chapter.

Participants

A major criterion for choosing participants for a phenomenological study is that the individual has experienced the phenomenon being studied. Participants were selected using criterion sampling with maximum variation to select 14 participants who have experienced the study's central phenomenon. The 14 participants were placed in two focus groups of seven participants each. Six males and eight females were selected and agreed to participate in the phenomenological study. A recruitment letter was emailed to all high schools in the county to special education teachers who met the criteria of the study. The teachers were contacted by email and in person after being selected for the study.

Table 4 *Teacher Participants*

Teacher	Years	Highart Day Fam. 1	Contout A	Classroom
Participant	Taught	Highest Degree Earned	Content Area	Setting
Benny	20	Masters	Social Studies	Self- Contained
Harry	2	Undergraduate Degree	Special Education - All Content Areas	Inclusive
Beth	23	Masters	Literature	Self- Contained
Pam	24	Masters	Special Education - Math	Inclusive
Nancy	17	Masters	Special Education - All Content Areas	Inclusive
Troy	8	Masters	Special Education - Math	Inclusive
Gayle	3	Undergraduate Degree	Special Education - Literature	Inclusive
Robbie	20	Education Specialist	Special Education - All Content Areas	Inclusive
Preston	2	Undergraduate Degree	Special Education - Literature	Inclusive
Taylor	14	Undergraduate Degree	Special Education - Literature	Inclusive
Sara	21	Masters	Special Education - Science	Inclusive
Becky	7	Education Specialist	Special Education - Science	Inclusive
Wanda	14	Doctorate	Special Education - Literature	Inclusive
Hooper	14	Masters	Special Education - Science	Inclusive

Benny

Benny began attending a college in Alabama on a baseball scholarship. He only attended for a year, before leaving for another University. He did not immediately obtain his degree. So, he began his career in education as a paraprofessional. He entered the special education field because he wanted to know at a young age, why was his sister's behavior was different from others. When Benny became a paraprofessional, he was able to observe the learning experiences of different students in the classroom. In his ninth year in the field of special education, he received his certification. Benny has been in the field of education for 20 years. He received his master's degree two years ago from a University in Georgia. Benny's focus is getting to know the students individually because all come with different struggles. Some of his students with EBDs respond better when redirected in from others and some don't. So, he feels it's all about the individual student, instead of using similar strategies for all. Differentiating in the classroom at all times is Benny's focus in the self-contained classroom setting.

Harry

This is Harry's second year in the field of education. He was in corporate America prior to joining the teaching profession. He graduated from State College with a Marketing degree in Business. He began his career working in retail. He was a manager for three different stores prior to becoming a special education teacher. He eventually found his way to the educational field because he was getting tired of the fast pace of retail in today's economy. He is currently working to obtain his master's degree from Augusta University. Harry has learned that building a rapport with students is the key to students with EBDs complying to redirection much easier when needed in the classroom.

Beth

Beth is in her 23rd year of teaching in the field of special education. She is planning to retire from the educational field at the end of this school year. She obtained her undergraduate degree from a university in Georgia and her master's degree from a university in Alabama. She has been a self-contained teacher for 23 years in special education. She has taught numerous students with various exceptionalities in the self-contained classroom setting. Her most memorable years were teaching all students with EBDs in her self-contained classroom. She believes the school system has changed dramatically since she entered the educational field. This is why she plans to retire at the end of the school year. Beth feels the school administrators have given all the power to the parents and students with disabilities.

Pam

Pam began her career in the United States Army. In her first year, she was stationed in San Francisco. In 1997, she was deployed and returned from her deployment to attend a college in Georgia. Her major in college was Modern Language. She pursued her degree in education because she wanted to spend time with her children and the special education field was in need at the time. She began her career as a self-contained teacher. Now, she is teaching students with EBDs and other exceptionalities in the inclusive classroom setting. She has been teaching in the special education field for 24 years. Pam is a math teacher. Most of the outbursts from students with EBDs in her class come from the math material being taught in class. Math is a hard subject and can become frustrating for most students, especially for students with EBDs.

Nancy

Nancy received her business degree from a university in Georgia. She began her career in retail where she worked in various stores in the local mall for seven years. She has been teaching for 17 years. In the educational field, she began her career in the business department. She taught

students how to interview and obtain jobs once the students graduated from high school. She has been in the special education department for 12 years. She teaches students with disabilities in an inclusive classroom setting. During her first year in special education, she was able to teach her nephew. Later in her career, Nancy obtained her master's degree in leadership. In Nancy's inclusive classroom, students with EBDs prefer to work on their own without other students. Most of the disruptions involving students with EBDs in her class come from other students triggering their outbursts in class.

Troy

Troy graduated from a college in Georgia. He earned his undergraduate degree in Math and his master's degree in technology. He has been teaching co-taught math classes for eight years. He has been coaching football for eight years and lacrosse for four years in high school. He never thought he would be teaching students with EBDs when he entered the educational field. However, once he began teaching in this classroom environment, he did not want to teach in the general education setting. He has been asked multiple times to leave the co-taught classroom environment and move to the physical education department, but he refuses to leave the inclusive environment teaching students with disabilities. As time goes on, Troy has felt more comfortable in the inclusive classroom setting. Troy has found that one on one interaction is the key when situations arise involving students with EBDs. He feels that the less they are redirected in front of others the easier situations are handled.

Gayle

Gayle graduated from a university in the south with a degree in Literature. She has been in the school system for three years. She has been teaching in the co-taught classroom environment for two years. Gayle also teaches Sunday School at her church. When Gayle

decided to become a teacher in high school, she had no idea that she would be teaching students with various disabilities. The mental vision she had of her classroom at that time, was a classroom that looked more like a small auditorium, full of motivated students eager to hear everything she had prepared to teach for that day. Gayle explained that she was not prepared to educate students with various disabilities when she became a certified teacher. She does feel supported by the school administration; however, she feels the parents of students with EBDs are not as supportive to the teachers when it comes to disciplinary actions involving their child. She stated that parents are less likely to agree with the teacher when it comes to the student receiving consequences for inappropriate behavior in class.

Robbie

Robbie received her undergraduate degree in Special Education from a university in Georgia. She received her Master's and Specialist degrees from a college in the south. She has been teaching in the special education field for 20 years. She has taught in the self-contained and co-taught classroom during that time. Now, she has returned to the co-taught classroom teaching various subjects to high school students with and without disabilities. Robbie feels she works best educating students with EBDs. When she taught in the self-contained classroom, she was in the EBD classroom with six to eight students with EBDs. At times, she had two paraprofessionals accommodating and supporting the students in the EBD classroom. In the inclusive classroom, Robbie feels that communication and having a good rapport with students with EBDs is essential.

Preston

Preston graduated from a college in Northern Georgia. He earned his undergraduate degree in Communications. He is currently working to receive his master's degree. He is in his

second year of teaching Literature in the inclusive classroom. He is teaching at the same high school he graduated from six years ago. He is also a coach on the football team at the high school. He stated that he is finally feeling comfortable in the inclusive classroom educating students with EBDs. In his first year, he didn't feel the school district did enough to prepare him to teach students with disabilities. He would prefer more support from school administrators when discipling students with EBDs. He feels the school system is protecting students with disabilities more than they should, compared to general education students.

Taylor

Taylor is in his 14th year of teaching Literature in the school system. He began his college career at a university in Georgia but earned his undergraduate degree from a college in Florida in English. Taylor is currently attending a college in Virginia. He is in pursuit of his master's degree in divinity. He is currently working for his sixth principal, even though this is only the second high school he has worked at. This is his seventh-year teaching students in an inclusive classroom setting. This year Taylor is teaching only freshman and sophomore students in the inclusive classroom. This year, he has relied heavily on his special education teacher because of the numerous incidents concerning students with EBDs in the inclusive classroom setting.

Sara

Sara earned her undergraduate degree in Biology from a university in Georgia. She earned her master's degree from a university in Alabama. She has been in the educational system for 21 years. She began her career as a paraprofessional. She has taught in an inclusive classroom setting for 17 years. Sara's daughter is a middle school teacher who teaches English in the inclusive classroom in the same district. They both have multiple students with EBDs in their classrooms. Sara has worked in the general education setting for two years but prefers to work

with students with disabilities, specifically students with EBDs. Sara has challenges keeping students with EBDs engaged with content during their instructional classroom time.

Becky

Becky has taught Biology in high school for seven years. She graduated from a university in the state of Georgia with a degree in Biology. She also obtained her master's degree from the same University. She has taught in the general education classroom setting for five years. The past two years she has taught in the inclusive classroom setting. She relies heavily on the cotaught teachers in the inclusive classroom because she is not comfortable accommodating and supporting students with EBDs without support from the special education teachers. The challenges Becky has in her inclusive classroom setting is deescalating situations that involve students with EBDs. She allows the special education teacher in the classroom to discipline the students with EBDs most of the time because she still isn't comfortable disciplining the students with EBDs. When she does have to handle a situation involving a student with an EBD, she pulls that student into the hallway to speak with them one-on-one.

Wanda

Wanda obtained her doctorate degree online. She obtained her undergraduate degree in Literature from a college in Georgia. She is in her 14th year teaching Literature. Wanda has been teaching in an inclusive classroom for five years. Wanda is getting familiar teaching students with EBDs. Her challenges in the inclusive classroom are keeping students with EBDs engaged in the lesson at hand. When situations with students with EBDs arise in the classroom, she likes to invite them to a designated area for the student to cool down and a possible one on one talking session. Wanda also teaches Sunday School at a local church near her home. She has a student

with a disability in that classroom as well. The church has been blessed to have her in that role for the support she provides that child in Sunday School.

Hooper

Hooper is in his 14th year of teaching. He has spent five years teaching at the middle school level and has been teaching in high school for nine years. He graduated from a college in South Carolina with a degree in Biology. Hooper has been in the inclusive classroom for eight years. He relates well with students with EBDs in his classroom. He coaches golf and football at the high school. He likes to walk his students with EBDs to the football field once a week to give the students time to talk about the topics that interest them outside of school.

Results

This study was guided by the following central question: What are the shared experiences of public high school teachers instructing students with emotional behavior disorders (EBDs) in inclusive classroom settings? To reach maximum variation, teachers with varying years of experiences were selected. I included the following supporting research questions to assist me in understanding the experiences of the participants: What challenges do high school teachers experience while instructing students with EBDs in inclusive classroom settings; What are the relatedness experiences of public high school teachers instructing students with EBDs in inclusive classroom settings; and, What are the competence experiences of public high school teachers instructing students with EBDs in inclusive classroom settings? After collecting data, it was unclear how many codes and themes would emerge. Throughout the individual and focus group interviews, certain concepts or ideas were recognized as similar among participants, which led to open coding. Through open coding, major categories of information were developed and examined. Axial coding was then applied, which connected categories to form possible themes.

The themes discovered in this study are as follows: (a) Teachers are Committed to Supporting Students, (b) Preparing Teachers for the Inclusive Classroom Setting, and (c) Support System for Teachers.

Table 5

Themes & Subthemes

Themes	Subthemes
Teachers are Committed to Supporting Students	One on One Interaction
	Building a Rapport
Preparing Teachers for the Inclusive Classroom Setting	Professional Development
	Teacher to Teacher Prep.
Support System for Teachers	Administration
	Co-taught Teacher

Teachers are Committed to Supporting Students

Teachers are committed to supporting students was the first theme that emerged in this phenomenological study. The key to having a successful experience in the inclusive classroom setting is understanding the importance of supporting students with EBDs. Supporting students with EBDs is a major factor to teachers in having a successful inclusive classroom. Ten of the 14 participants stated that supporting students with EBDs is a primary challenge in the inclusive environment. Taylor stated, "Differentiating in the classroom is a skill I'm working on to better support the students in my literature co-taught classes." This theme was prevalent in the focus

group interview with participants as well. In the first focus group interview, four of the seven participants agreed that supporting students with EBDs was the determining factor for them not giving in to the pressures of leaving the inclusive classroom to teach in a different learning environment.

Benny, Harry, Beth, Nancy, Robbie, Becky, and Hooper were the participants in the first focus group. Benny, Robbie, Beth, and Hooper felt they were well prepared to support students with EBDs early in their careers as co-taught teachers. They did not want to leave the inclusive classroom because they feared there would not be adequate teachers prepared to accommodate and support the students with EBDs in their own schools. During the first focus group interview, Robbie explained the difference between supporting students with EBDs in the self-contained classroom setting compared to the inclusive classroom setting. She stated:

The difference between supporting the students with EBDs in the self-contained setting is

that we modify the assignments for our students with EBDs, compared to only accommodating the work for students with EBDs in the inclusive classroom setting. When teachers accommodate assignments for students, the change in material is not as profound as modifying the assignments for students. Both learning environments are supportive to the students with EBDs; however, the change in learning material is different. The students in both learning environments have similar exceptionalities. The different learning environments seem to trigger different behaviors from students with EBDs, as well as different reactions from teachers in the different learning environments. From analyzing the data in this study, in the self-contained environment there seems to be more of a focus on behaviors, compared to the inclusive environment. In the inclusive setting, more focus is on learning the content from the

curriculum than the students' behaviors. All participants felt that academic and behavioral support is needed in both learning environments.

The second focus group was less inclined to talk about behavioral support. All participants elaborated on academic support. Their focus is mainly keeping the students engaged in the content and differentiating in the classroom. The second focus group consisted of Pam, Troy, Gayle, Preston, Taylor, Sara, and Wanda. Wanda had the least number of behavioral issues from students with EBDs in her classroom. She stated, "I focus more on keeping students with EBDs engaged with the material being taught in the classroom, which gives the students less time to think about doing other things." Wanda explained to the group that she puts her students in groups in the classroom, with at least one student with an EBD or a disability in each group. Preston, Gayle, and Taylor differentiate instruction in their literature inclusive classroom as well, by placing students in groups in their classrooms. Preston said:

I'm glad I was able to learn from an experienced educator like Wanda early in my career.

By applying these supportive strategies in my co-taught classrooms, I have a lot less class disruptive horror stories than my colleagues at my school.

During the individual interviews, documents were collected from each participant individually. The documents collected were behavioral intervention plans (BIPs) and the student's supports page of the individualized education plan (IEP). The student's supports page consists of the student's academic accommodations and/or modifications. The documents collected were from a student on the participant's caseload. A few of the common classroom instructional testing accommodations and modifications of students were extended time, frequent monitored breaks, small group, and preferential seating. There was only one participant that had a student with an EBD that required directions and testing materials to be read to the student by

the teacher. The student also has a BIP; however, the teacher stated that the student is one of the nicest and well-behaved students in her inclusive classroom.

One on One Interaction

Participants' one-on-one interaction with the student was the first prevalent sub-theme that emerged during the individual and focus group interviews. The theme, teachers are committed to supporting students, is a direct correlation of teachers and students interacting one-on-one in the classroom. Data has shown in this study, students with EBDs are known to speak openly to teachers and be more susceptible to being redirected on a one-on-one basis compared to being around others in a classroom. During the individual interviews, ten of the 14 participants stated that they respond to problem behaviors from students with EBDs in the inclusive classroom setting by redirecting the student one-on-one, not in front of other students. Becky indicated, "One-on-one situation opposing to the whole group is how I redirect my students because students can make a big scene, especially students with EBDs. I just pull them in the hall if there is a problem."

Research has shown in this study that one-on-one redirection in the classroom with students with EBDs is more advantageous to the learning of the student and others in the classroom. Most participants noted that there are less disruptive outbursts when situations are handled one-on-one compared to the redirection of students with EBDs in front of other students. The participants discussed the number of discipline referrers from students with EBDs decreased, when the teacher became aware of handling the redirection of these students on an individual basis. Gayle stated, "I try to remove them from the group setting and speak to the student one-on-one. Speaking calmly to the student in the classroom. Trying to be more supportive."

During the first focus group interview, Hooper was the main participant that was more outspoken than others, when it came to interacting with students with EBDs. Hooper was a participant that learned how to educate students with various exceptionalities on the athletic field before entering the classroom environment. Hooper began his career in the educational field as an athletic coach in middle school. Hooper gained his experience teaching students with EBDs on the football field. He had to handle numerous behavioral situations with various students in the locker room and on the football field. He explained, "this experience was priceless because once I obtained my teaching certificate, I knew there was not a situation in the classroom that I could not handle."

There were 14 documents collected from the participants during the individual interviews. The participants submitted 14 BIPs and 14 student support pages from the students' IEPs. Nine of the 14 BIP documents collected, expounded on the need for the student to be spoken to individually during an outburst as a behavioral intervention, support, or strategy. Even though, the one-on-one interaction technique is a strategy for many students with EBDs that is documented in their IEPs, it was the major sub-theme to the theme in this phenomenological study. In the second focus-group interview, Pam explained to the other participants that she learned of the one-on-one technique in a class she took in college that specialized in strategies for supporting SWD in public schools. She stated:

I am really familiar with the one-on-one interaction with students. As a math teacher, working with students individually is normal in my classroom. If there is a disruptive behavioral situation that needs to be handled in my classroom, it is not a big deal because the students with EBDs in my classroom react better when redirection is given individually.

Sara was a participant that did not prioritize handling disruptive situations one-one-one in her biology inclusive classrooms. In Sara's inclusive classrooms, the majority of the time she worked with general education students that had higher test scores than other students in the classroom. The co-taught teacher in the classroom worked mostly with students with EBDs. Sara had no particular strategy when handling disruptive behaviors in their inclusive classroom. She stated, "if any of my students are misbehaving or disruptive in my class, they understand that if they are going to get the teacher to student treatment, it is not going to be a nice conversation." One-on-one interaction with the student was a primary support strategy for Troy, Becky, and Preston. Troy stated, "Addressing problems before it gets blown out of proportion is important to build that rapport by talking to them one-on-one." One-on-one interaction with students with EBDs can help solve potential problems in and outside the school environment.

Building a Rapport

Teachers building a rapport with students with EBDs also emerged as a prevalent subtheme of student supports. Building a rapport with students help self-manage the classroom environment because students with EBDs rely heavily on teacher-student relationships. Robbie stated, "I work to build a rapport with all of my students. But my students with EBDs share more information about their personal lives with me, than the general education students." Robbie, Benny, and Harry feel that building a rapport with students with EBDs is essential to reducing and managing any type of outbursts in the classroom by these students. Harry exclaimed, "building a rapport with my students makes a world of difference." In the first focus-group interview, Harry was more vocal when it came to building a rapport with the students. Harry was one of the participants that was taught early in his career that he should get to know the students in his classroom personally. He was taught this strategy in his first year of teaching, by his

former principal. Harry also stated, "Set the tone at the beginning in the classroom. Management skills. Gaining their respect means everything."

The teachers that communicate with students about their personal lives have more of a positive effect on their academic and behavioral progression in school. Benny, Hooper, Harry, Troy, Preston, and Robbie believed that building a rapport with students with EBDs meant more to the students' social progression than the other eight participants in this study. Robbie is the only teacher in this group of participants that does not coach a sport, that is confident in the strategy of building a rapport with students with EBDs. Hooper even stated during his individual interview that he walks his students to the football field on Fridays before the Friday night football games. Hooper said, "coaches seem to have a more profound relationship and positive influence on SWD, when the coach understands the exceptionalities of these students."

Building a rapport with students gives the teacher confidence in handling situations in class in front of other students that the teacher normally would only perform one-on-one with the student. The participants indicated that building a rapport with students can be time consuming for teachers. The participants that did not rely on building a rapport with students with EBDs felt that the number of students in their inclusive classroom setting made it difficult to commit so much time to only one or a few students when others need support also. During Becky's individual interview, she did not feel that building a rapport with students with EBDs made a difference in the student's progression academically or socially. She does not want to get too personal with the students with EBDs in her classroom. She prefers the co-taught teacher in the classroom to handle the personal issues with the students with EBDs, as well as any discipline referrals to the administrators' office.

During the first focus-group interview, the six participants felt that Becky needed to spend more time with SWD to understand the importance of building a rapport with students. Becky did admit to the group that she tends to spend more time with general education students because of the pressure from administrators to increase student test scores. During the second focus-group interview Pam, Gayle, and Sara admitted to the group that they thought less of building a rapport with students and more about the increasing pressures of meeting the district test score requirements for students. Troy explained to the group of participants that building a rapport with students with EBDs gives the students added incentives to perform better in the classrooms academically and behaviorally. Troy said,

Every week I meet with my students with EBDs individually. I make sure they know I am aware of the personal situations in their lives because most of the time, they just want someone to listen. If they are engaged in the lesson during the class period, I make sure they are rewarded before the end of the week.

Preparing Teachers for the Inclusive Classroom Setting

Preparing teachers for the inclusive classroom setting was the second theme that emerged in this study. Successful general and special education teachers in the inclusive classroom setting recognize the importance of being trained to educate students with disabilities in order for these students to show progression in the inclusive classroom environment. Teachers that are not prepared to educate students with EBDs or other disabilities in a classroom setting can have negative long-term effects on those students. Teacher competency or a sense of pride could be established with the completion of a professional development program or a teacher-to-teacher seminar for training inexperienced teachers entering into the inclusive classroom setting. Hooper indicated:

Professional development seminars and workshops, where professionals or intervention specialist can train teachers, would have been very helpful to me. As a young teacher educating students with EBDs, I took many things that my students did or said to me personally.

In both focus-group interviews, all participants agreed that professional development programs or seminars would be helpful in preparing teachers to educate students with EBDs in the inclusive classroom environment. This type of preparation for teachers was unanimous among participants in this study. Six of the 14 participants in this study had some type of preparation training before entering the inclusive classroom. However, the teacher training that was given to these teachers was not geared toward preparing teachers for the inclusive classroom setting. All participants felt that their certification courses and training did not benefit them at all in preparation for educating students in the inclusive classroom environment. The participants expressed the need for professional development programs or teacher preparation seminars to be tailored to educating SWD in self-contained and inclusive classroom settings.

Some participants believed the teacher-to-teacher preparation seminars would be just as helpful, if not more helpful than the professional development programs. During their individual interviews Wanda, Gayle, and Preston felt that the experienced inclusive teachers could prepare teachers better than the programs because they could give them real-life situations that were occurring in the classrooms that a person could only learn through experience. The participants that attended college and obtained a degree in Education noted, that their college courses offered a solid foundation preparing teachers for the classroom but lacked the understating of educating students with various exceptionalities in the classroom environment. Taylor explained:

I don't feel well prepared because I have had no training in how to support these students. I'm learning on the fly. My courses in college did not prepare me for this type of classroom, this is why I rely heavily on my co-taught teacher in my class. She has been amazing in my growth and in my understanding of these students.

When students are scheduled to enter a classroom for the first time, teachers should be prepared to accommodate and support that student as needed. Participants expressed a need to receive adequate documentation on a student with an EBD or any other disability, before that student enters the inclusive classroom setting for the first time. Some teachers feel that a meeting about the student's academic and behavioral area of concern should be required before entering the classroom. Nancy expressed frustration from the lack of documentation given to the teachers of record in the inclusive classroom from the student's case manager. The BIPs and student's supports page from the student's IEP gives the teachers adequate documentation concerning the student's academic, developmental, and functional strengths or weaknesses. As well as information given to teachers concerning how a student's disability affects their involvement in the general education curriculum. This information for teachers is essential for the progression and success of the teacher and student with EBDs in the inclusive classroom setting. Nancy stated:

Meeting with their teachers in advance and what the student's routine is. It is better for both parties to get as much information as possible before the student arrives in my class. I need to understand how to best work with the students and apply strategies to help them.

Professional Development

Professional development was the first sub-theme that emerged from the theme of preparing teachers for the inclusive classroom setting. All of the participants demonstrated a strong desire for all pre-service general education teachers to be required to enroll in some type of professional development program or seminar. This requirement would prepare teachers in educating students with disabilities in an inclusive classroom setting, before the teacher enters into a classroom setting with students with disabilities. During the individual interview, a question to participants was asked concerning additional ideas they would like to share to prepare teachers to instruct students with EBDs in the inclusive classroom. Gayle explained:

We need proper training for strategies for supporting and accommodating these students. The beginning of the year during preplanning is the best time for some type of professional development program to take place. I wasn't prepared for the inclusive classroom. Having new teachers work with students with EBDs is troublesome. I only had one class introduction to special education. I would have liked to have had more, being a co-taught teacher in an inclusive classroom.

Preston stated, "My first year in the classroom, I did not know what I was getting into. I did not feel well-prepared but I was confident that I would be okay." During both focus-group interviews, professional development was a major topic of discussion early in the interviews. When questions were asked in the interviews, it seemed to always go back to the participants needing some type of training for the inclusive classroom. At times, many participants felt they were accommodating the students with EBDs by trial and error early in their career, especially when the co-taught teacher was not near them to assist. Troy indicated:

It seemed as if I was just there to put out fires in the classroom. I felt I was doing less teaching and just reacting to issues in the classroom. I believe my experience coaching football helped me relieve some of those anxiety issues in the classroom.

Teachers being well prepared before they enter the classroom is essential in their confidence and the success of their students. When the participants indicated that their confidence was low because of the lack of knowledge educating students with EBDs, the student was the person that ultimately suffered. According to the student's IEP, there are specific goals that are set for that particular student. There are goals that need to be tracked by the teacher in the inclusive classroom for SWD. These goals need to be charted by the teachers in the classroom to track the progression of the student. In the IEP the student has academic, developmental, and functional needs that need to be addressed. The participants are aware that this information has to be provided to the case manager. Robbie declared:

I would be pulling my hair out, if I were a new teacher in this day and time. Only because of my experience am I keeping my head above water. We have to track goals for particular students in class, manage a variety of behaviors from students, and make sure assessment test scores meet the requirements of the state without proper preparation of how to get things done!

Nine of the 14 participants liked the concept of teachers attending a professional development program that is specifically for teachers that educate SWD in the inclusive classroom setting. The other participants would rather have an experienced educator mentor them for a certain amount of time, after attending preparation sessions from those educators. However, all participants agreed that a developmental program for inclusive teachers was well overdue. Benny said, "I would have been open to having a professional development seminar at

least once every nine weeks, early in my career. That would have eliminated a lot of stressful nights."

Teacher to Teacher Preparation

The next sub-theme that emerged was teacher to teacher preparation. Participants acknowledged that pre-service teachers or teachers with one to two years of experience would greatly benefit from experienced teachers sharing strategies and techniques concerning inclusive classroom management. The general consensus is that this type of knowledge can only be gained from experienced teachers currently in an inclusive classroom setting. Wanda stated, "New teachers need to be taught from experienced teachers that have been in the inclusive setting. Physically showing scenarios on how to address behaviors and support our students with disabilities." Wanda, Gayle, and Preston were three of the participants that were adamant about experienced teachers training newly inclusive teachers in preparation of educating students with EBDs.

In the first focus-group session, the lack of in person classroom experience quickly triggered the emerging of the second sub-theme of teacher-to-teacher preparation. During some of the individual interviews, when I asked the participants about the challenges in the inclusive classroom, some of the teachers spoke of a lack of knowledge of the inclusive classroom as a major problem for them. Many of the participants had no knowledge of the level of discipline that would be needed in the inclusive classroom educating students with EBDs. Some of the teachers spoke of how it seemed that two students with EBDs in one classroom is equivalent to 10 general education students present in the same classroom. Preston said:

Students with EBDs are different from the other students with disabilities. I learned quickly that they needed to be treated differently, after I sent my third student with an

EBD to the administrator's office with a discipline referral. I believe some of type training would have helped me with those situations.

During the second focus-group interview, the participants noted that being able to learn from other teachers would be invaluable information that a developmental program could not give an inexperienced teacher. For instance, the first time the participants attended an IEP meeting was a little overwhelming for some of them. Gayle stated:

I really did not know what to expect in my first IEP meeting. It really seemed like a formal setting that was meant to interrogate the teachers. It just so happened that an attorney was present and I was the student's general education teacher at the time. I had only been a teacher for two and a half months at that time.

Gayle was one of the only participants to seriously consider leaving the inclusive classroom setting and returning to the general education classroom environment, to solely educate general education students. Her perception of the classroom environment before entering the educational field was slightly different than she anticipated. Her lack of training in educating students with EBDs dampened her enthusiasm of teaching overall. This could have been a case of a teacher leaving the profession because of a lack of training. Instead, she received counseling from other teachers helping her through the difficult times. Gayle shared, "I am fortunate to have a group of colleagues that care about my well-being because my last two years have been tough. I still do not know what the future holds for me."

Support System for Teachers

The third theme that appeared was the support system for teachers. All participants in the study indicated that the support system for the teacher becomes a team of individuals that assists in the progression of the student with EBDs academically, socially, and emotionally. During the

individual and focus-group interviews, the participants indicated that the support system for teachers refers to the administration, parents, paraprofessionals, and other teachers. This support system was determined by the participants of this study. The relatedness for teachers in the school environment helps in the overall development of the student with EBDs. Pam and Beth alluded to the main reason for them being in the school system for 20 or more years, is due to the relationships and the camaraderie they have developed with other teachers in their department and the administration. Pam asserted, "Since my first year in special education, I have felt love from my co-taught teachers and administration throughout the years. This has kept me going for all these years. I love them!"

In the individual interviews, the participants expressed that they respected their fellow colleagues and administrators at their schools. During these interviews, the topic of parents and paraprofessionals was talked about; however, the participants did not feel the parents nor paraprofessionals had an effect on their motivation to assist the students in their classroom, as much as administrators and other teachers. There were only four participants that had a consistent dialog with parents of students with EBDs. Two of these participants were teachers that taught students with EBDs in the self-contained classroom setting.

Preston was a teacher that did not think his relationship with his students with EBDs' parents was important. He stated, "I really have no relationship with their parents. My co-taught teacher meets with them. If a meeting is required to attend, I will be there." There were other participants that had similar feelings. Sara said:

I do not have much interaction with their parents. I have many students in my classroom with multiple classes to be concerned with. The board of education has put so much on

our plate, that it seems we do not have enough hours in the day to do what is needed.

However, I do communicate with them online, by Google Classroom.

Paraprofessionals were important to the participants and most of them had great relationships with the paraprofessionals in school. However, the teachers did not feel the paraprofessionals support was substantial enough to elaborate on. It was unanimous that their colleagues and administrators played a major part in their overall morale educating students with EBDs in the inclusive classroom setting. There were other reasons that caused their morale to decrease throughout their school day, such as an overload of paperwork, disruptive behaviors from students with EBDs, and the pressures from the school system to increase test scores. However, their relationships with their colleagues and support from their administrators were the topics that were discussed the most across all data collection sources when the teachers' support system was addressed.

Administration

Administration was the first sub-theme that emerged. Teachers agreed that having a supportive administrative staff is a major cause of successful learning for all students in the inclusive classroom setting. Being able to rely on support from administration, when it comes to disciplinary support with students with EBDs is vital to classroom success and teacher morale. Harry stated, "My relationship with administration is good. Once our administration understands that you are there for the student and whatever you do is to benefit the child they have your back." Other participants had similar feelings toward their own administrators in their school. However, there were other participants that garnered mixed feelings toward the administrators at their school. During the individual interview with Gayle, after I asked her about the relationship she has with administration. At first, she hesitated about answering the question. But after I

reassured her that this study was completely confidential. She stated, "My relationship with administration is okay but I want support when needed. At times, I do get discouraged because of the lack of consistency from them concerning student discipline."

Beth was the lone participant that did not have a good or even a cordial relationship with an administrator at her school, even though she does not feel the same way about all the administrators. When I asked Beth about her relationship with the current administration, she said, "It is contentious! Me and administration do not see eye to eye!" Throughout the years, Beth has had six different Principals at the current high school she works at. The last two to three years have been very challenging for Beth with the current administration at her school. Beth stated, "I do not feel support from this administration. They really don't discipline students the way I see fit and it seems they do not understand how to talk to the current teachers in the school." These are the main reasons Beth plans to retire at the end of this school year.

The participants all agreed that when administrators supported their overall teaching and management skills in the classroom, teachers gave more energy toward educating the students in the classroom and would do anything it took to make their administrators look good. This was a unanimous feeling from all participants in each focus-group interview. There were some participants that also felt, that if a teacher had to send a student to an administrator for a disruptive behavior issue and the administrator handled the situation the way the teacher felt was correct, this was a major step in the teacher supporting the administrator. Administrators that did not handle disruptive behavior situations correctly was a major topic of discussion during both focus-group interviews. There were participants that expressed a lack of consistency when it came to disciplining students with EBDs compared to other students. Pam said:

The relationship I have with them is complicated at times. It is a balance because I expect them to discipline my students the way I see fit, when they act up in my class. When that does not happen, it is a problem.

Even though Beth and Pam had similar statements concerning the way administration disciplined their students, all of the participants felt that disciplining students with EBDs made a big difference toward their relationship with administrators and gave them more confidence educating students with EBDs in their inclusive classroom setting. Ten of the 14 participants had good to great relationships with the administrators at their schools. Becky said, "Administration has been very supportive. They are always willing to help." Nancy was another participant that enjoyed working with the administrators at her school. She specified:

I feel we have a good relationship. I try to maintain the environment that is conducive for the student with EBD in my classroom, so that I do not need my administrators involved in disciplining my students. I handle things with the parent or their case manager, if there is a discipline problem in my classroom.

Co-taught Teacher

The final sub-theme that developed was co-taught teacher. All participants in this study agreed that the co-taught teacher in the inclusive classroom is just as responsible for student growth and development, as the teacher of record in a particular classroom. Both teachers are involved with lesson plans and the teaching of the curriculum among other classroom duties. Sara enjoyed the business-like relationship with the students and the co-taught teacher in the inclusive classroom. Sara specified:

We have a great relationship and this plays a huge role in the classroom teaching the students. We are not best friends. It's a working relationship. It's similar to a business

partnership, understanding that we all are in this together to help the students. We try to not show any issues between teachers in front of the class. If there is a disagreement, we handle it behind closed doors. Then, we come back in the class on the same page and together showing our continuity.

All but one teacher had good to great relationships with their co-taught teacher. As stated before, Gayle did not envision her educational career teaching students that needed to be encouraged to complete simple assignments in class. She anticipated a totally different environment for her classroom. She anticipates returning to the general education setting next year, not because of her colleagues. Gayle feels, she would be better served in a classroom without a co-taught teacher. Gayle stated:

I do have a cordial relationship with my assistant... I'm sorry, my co-taught teacher. Our relationship began really rocky! But after consulting with a few of the teachers, it has gotten better. I just feel I'm better suited being alone in the classroom with my students. I do not mind having an assistant or a paraprofessional in my classroom to assist me but I want to do things my way.

Robbie was the other participant that had an up and down relationship with the co-taught teacher. She added:

It is up and down because the teachers are different. I try to just fit in and be adjustable. I am open to change to best help the student. Being approachable to the co-taught teacher is a start. Being consistent with our students is most important.

Sara has not always had a good relationship with the co-taught teacher in her inclusive classroom. She had to adjust to the inclusive classroom rules of having another teacher in the classroom. She stated:

Early in my teaching career, I did not enjoy the presence of another adult giving commands to my students in my classroom. Now, I do not think I would go back to being the only teacher in my classroom. It is so convenient having another teacher there covering items you may have missed. I've grown to build a positive relationship with them because it is two teachers, not just the teacher of record being there for the students with EBDs.

There is data collected from progress monitoring reports that are applied to the student's supports page in the IEP that indicate whether SWD can academically learn from the general education curriculum, without requiring modifications. These students are able to attend those classes in the inclusive classroom environment. If a student with an EBD is academically, behaviorally, and functionally able to attend classes in the general education setting from the general education curriculum, that student is able to take courses in the inclusive classroom setting with general education students. The student supports page is a document in the student's IEP that declares the classroom testing and instructional accommodations or modifications needed for the SWD.

The services page in the IEP declares the number of inclusive and self-contained classes the SWD is currently taking in school. Teachers rely on these documents to determine the particular placement for SWD in the self-contained or inclusive classroom setting. If a SWD needs support, to the point that their assignments need to be modified in order for that student to learn from the general curriculum. Then, that student would be placed in a self-contained setting in that particular subject. If their assignments need to be accommodated in a particular subject, then that student would be able to attend an inclusive classroom setting with general education students.

Research Question Responses

The following section offers concise answers to the research questions posed in this research study, primarily using the themes and subthemes developed in the previous section. The answers are reflective of the perception of the majority or in some cases all of the participants.

All forms of data were considered when determining answers for all questions.

Central Research Question

What are the shared experiences of public high school teachers instructing students with emotional behavior disorders (EBDs) in inclusive classroom settings? The theme teachers are committed to supporting students with the sub-themes one-on-one interaction and building a rapport relate to the central research question. The participants expressed a feeling of love toward the students with EBDs in their classroom. Despite the various confrontations the teachers had throughout the year with these students. Almost all of the teachers had a feeling of parent to student relationship, instead of teacher to student relationship. There were multiple times, some of the participants addressed the students with EBDs as their babies. Robbie stated, "They are my babies! And they will always be my babies. Teachers cannot take the things they do in class personally!"

Based on the data collected, the participants' overall experiences of instructing students with EBDs in the inclusive classroom setting is challenging but very rewarding. The teachers feel that instructing these students is more than a job, it is a calling! Many of the participants alluded to numerous other jobs they could be doing that would grant them more finances than teaching; however, being able to change young students' lives is priceless to the teachers. Robbie stated that the teachers at her school formulated a club for SWD called, "the Buddy Club." They perform various tasks outside of school at different places. She stated, "The teachers in the club

spend numerous hours with the students outside of school, which allows the student-teacher relationship during school to really blossom to a wonderful relationship because they know we care and have their backs."

Sub-Question One

What challenges do high school teachers experience while instructing students with emotional behavior disorders (EBDs) in inclusive classroom settings? The theme preparing teachers for the inclusive classroom setting with the sub-themes professional development and teacher to teacher preparation relate to sub-question number one. Professional development and teacher seminars were the solutions to the participants' challenges in the inclusive classroom educating students with EBDs. Many of the participants were honest about the lack of knowledge they had educating students with EBDs, despite their educational background in higher education. Some were even embarrassed to express these thoughts to the interviewer. During the second focus-group interview, at the same time Preston and Gayle said, "I was not prepared!"

Based on the data collected, teachers listed student support and a lack of experience educating students with EBDs in the inclusive classroom as challenges they had to overcome. There was a consensus among participants that the inexperience of teachers was a major obstacle to supporting and accommodating students with EBDs. Their inexperience often caused the external behaviors of students with EBDs in the classroom among other students. Taylor stated, "The challenge is with me. I didn't know if I was adequately prepared to teach them daily because I would have to constantly remind myself to approach them differently."

Sub-Question Two

What are the relatedness experiences of public high school teachers instructing students with emotional behavior disorders (EBDs) in inclusive classroom settings? The theme support system for teachers with the sub-themes administration and co-taught teacher relate to sub-question number two. The participants agreed that the better the support from teachers and administration, the more motivated and energized they felt educating students with EBDs in their classroom. Beth declared:

Support from others you work with goes a long way in your motivation in teaching students in your class. It should not be that way but it has a massive effect on how you teach in class. I have been teaching for many years and my best, most dynamic years in the classroom were when I enjoyed being around my colleagues and the administrators at school.

In the field of special education, being part of a team that is committed to supporting the SWD is essential in the progression of the student. What is often overlooked is the positive affect relatedness and a sense of community has on a teacher. Pam stated, "It's good having a positive relationship with the special education staff because we're friends before work. We talk about strategies all the time to help students. We all have the same goals to help all students."

Sub-Question Three

What are the competence experiences of public high school teachers instructing students with emotional behavior disorders (EBDs) in inclusive classroom settings? The theme preparing teachers for the inclusive classroom setting with the sub-themes professional development and teacher to teacher preparation relate to sub-question number three. Prior training in educating students with EBDs can often accelerate the professional competency usually gained through experience. All participants shared increasing confidence in their classroom management skills

educating students with EBDs, due to their experience of receiving the proper training through teacher development programs, which minimizes teacher abandonment. Beth stated, "Through my 23 years of experience I've gained confidence. I feel professional development is needed, especially for inexperienced teachers. There is always learning to gain in the field of education."

Summary

The purpose of this phenomenological study was to understand the experiences of public high school teachers educating students with EBDs in inclusive classroom settings. This chapter first introduced the 14 participants of this study who teach in the inclusive classroom setting. Chapter four contained a description of each participant, the number of years they have been in the field of education, their highest degree earned, the content area they teach, and their classroom setting. The data, in the form of themes and sub-themes were presented. These themes were used to understand the experiences of teachers educating students with EBDs in the inclusive classroom setting. The first theme was teachers are committed to supporting students, which had the following subthemes: one on one interaction, building a rapport. The second theme was preparing teachers for the inclusive classroom setting, which had the following subthemes: professional development, teacher to teacher preparation. The third theme was support system for teachers, which had the following subthemes: administration, co-taught teacher. In addition, research question responses from participants were addressed and included. One important finding in this study was that all participants expressed a need for educational school systems to implement some type of professional development for teachers to understand how to manage and educate students with EBDs in an inclusive classroom environment.

CHAPTER FIVE: CONCLUSION

Overview

The purpose of this phenomenological study was to understand the experiences of public high school teachers educating students with EBDs in inclusive classroom settings. This chapter begins with a discussion of the research findings by interpreting the themes and subthemes that appeared from data collection and analysis. Then, analysis and synthesis are discussed in relation to policy and practice. Next, this chapter includes theoretical and empirical implications, along with limitations and delimitations. Finally, Chapter Five concludes with recommendations for future research and a summary.

Discussion

The purpose of this section is to discuss a concise summary of this study's findings regarding the themes developed for this hermeneutic phenomenological study. In this study, the data was collected from 14 participants using individual interviews, focus group interviews, and document data collection. An abundance of findings demonstrated important topics for discussion, which are explained further based on existing literature and research analysis and discoveries.

Summary of Thematic Findings

My research focused on the experience of teachers educating students with EBDs in the inclusive classroom setting. The summaries of the thematic findings were developed from the themes in this study which include: (a) Teachers are Committed to Supporting Students, (b) Preparing Teachers for the Inclusive Classroom Setting, and (c) Support System for Teachers. The first theme, teachers are committed to supporting students included two subthemes: one on one interaction and building a rapport. Participants demonstrated a high level of importance in

supporting students with EBDs. One on one interaction and building a rapport were subthemes that were prevalent in the findings of supporting these students in the inclusive classroom setting. One on one interaction and building a rapport play a pivotal role in how teachers support students with EBDs. Participants who displayed autonomy in the inclusive classroom displayed a great desire to build a one-on-one relationship with their students.

Preparing teachers for the inclusive classroom setting was the second theme; it also had two subthemes: professional development and teacher to teacher preparation. The participants in this study showed repeated evidence of the need for teachers to have prior training of educating students with EBDs in an inclusive classroom setting, by verbally stating the need for some form of professional development or preparation program for preservice or first to second year teachers. During the individual and focus group interviews, all participants alluded to the emerging subthemes of professional development or teacher to teacher preparation as the key to teachers being prepared to manage an inclusive classroom of students with EBDs. Competency was more prevalent among the participants who had prior knowledge of educating students with EBDs in inclusive classroom settings.

The final theme was the support system for teachers. It also had two subthemes which were administration and co-taught teacher. The support system for teachers was an unexpected emerging theme that was identified in this study during the individual and focus group interviews. The participants stated that the assurance from administration was an underlying key to the success of teachers disciplining students with EBDs, which was mentioned as a dominant factor in managing students with EBDs in the inclusive classroom setting. The subtheme of co-taught teachers demonstrated the relatedness of teachers' success of working together in the

inclusive classroom, forming a family type atmosphere that encouraged teachers to continue in the field of education as a career.

Interpretation of Findings

Deci and Ryan's (2001) self-determination theory provided the theoretical framework for this phenomenological study. The three themes, as outlined in Chapter Four, emerged after analyzing the data collected from the participants through individual interviews, focus-group interviews, and the collection of documents. The discussion of thematic findings complements the findings in Chapter Two of the literature review of this study. The findings add to the understanding of the experiences of public high school teachers educating students with EBDs in inclusive classroom settings. The following subsections are the interpretation of findings: certification for all teachers, professional development seminars for teachers, and teacher support is a necessity.

Certification for All Teachers

The first interpretation for this study is certification for all teachers. The literature confirms that certification for general education teachers is a way to ensure that all educators will have the adequate training to educate all students in all classroom settings in the school environment. All of the participants in this phenomenological study are required to have their teaching certifications in order to teach general and special education students in the public school system. However, only special education teachers are required to have both their general and special education certifications in order to teach special education students. Benny and Beth, two of the participants in the self-contained classroom setting discussed these sentiments saying:

Many special education teachers do not like the fact that we are required to get a general education certificate to teach all students, but those teachers do not have to get our certificates to teach our students. I do not think that is fair.

It is noteworthy that the data collected in this study confirms a need for teacher certification in special education. There were 10 of the 14 participants that have had these conversations with other teachers in the past. The 12 participants that teach in the inclusive classroom setting stated that they have learned how to support students with EBDs mostly from their co-taught teacher, who had to obtain their certification in special education. These teachers would not have the need to learn how to support students with EBDs from their colleagues, if they were taught the strategies and tools of how to educate and support these students before entering the inclusive classroom environment.

Through a variety of models, two certified teachers have the opportunity to alter and adapt the delivery of co-teaching practice to students with EBDs (Jackson et al., 2017). Most of the participants in this study were in favor of the co-taught teacher classroom because of the task of educating students with EBDs and other exceptionalities in one educational classroom consisting of 20 to 30 students. Having a two teacher classroom staff can benefit the students in a classroom environment. However, there are some teachers that would rather educate their students individually. Teachers that prefer teaching alone in an inclusive classroom setting educating SWD have the opportunity to seek certification in the field of special education. Federal laws require teachers to have a certification in special education in order to educate SWD in a public-school setting (Koehler & Wild, 2019; Mathews et al., 2023).

The statements concerning teacher certifications arose, when the question of teachers feeling confident and well-prepared to instruct students with EBDs in the inclusive classroom

setting was addressed. Most of the participants liked the concept of being required to attend a professional development seminar or some type of teacher-to-teacher training for the inclusive classroom, as long as it was tailored to them teaching SWD specifically, instead of general education teachers being required to obtain another certification in order to educate SWD. All of the teachers understood the importance of having the knowledge and understanding of supporting and accommodating SWD; however, they did not feel the need to obtain an additional certification was necessary if they received the adequate training to support these students academically and behaviorally.

Since I have been in the special education field, there has always been an underlying tone of anger from special education teachers requesting that general education teachers be required to obtain a special education certificate to educate special education students, just as special education teachers are required to educate general education students. General education teachers being required to obtain certification in special education is a narrative that is ongoing. Having both cotaught teachers in the inclusive classroom mostly results in enhancing academic and behavioral performances which facilitates positive outcomes from students with EBDs, as it reduces behavioral incidents in the classroom (Garland & Dieker, 2019; Jackson et al., 2017).

Professional Development Seminars for Teachers

The second interpretation for this study is professional development seminars for teachers. A focal point expressed throughout this study involved the need for professional development for teachers educating students with EBDs, because of the students' vast accommodation and modification requirements in the inclusive classroom setting among other students. There were significant findings in this study that built on the narrative of the need for teachers to partake in professional development seminars to improve teacher competency and

minimize teacher abandonment. The participants in this study were aware of the negative effects that a lack of knowledge in educating SWD in the classroom had on their confidence, this is why professional development for teachers was a major topic in this study. The teachers in this study expressed that at the beginning of their career, it felt as if they were fast-tracked into the classroom without proper training of how to manage students with various exceptionalities and personalities in a classroom environment. As a result, the need for professional development for teachers was an obvious remedy to their inadequacies instructing SWD in the inclusive classroom setting.

The analysis of the data collected confirms providing opportunities for teachers to improve their knowledge of managing their classroom is the key for them to remain in the educational field and provides autonomous motivation. Having this knowledge increases their confidence in educating SWD, which leads to teachers feeling a sense of self-endorsement and volition in their actions. Preparing teachers for this type of classroom environment provides autonomy and competency. When the question was asked to the participants concerning ideas they would like to share on how their school district could better prepare teachers, 93% of the teachers expressed a need for some form of teacher training from other teachers or intervention specialists.

There were participants in this study who attended a professional development preparation program before entering the inclusive classroom environment. Benny indicated, "We need more seminars or professional development programs for teachers. And have intervention specialist or experienced teachers help the new teachers that have less experience with students with EBDs." There are teacher preparation programs that are designed for new teachers entering the educational field and teachers that have experience in the special education field. Some

school districts require regular professional learning for teachers to support education for the inclusion of SWD, since disabilities are complex, with changing thresholds and definitions for identification (Ahmed et al., 2022).

The participants that took professional development courses before entering the classroom environment expressed a great deal of confidence managing and educating students of all exceptionalities in their classroom setting. The participants that did not take these courses or seminars expressed that they felt rushed by the school system to meet district or state test score requirements without proper training of how to manage their classroom environment effectively. The participants were aware of the content material in their respective subjects; however, it was more to properly educating students than just knowing the content. The understanding of how to manage various exceptionalities in a classroom was the main task for these teachers before teaching any form of material to the students. Gayle and Preston had similar statements concerning their lack of training before entering the classroom environment. Both teachers are from the same high school, they teach the same subject, and entered the teaching profession only a year apart from one another. Gayle and Preston expressed a lack of training educating SWD and a lack of support from administration, at times. There are times during the month that they collaboratively plan their lessons with other teachers in the literature field of content at their school.

Teacher Support is a Necessity

The third interpretation for this study is teacher support is a necessity. In this study, the relationships and support of other teachers and administration emerged from the rich data collected during the individual and focus-group interviews. The participants in this study elaborated on the importance of teacher relationships with their colleagues and administrators.

The findings showed correlating factors of teacher effectiveness in the inclusive classroom setting and positive teacher relationships with colleagues and administrators. As school districts in the country pursue meeting the vast range of SWD needs (Pizana, 2022), the relationships teachers have with each other continues to rise in importance. During the individual interview with Taylor, he expressed his drive to become an administrator in the near future. Taylor's mentor is a principal in another district nearby. Taylor expressed that his mentor told him, "Once you become an administrator, look at the teachers in your school as if they are gold. Having an administrator that has your best interest at heart, goes a long way for teachers supporting you as an administrator."

The literature further includes that overwhelmingly, the participants associated their success in the classroom with the positive relationships they garnered with their support staff. The colleagues that collaborated with them educating students, daily lesson planning for students, and administrators that were supportive of their classroom management and teaching strategies were a few of the tasks the participants stated that made a difference to their morale. Negative relationships among teachers and administrators created unwarranted challenges for teachers during their time in a particular school (Evashkovsky & Osipova, 2023; Umemoto & Inagaki, 2023). Research has shown that over time, if a teacher did not have positive relationships with the support staff at their school, it was likely that the teacher would transfer to another school (Pizana, 2022). Throughout this study, teacher relationships with their support staff had a major influence on their autonomy, relatedness, and competence (Ryan & Deci, 2000).

The analysis of the data collected confirms the support from the participants colleagues and administration is a major cause of a teacher's success in the classroom. It was clear that

participants in this study felt that collaborating with other educators in the building produced a family like atmosphere that encourages comfortable and uncomfortable communication between staff that is needed in order to be a successful teacher, educating all students. Gayle and Preston were among the participants that spoke highly regarding teacher support in the classroom. Even though it involved spending extra time with your colleagues and administrators to develop this type of family atmosphere, all participants felt that it was definitely a necessity. Benny and Beth were among the most tenured participants in this study. Both teachers spent 20 plus years in the classroom educating SWD. They were adamant about the need for support from other teachers and administrators, which increases the success rate and longevity of teachers in the educational field, especially for teachers under three years of teaching experience.

In this study, I found that teachers' relatedness to others was vital to their success in the inclusive classroom. It did not matter if the obstacles were the students' behavior or academic issues in the classroom setting, the relationship with others increased their overall morale and their motivation to pull through circumstances. Without teacher support the participants expressed the lack of desire to remain in their current workplace and pursue other jobs in the educational field as well as other opportunities outside the teaching profession. In fact, Wanda left a previous school district over a perceived lack of support from administrators. She stated;

The way they treated us was not ideal, to say the least. They did not care about our feelings, nor did they appreciate the time we spent in the classroom after school hours. They were more concerned with the assessment student test scores and however you managed to reach those goals was fine with them.

Implications for Policy and Practice

This phenomenological study revealed implications for policy and practice related to understanding the experiences of public high school teachers educating students with EBDs in inclusive classrooms. The implications for policy pertain to districts implementing efficient standards for teachers to meet, prior to entering the inclusive classroom setting. The implications for practice pertain to teachers' effectiveness educating students with EBDs in the inclusive classroom.

Implications for Policy

The implications for policy regarding findings and outcomes of this study are for district policies and regulations on teacher professional development and preparation programs. There is a gap in the literature pertaining to adequate training and development for general education teachers educating students with behavioral disabilities in the inclusive classroom setting. Research indicated that the need for teacher preparation programs may impact current educational policies and certifications for general education teachers. The data from the individual interviews, focus-group interviews, and the collection of documentation provided rich evidence to support the need for further study pertaining to applying state and district policies of teacher developmental preparation programs in educating students with EBDs in the inclusive classroom environment. The provision of resources and funding to support professional development for teachers should be guided by policy and law (Filderman et al., 2022). There is an array of academic and behavioral challenges that teachers of students with EBDs face, without proper current practices in professional development, which impacts both general and special educators (State et al., 2019).

According to the U.S. Department of Education, less than one percent of students are served in the category of emotional disturbance. However, the primary IDEA identification of

students with EBDs participated in 80% or more of a school day in the general education classroom environment (Ahmed et al., 2022; Filderman et al., 2022; State et al., 2019), which indicates a primary need for professional development for general and special education teachers (Ahmed et al., 2022; Filderman et al., 2022; State et al., 2019). According to IDEA, approximately 11% of students in the emotional disturbance category are not receiving services at any point in school but may need them (Ahmed et al., 2022; State et al., 2019). As a result, a significant number of students at risk for EBDs are likely to be present in classrooms, which teachers must be prepared to accommodate and support these students (Ahmed et al., 2022; State et al., 2019). Even more concerning, research shows that there are many practicing teachers that are less credentialed to educate and support students under the emotional disturbance category (State et al., 2019).

In the 1990s, a decade when changes in policy and practice marked significant changes in assessment, standards, and evaluation of teachers were emerging significantly, the 2000s, (Healy et al., 2020; State et al., 2019) marked a shift from soft policies to hard policies requiring states to increase all around accountability in their schools for teachers and students (Ahmed et al., 2022; Filderman et al., 2022; Healy et al., 2020; State et al., 2019). Therefore, Stanford University and the American Association of Colleges for Teacher Education adopted the Performance Assessment for California Teachers to be used throughout the country (Ahmed et al., 2022; Filderman et al., 2022; Healy et al., 2020; State et al., 2019). After this testing assessment for teachers was implemented, it received praises from several studies contending that teacher education programs improved (Ahmed et al., 2022; Filderman et al., 2022; Healy et al., 2020; State et al., 2019). Furthermore, this assessment test for teachers was the first of its kind to be used in the United States. Today, in some states it is required and others it is optional

but can be scored for teachers on the local level (Ahmed et al., 2022; Filderman et al., 2022; Healy et al., 2020; Matthew et al., 2022; State et al., 2019). School districts should plan for professional development programs for teachers specifically for educating and accommodating SWD in inclusive and self-contained classroom settings (Ahmed et al., 2022; Filderman et al., 2022), recognizing that it is imperative that teachers who educate SWD have these strategies and tools to support SWD in order for them to be successful in the classroom environment (Ahmed et al., 2022; Filderman et al., 2022).

Implications for Practice

The implication for practice regarding the findings and outcomes of this study are for public high school teachers' effectiveness educating students with EBDs in the inclusive classroom setting. While it is clear that professional development for teachers is an important finding in their development in educating students with EBDs in the inclusive environment, it may also be an effective tool for experienced general education teachers that only educate students in the general education classroom setting. The Deci and Ryan theory has been used to understand the core elements that influence behavior: autonomy, relatedness, and competence (Ryan & Deci, 2000). Taylor explained:

I do not always feel support from administration because I feel the administration is getting information from the school district to be more lenient with discipline on students, than in the past. They want students in school for their numbers, but this can have a negative effect on teachers' morale and their relationship with administrators, on down to other teachers in the building.

The data from the interviews revealed that the participants were not always prepared to support and accommodate students with EBDs in the inclusive classroom environment. The

school districts around the state showed that they do not require high school general education teachers to be certified to educate SWD in the inclusive classroom setting. The implication for practice that results from these findings is that the professional development or preparation programs for teachers should be part of the teachers' effectiveness and evaluation scores before entering in the inclusive classroom setting educating students with EBDs. In education, the primary goal is student learning. The primary goal for school districts should be preparing teachers to be qualified to support and accommodate all students in all classroom settings, from the first day of school.

Special education teachers are known to having the authority on adaptation and individualized expertise when it comes to educating SWD (Jackson et al., 2017; Webster & De Boer, 2021), while general education teachers are regularly described as content experts (Conroy et al., 2022; Crispel & Kasperski, 2021; Harbour et al., 2022). Combining the teachers' expertise to conceivably provide the general and special education students with quality instruction, differentiating content, and allowing greater responsiveness to the students' needs (Garland & Dieker, 2019; Jackson et al., 2017). Providing professional development for teachers could possibly generate these teaching qualities into one quality, certified educator (Jackson et al., 2017), capable of educating general and special education students in any educational classroom environment (Jackson et al., 2017; Webster & De Boer, 2021). The effectiveness of teacher professional development programs are continually evaluated for the goal of providing optimal teacher learning (Crispel & Kasperski, 2021; Jackson et al., 2017; Webster & De Boer, 2021).

Teacher motivation and feeling competent in the classroom was found to be significant for the success of students in the classroom environment (Burgueño et al., 2022). Beth shared her sentiments:

Districts could offer a short training for all teachers and a more extensive training for those that have students with EBDs in their class. Have separate meetings for the SWD in the classroom. Have specific meetings for the student with EBDs, individually. Specific things that may bother the student. Try to cover all bases for those things that we come across daily in the self-contained and co-taught classroom.

Empirical and Theoretical Implications

The empirical and theoretical implications of this study are included in this section. The empirical implications of this study assist in closing the empirical gap in the literature and contribute to the body of literature pertaining to teacher professional developmental programs. The theoretical implications of this study verify the theoretical framework of the study, Deci & Ryan's (1980) SDT and revealed how the theory has been applied to understand the experiences of public high school teachers educating students with EBDs in the inclusive classroom setting. SDT was applied to this study to understand the autonomy, competence, and relatedness experiences of teachers.

Empirical Implications

Empirically, this study extends the body of research of public high school teachers educating students with EBDs in the inclusive classroom setting and provides implications for future use of this study's method of examining their lived experiences (American Psychiatric Association, 2022; Evashkovsky & Osipova, 2023; Mahabbati et al., 2022; McGuire & Meadan, 2022; Owens & Lo, 2022; Sanders et al., 2018; Umemoto & Inagaki, 2023; Van Mieghem et al., 2022). Adding to the existing literature of understanding the experiences of teachers in the inclusive classroom setting, this study aims to be empirically significant (Kielblock & Woodcock, 2023). Deci & Ryan's (1980) SDT proposed that people were willing to perform

tasks at a high level, from an autonomous standpoint, if rewarded (Umemoto & Inagaki, 2023). Autonomy, competence, and relatedness (Sheldon & Prentice, 2019) are three needs identified that are essential for facilitating optimal functioning for constructive social development (Cho et al., 2023; Nukhu & Singh, 2023). In this study, these three psychological needs were vital in understanding the experiences of teachers educating students with EBDs.

This study contributed to closing the gap by focusing on the development and adequate training of public high school teachers educating students with behavioral disabilities in the inclusive classroom environment. The literature shows that there is a need for teacher development in preparation programs and how these programs have a potential to impact current educational policies and practices in the educational systems in our country (Ferreira et al., 2023; Harbour et al., 2022; Kielblock & Woodcock, 2023). The empirical literature further suggests that teachers' engagement with teacher preparation programs has become a widely used practice that has evidence of a positive increase in student achievement and teacher efficacy (Kielblock & Woodcock, 2023).

Theoretical Implications

Deci and Ryan's (1980) SDT also provided a theoretical framework for this study. SDT is a framework consisting of several perspectives in understanding many factors to explore educational phenomena linked to self-esteem, personality, motivation, and other constructs in the educational field (Cho et al., 2023; Deci & Ryan, 1985; Ryan & Deci, 2000). This research provided insight into the many perspectives of the participants in understanding their intrinsic motivation, which is defined as the motivation to engage in certain activities because of the satisfaction rather than receiving a reward for a job well done (Deci & Ryan, 1985). The themes in this study (a) Teachers are Committed to Supporting Students, (b) Preparing Teachers for the

Inclusive Classroom Setting, and (c) Support System for Teachers relate well to Deci & Ryan's (1980) SDT. SDT has been used to understand the core elements that influence behavior: autonomy, relatedness, and competence (Ryan & Deci, 2000). These findings relate to and are built upon the theoretical framework of Deci & Ryan's (1980) self-determination theory (SDT) that framed the design for this study.

The data that emerged from the individual interviews, focus-group interviews, and the collection of documents was rich in evidence supporting Deci & Ryan's (1980) SDT of personality and human motivation that uses inner resources for personality development (Ryan & Deci, 2000; Sheldon & Prentice, 2019). Autonomy, competence, and relatedness are the three constructs that were used in this study to understand the teachers' experiences of educating students with EBDs in the inclusive classroom setting. Analyzing the motivational processes of teachers was essential in this study, given that motivation determines the initiation of an individual's behavior. The theory aims to provide the concepts for explaining all motivated behavior as well as the consequences for those behaviors, addressing momentary phenomenology, and cultural processes (Ryan & Deci, 2000). Furthermore, the theory is grounded in an organismic perspective acknowledging the struggle between the person and their interpersonal environment (Ryan & Deci, 2000; Sheldon & Prentice, 2019; Umemoto & Inagaki, 2023). SDT can serve as a foundation for the many disciplines and domains of personality psychology thus providing a lens through an array of human behavioral diversity and phenomena (Ryan & Deci, 2000; Sheldon & Prentice, 2019; Umemoto & Inagaki, 2023). The theory is also pragmatically pertinent, acknowledging the possibilities for human free will and the many impediments to such (Sheldon & Prentice, 2019).

As a result of theoretical implications, it is recommended that school districts offer teachers the opportunity to enroll in a teacher preparation program before entering the classroom environment, especially teachers that have the potential to educate students with EBDs in an inclusive classroom setting. Many school districts offer professional development seminars for teachers during a teacher's tenure in the classroom environment; however, there are no requirements for general education teachers to be certified in the area of completing a program or seminar before entering a classroom with students with EBDs. Moreover, during the teacher preparation programs, teachers can work with other educators in groups to familiarize themselves with collaborating with their colleagues, which would help teachers develop relationships and promote social integration among teachers. Finally, teachers that have been trained in the teacher preparation program can receive a certificate of completion, acknowledging their qualifications in educating students with EBDs in the inclusive classroom setting.

Limitations and Delimitations

This section includes the limitations and delimitations of this research. Limitations in this study include potential weaknesses of the study such as the setting of the study and participation of the participants. Acknowledging the limitations contributes to the trustworthiness of this study. Delimitations refer to the boundaries or constraints in this study to narrow the scope (Karimah & Hasegawa, 2022).

Limitations

This study included a few limitations. One limitation in this study was that all participants were high school teachers. The participants were public high school teachers with at least one year of experience. The teachers were carefully chosen to ensure they have all

experienced the phenomenon at the heart of the phenomenological design. Another limitation in the study was the limited timing to interview the participants. The sample pool of participants was from one school district. More time to interview a larger sample size of participants could have resulted in more insight that could have provided more experience to results or themes that were exposed from the data.

Delimitations

The delimitation in this study was the sample size of the participants. The boundary of the participants in this study were public high school teachers that educated SWD in the inclusive classroom setting. The teachers had to have at least one student in their inclusive classroom with an EBD. There were 14 participants in this study. Initially, the study began with 12 co-taught teachers as participants. A limitation is that only two special education teachers in the self-contained classroom were included. The two self-contained teachers gave a different perspective from the other participants of their experiences educating students with EBDs. All 14 participants gave rich data from the individual interviews, focus-group interviews, and the collection of documents to collect and analyze. Another delimitation in this study includes the choice to use a hermeneutic phenomenological design, which requires reflective interpretation of the study to achieve meaningful understanding.

Recommendations for Future Research

The recommendations for future research include the desired participants, the setting, and the design of this study. In addition to conducting a similar study that addresses several of the limitations related to sample size, region, or grades included, there are several recommendations for future research that build on this study's findings and interpretations. Future recommendations include how teachers can become better prepared to accommodate and support

students with EBDs in the inclusive classroom setting in order to close the gaps between students with EBDs and general education students, academically and behaviorally. Collectively, the participants expressed the need to be adequately trained with positive support from their staff, the role it played in their autonomy, competence, and relatedness was apparent. A grounded theory study that looks at the process of autonomy, relatedness, and competency development for teachers of students with EBDs would be appropriate. Utilizing the grounded theory methodology will add to the knowledge of assisting teachers in preparing to educate students with EBDs in the inclusive classroom setting, by receiving the adequate training prior to entering the classroom environment without being prepared. The grounded theory methodology provides an in-depth analysis of the phenomenon (Kelly et al., 2018; Sheldon & Prentice, 2019) and often determines what actually happens, linking the SDT of Deci & Ryan would be a valuable contribution to research.

The setting could also expand to the other states around the country. There could be an expansion to private or charter schools which educate SWD in their school setting. There does not have to be a grade or age limit of the SWD. The participants will be the teachers educating these students. The number of participants could be expanded to vastly more than 14, with this study being done quantitatively. There could be a link sent to special education teachers to complete an online survey. The survey could consist of questions related to their experiences in the inclusive classroom educating students with EBDs.

The study could even expand to paraprofessionals because of the time these individuals spend with SWD. The relationships SWD have with paraprofessionals in the schools is usually closer than the actual teacher of record in the special education classroom setting. Most paraprofessionals in the school district have some type of seminar they must complete in order to

assist teachers with SWD in the special education classroom. The literature in connection with the study's evidence of teachers supporting developmental preparation programs supports the need for further study in preparing teachers to educate students with EBDs in the inclusive classroom setting (Ahmed et al., 2022; Evashkovsky & Osipova, 2023; Webster & De Boer, 2021). Considering that most of the participants in this study did not have to complete a program or seminar to educate SWD in their inclusive classroom setting. Further studies could examine the contrast of experiences of the participants in their respective positions.

Conclusion

The purpose of this qualitative hermeneutic phenomenological study was to understand the experiences of public high school teachers educating students with EBDs in the inclusive classroom setting in the Major County School District. The themes were used to understand the experiences of teachers educating students with EBDs in the inclusive classroom setting. The first theme was teachers are committed to supporting students, which had the following subthemes: one on one interaction, building a rapport. The second theme was preparing teachers for the inclusive classroom setting, which had the following subthemes: professional development, teacher to teacher preparation. The third theme was support system for teachers, which had the following subthemes: administration, co-taught teacher. In addition, the interpretation of findings included: certification for all teachers, professional development seminars for teachers, and teacher support is a necessity. Beth concluded;

Having the opportunity to receive the in-depth training from the teacher developmental programs helped me immensely before entering the classroom my first-year teaching in the school system. I hope school systems in the state and around the country will see the

benefit of these programs in the future because it is definitely needful from what I have been seeing from the lack of management in co-taught classroom environments today!

References

- Adamson, F., & Galloway, M. (2019). Education privatization in the United States: Increasing saturation and segregation. *Education Policy Analysis Archives*, 27(129).
- Afacan, K., & Wilkerson, K. L. (2019). The effectiveness of behavior-focused alternative middle schools for students with disabilities. *Behavioral Disorders*, 45(1), 41–52. https://doi.org/10.1177/0198742919846619
- Ahmad Al Remawi, S. A. K. (2022). Training needs of teachers of visually and hearing impaired students in Amman City: A cross-sectional study. *International Journal of Early Childhood Special Education*, *14*(4), 2859–2867. https://doi.org/10.9756/INTJECSE/V14I4.387
- Ahmed, S. K., Jeffries, D., Chakraborty, A., Carslake, T., Lietz, P., Rahayu, B., Armstrong, D., Kaushik, A., & Sundarsagar, K. (2022). Teacher professional development for disability inclusion in low- and middle-income Asia-Pacific countries: An evidence and gap map.

 Campbell Systematic Reviews, 18(4).
- Alkahtani, K. D. F. (2022). Teachers' knowledge and attitudes toward sustainable inclusive education for students with emotional and behavioral disorders. *Children*, 9(12), 1940. https://doi.org/10.3390/children9121940
- Al-Shammari, Z. N. (2021). Applying humanism-based instructional strategies in inclusive education schools. *Education Quarterly Reviews*, 4(2), 629–631.
- American Psychiatric Association. (2022). Diagnostic and statistical manual of mental disorders (5th ed., text rev.). https://doi.org/10.1176/appi.books.9780890425787
- Andersen, H. V., & Sorensen, E. K. (2017). Enhancing understanding, flow and self-efficacy in

- learners with developmental and attention difficulties through ICT-based interventions. *European Journal of Open, Distance and E-Learning*, 20(1), 153–174.
- Anggrawan, A., C. S., D. S., & Satria, C. (2023). Developing augmented reality learning and measuring its effect on independent learning compared to traditional learning. *TEM Journal*, 12(2), 975–987. https://doi.org/10.18421/TEM122-44
- Archbell, K. A., & Coplan, R. J. (2022). Too anxious to talk: Social anxiety, academic communication, and students' experiences in higher education. *Journal of Emotional & Behavioral Disorders*, 30(4), 273–286. https://doi.org/10.1177/10634266211060079
- Bacon, J., & Pomponio, E. (2023). A call for radical over reductionist approaches to "inclusive" reform in neoliberal times: an analysis of position statements in the United States.

 *International Journal of Inclusive Education, 27(3), 354–375.

 https://doi.org/10.1080/13603116.2020.1858978
- Banks, J., McCoy, S., & Frawley, D. (2018). One of the gang? Peer relations among students with special educational needs in Irish mainstream primary schools. *European Journal of Special Needs Education*, 33(3), 396–411.
- Bartlett, N. A., & Freeze, T. B. (2019). Assess, sort, classify: "Othering" of indigenous students in Manitoba's schools. *Exceptionality Education International*, 29(2), 91–109.
- Becker, J., & Niehaves, B. (2007). Epistemological perspectives on IS research: A framework for analyzing and systematizing epistemological assumptions. *Information Systems Journal*, 17(2), 197–214. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2575.2007.00234.x
- Benner, G. J., Jolivette, K., & Baylin, A. (2020). The Differential responsiveness of youth with

- emotional and behavioral disorders and learning disabilities to intensive remedial reading instruction. Education & treatment of children (Springer Nature), 43(1), 95–107. https://doi.org/10.1007/s43494-020-00008-0
- Benner, G. J., Strycker, L. A., Pennefather, J., & Smith, J. L. M. (2022). Improving literacy for students with emotional and behavioral disorders: An innovative approach. *Teacher Education and Special Education*, 45(4), 331–348.
- Berchiatti, M., Ferrer, A., Galiana, L., Badenes-Ribera, L., & Longobardi, C. (2022). Bullying in students with special education needs and learning difficulties: The Role of the student–teacher relationship quality and students' social status in the peer group. *Child & Youth Care Forum*, *51*(3), 515–537. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10566-021-09640-2
- Bettencourt, G. M., Kimball, E., & Wells, R. S. (2018). Disability in postsecondary STEM learning environments: What faculty focus groups reveal about definitions and obstacles to effective support. *Journal of Postsecondary Education and Disability*, *31*(4), 383–396.
- Bettini, E., Wang, J., Cumming, M., Kimerling, J., & Schutz, S. (2019). Special educators' experiences of roles and responsibilities in self-contained classes for students with emotional/behavioral disorders. *Remedial & Special Education*, 40(3), 177–191. https://doi.org/10.1177/0741932518762470
- Blackwell, W., & Stockall, N. (2021). Incidental teaching of conversational skills for students with Autism Spectrum Disorder. *TEACHING Exceptional Children*, *54*(2), 116–123.
- Bogush, A., Kovshar, O., Knyazheva, I., Suiatynova, K., & Drevniak, L. (2022). Analysis of the key theoretical frameworks of the organization of inclusive education in a preschool establishment. *International Journal of Early Childhood Special Education*, *14*(1), 253–259. https://doi.org/10.9756/INT-JECSE/V14I1.221031

- Bolourian, Y., Losh, A., Hamsho, N., Eisenhower, A., & Blacher, J. (2022). General education teachers' perceptions of autism, inclusive practices, and relationship building strategies.

 Journal of Autism & Developmental Disorders, 52(9), 3977–3990.

 https://doi.org/10.1007/s10803-021-05266-4
- Bolourian, Y., Tipton-Fisler, L. A., & Yassine, J. (2020). Special education placement trends:

 Least Restrictive Environment across five years in California. *Contemporary School Psychology (Springer Science & Business Media B.V.)*, 24(2), 164–173.

 https://doi.org/10.1007/s40688-018-00214-z
- Bruhn, A. L., Estrapala, S., Mahatmya, D., Rila, A., & Vogelgesang, K. (2023). Professional development on data-based individualization: A mixed research study. *Behavioral Disorders*, 48(3), 187–200. https://doi.org/10.1177/0198742919876656
- Bruno, L. P., Scott, L. A., & Thoma, C. A. (2021). Exploring the role of professional development on secondary special educators' self-efficacy and use of evidence-based transition practices. *Journal of Vocational Rehabilitation*, *55*(2), 157–168. https://doi.org/10.3233/JVR-211154
- Burgueño, R., González-Cutre, D., Sicilia, Á., Alcaraz-Ibáñez, M., & Medina-Casaubón, J. (2022). Is the instructional style of teacher educators related to the teaching intention of pre-service teachers? A self-determination theory perspective-based analysis. *Educational Review*, 74(7), 1282–1304. https://doi.org/10.1080/00131911.2021.1890695
- Burland, J. P., Toonstra, J., Werner, J. L., Mattacola, C. G., Howell, D. M., & Howard, J. S. (2018). Decision to return to sport after anterior cruciate ligament reconstruction, Part I: A qualitative investigation of psychosocial factors. *Journal of Athletic Training (Allen Press)*, 53(5), 452–463.

- Carr, C. E., Umbreit, J., & Hartzell, R. (2022). Instructional level and engagement in students with behavioral disorders. *Behavioral Disorders*, 47(4), 236–244. https://doi.org/10.1177/01987429211050014
- Chambers, B., Murray, C. M., Boden, Z. V. R., & Kelly, M. P. (2020). "Sometimes labels need to exist": exploring how young adults with Asperger's syndrome perceive its removal from the diagnostic and statistical manual of Mental Disorders fifth edition. *Disability & Society*, 35(4), 589–608. https://doi.org/10.1080/09687599.2019.1649121
- Chen, Y.-C., Hou, H.-T., & Wu, C.-H. (2023). Design and development of a scaffolding-based mindtool for gamified learning classrooms. *Journal of Educational Computing Research*, 61(1), 3–29. https://doi.org/10.1177/07356331221101081
- Cho, H. J., Levesque-Bristol, C., & Yough, M. (2023). How autonomy-supportive learning environments promote Asian international students' academic adjustment: a self-determination theory perspective. *Learning Environments Research*, 26(1), 51–76. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10984-021-09401-x
- Clifford, M. E., Nguyen, A. J., & Bradshaw, C. P. (2020). Both/And: Tier 2 interventions with transdiagnostic utility in addressing emotional and behavioral disorders in youth. In Grantee Submission. *Grantee Submission*. https://doi.org/10.1080/15377903.2020.1714859
- Cole, S. M., Murphy, H. R., Frisby, M. B., Grossi, T. A., & Bolte, H. R. (2021). The relationship of special education placement and student academic outcomes. *The Journal of Special Education*, *54*(4), 217–227. https://doi.org/10.1177/0022466920925033
- Conroy, M., Houchins, D., Hitchcock, J., & Anderson, J. (2023). Use of mixed methods in

- emotional/behavioral disorders intervention research. *Behavioral Disorders*, 48(3), 163–173. https://doi.org/10.1177/01987429231160283
- Conroy, M. A., Sutherland, K. S., Granger, K. L., Marcoulides, K. M., Huang, K., & Montesion, A. (2022). Preliminary study of the effects of BEST in CLASS--Web on young children's social-emotional and behavioral outcomes. *Journal of Early Intervention*, 44(1), 78–96.
- Cornell, H. R., & Sayman, D. M. (2020). An exploratory study of teachers' experience with interagency collaboration for the education of students with EBD. *Preventing School Failure*, 64(2), 155–161. https://doi.org/10.1080/1045988X.2019.1703625
- Cosma, P., & Soni, A. (2019). A systematic literature review exploring the factors identified by children and young people with behavioural, emotional and social difficulties as influential on their experiences of education. *Emotional & Behavioural Difficulties*, 24(4), 421–435.
- Creswell, J. W., & Poth, C. N. (2016). *Qualitative Inquiry and Research Design: Choosing Among Five Approaches* (4th ed.). SAGE Publications, Inc. (US). https://mbsdirect.vitalsource.com/books/9781506330228
- Cumming, M. M., O'Brien, K. M., Brunsting, N. C., & Bettini, E. (2021). Special educators' working conditions, self-efficacy, and practices use with students with emotional/behavioral disorders. *Remedial and Special Education*, 42(4), 220–234.
- Curran, F. C., Bal, A., Goff, P., & Mitchell, N. (2021). Estimating the relationship between special education de-identification for emotional disturbance and academic and school discipline outcomes: Evidence from Wisconsin's longitudinal data. *Education & Urban Society*, *53*(1), 83–112. https://doi.org/10.1177/0013124520925053
- Dalgaard, N. T., Bondebjerg, A., Viinholt, B. C. A., & Filges, T. (2022). The effects of inclusion

- on academic achievement, socioemotional development and wellbeing of children with special educational needs. *Campbell Systematic Reviews*, *18*(4), 1–44. https://doi.org/10.1002/cl2.1291
- Deci, E. L., & Ryan, R. M. (1985). *Intrinsic motivation and self-determination in human behavior*. New York, NY: Plenum.
- Dempsey, N. M., Richardson, D. J., Cope, E., & Cronin, C. J. (2021). Creating and disseminating coach education policy: a case of formal coach education in grassroots football. *Sport*, *Education & Society*, 26(8), 917–930.
- de França Sá, A. L., & Marsico, G. (2022). Decoloniality and disruption of the scientific status

 Quo: Dissemination of universal theoretical assumptions in international research. *Review*of General Psychology, 26(4), 416–425. https://doi.org/10.1177/10892680211065169
- de Swart, F., Burk, W. J., Nelen, W. B. L., van Efferen, E., van der Stege, H., & Scholte, R. H. J. (2023). Social competence and relationships for students with emotional and behavioral disorders. *Journal of Special Education*, 56(4), 225–236.

 https://doi.org/10.1177/00224669221105838
- Deulen, A. A. (2013). Social constructivism and online learning environments: toward a theological model Christian educators. *Christian Education Journal*, *10*(1), 90–98.
- Dikel, W., & Stewart, D. (2011). Emotional/behavioral disorders and special education;

 Recommendations for system redesign of a failed category. *Hamline Law Review*, 34(3), 589–604.
- Dimitrellou, E., & Male, D. (2022). Creating inclusive schools: a self-review tool for educational practitioners. *Support for Learning*, *37*(2), 263–284. https://doi.org/10.1111/1467-9604.12408

- Easterbrooks, S. R., Lytle, L. R., Sheets, P. M., & Crook, B. S. (2004). Ignoring free, appropriate, public education, a costly mistake: The case of F.M. & L.G. versus Barbour County. *Journal of Deaf Studies & Deaf Education*, 9(2), 219–227. https://doi.org/10.1093/deafed/enh023
- Ennis, R. P., & Katsiyannis, A. (2018). Avoiding unwarranted segregation of students with behavioral needs: Lessons Learned. *Intervention in School & Clinic*, *53*(4), 212–215. https://doi.org/10.1177/1053451217712954
- Evashkovsky, M., & Osipova, A. V. (2023). Understanding novice special education teachers' and paraeducators' mentorship relationships: A Comparative Case Study. *Journal of Special Education Apprenticeship*, *12*(1).
- Ezer, F., & Aksüt, S. (2021). Opinions of graduate students of social studies education about qualitative research method. *International Education Studies*, *14*(3), 15–32.
- Ferolino, A. J., & Yap, R. J. C. (2023). A narrative evaluation of a faith-based aftercare program for youth involved in the juvenile justice system. *Archive for the Psychology of Religion / Archiv Für Religionspsychologie*, 45(1), 37–60. https://doi.org/10.1177/00846724221133452
- Ferreira, C., Robertson, J., Reyneke, M., & Pitt, L. (2023). Inside-Out: Using the marketing classroom to mirror diversity and inclusion of the marketplace. *Marketing Education Review*, *33*(1), 7–21. https://doi.org/10.1080/10528008.2022.2139624
- Filderman, M. J., Barnard-Brak, L., & Benner, G. J. (2022). Do teacher beliefs mediate the relationship between professional development and reading outcomes of students with emotional and behavioral disorders? An exploration of effects from a randomized

- controlled trial. Social Psychology of Education: *An International Journal*, 25(6), 1437–1458.
- Francis, G. L., Lavin, C. E., Sanchez, J., Reed, A. S., & Mason, L. (2021). Inclusive education definitions and practices: Exploring perspectives of education professionals in Mexico City. *Journal of Policy & Practice in Intellectual Disabilities*, *18*(1), 58–67. https://doi.org/10.1111/jppi.12356
- Francisco, M. P. B., Hartman, M., & Wang, Y. (2020). Inclusion and special education. *Education Sciences*, 10.
- Fraser, G., Bulbulia, J., Greaves, L. M., Wilson, M. S., & Sibley, C. G. (2020). Coding responses to an open-ended gender measure in a New Zealand national sample. *Journal of Sex Research*, *57*(8), 979–986. https://doi.org/10.1080/00224499.2019.1687640
- Friesen, N., & Su, H. (2023). What Is Pedagogy? Discovering the hidden pedagogical dimension. *Educational Theory*, 73(1), 6–28.
- Fritzsche, B., & Köpfer, A. (2022). (Para-)professionalism in dealing with structures of uncertainty—A cultural comparative study of teaching assistants in inclusion-oriented classrooms. *Disability & Society*, *37*(6), 972–992. https://doi.org/10.1080/09687599.2020.1867068
- Gagnon, J. C. (2022). Inclusion in American and Finnish Schools: The neglect of youth with emotional and behavioral disorders. *European Journal of Special Needs Education*, 37(4), 603–616. https://doi.org/10.1080/08856257.2021.1929235
- Garland, D. P., & Dieker, L. A. (2019). Effects of providing individualized clinical coaching

- with bug-in-ear technology to novice educators of students with emotional and behavioral disorders in inclusive secondary science classrooms. *Journal of Inquiry and Action in Education*, 10(2), 23–40.
- Garwood, J. D., & Ampuja, A. A. (2019). Inclusion of students with learning, emotional, and behavioral disabilities through strength-based approaches. *Intervention in School and Clinic*, 55(1), 46–51.
- Garwood, J. D., & Van Loan, C. L. (2019). Pre-service educators' dispositions toward inclusive practices for students with emotional and behavioral difficulties. *International Journal of Inclusive Education*, 23(12), 1332–1347.

 https://doi.org/10.1080/13603116.2018.1447614
- Gericke, J. W. (2012). Axiological assumptions in Qohelet: A historical-philosophical clarification. *Verbum et Ecclesia*, *33*(1), 1–6. https://doi.org/10.4102/ve.v33i1.515
- Gheyssens, E., Consuegra, E., Engels, N., & Struyven, K. (2021). Creating inclusive classrooms in primary and secondary schools: From noticing to differentiated practices. *Teaching & Teacher Education*, 100, N.PAG. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tate.2020.103210
- Gidlund, U. (2018). Why teachers find it difficult to include students with EBD in mainstream classes. *International Journal of Inclusive Education*, 22(4), 441–455. https://doi.org/10.1080/13603116.2017.1370739
- Graham, L. J., de Bruin, K., Lassig, C., & Spandagou, I. (2021). A scoping review of 20 Years of research on differentiation: Investigating conceptualization, characteristics, and methods used. *Review of Education*, *9*(1), 161–198.
- Halvorsen, T. (2019). Philosophy of social work a new and advantageous field of training and

- research. *Journal of Social Work Practice*, *33*(1), 55–66. https://doi.org/10.1080/02650533.2018.1438994
- Harbour, K. E., Livers, S. D., McDaniel, S. C., Gleason, J., & Barth, J. M. (2022). Professional development to support elementary mathematics and co-teaching practices:
 Collaborations between general and special education. *Mathematics Teacher Education* & *Development*, 24(2), 33–56.
- Harrison, J. R., Soares, D. A., & Joyce, J. (2019). Inclusion of students with emotional and behavioural disorders in general education settings: A scoping review of research in the US. *International Journal of Inclusive Education*, 23(12), 1209–1231.
 https://doi.org/10.1080/13603116.2018.1444107
- Healy, S., Block, M., & Kelly, L. (2020). The impact of online professional development on physical educators' knowledge and implementation of peer tutoring. *International Journal of Disability, Development & Education*, 67(4), 424–436. https://doi.org/10.1080/1034912X.2019.1599099
- Heinonen, K. (2015). Levels of reduction in van Manen's phenomenological hermeneutic method: an empirical example. *Nurse Researcher*, 22(5), 20–24. https://doi.org/10.7748/nr.22.5.20.e1327
- Hirsch, S. E., Griffith, C. A., Chow, J. C., Walker, A., & Walters, S. M. (2022). Professional learning and development for special educators serving students with emotional and behavioral disorders in self-contained settings. *Behavioral Disorders*, 48(1), 62–76. https://doi.org/10.1177/01987429221110838
- Hochtritt, L. (2019). Art educators' thrift shopping practices as social action. Studies in art education: *A Journal of Issues and Research in Art Education*, 60(4), 303–316.

- Hurwitz, S., Cohen, E. D., & Perry, B. L. (2021). Special education is associated with reduced odds of school discipline among students with disabilities. *Educational Researcher*, 50(2), 86–96. https://doi.org/10.3102/0013189X20982589
- Inbar-Furst, H., & Landau, Y. E. (2022). Including students with emotional and behavioral disorders: Case management work protocol. *Penn GSE Perspectives on Urban Education*, 20(1), 27–35.
- Jackson, K. M., Willis, K., Giles, L., Lastrapes, R. E., & Mooney, P. (2017). How to meaningfully incorporate co-teaching into programs for middle school students with emotional and behavioral disorders. *Beyond Behavior*, 26(1), 11–18. https://doi.org/10.1177/1074295617694408
- Jameson, J. M., Stegenga, S. M., Ryan, J., & Green, A. (2020). Free appropriate public education in the time of COVID-19. *Rural Special Education Quarterly*, *39*(4), 181–192. https://doi.org/10.1177/8756870520959659
- Karademir, A., Kartal, A., & Türk, C. (2020). Science education activities in Turkey: A qualitative comparison study in preschool classrooms. *Early Childhood Education Journal*, 48(3), 285–304. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10643-019-00981-1
- Karagianni, E., & Drigas, A. (2023). Using new technologies and mobiles for students with disabilities to build a sustainable inclusive learning and development ecosystem.

 International Journal of Interactive Mobile Technologies, 17(1), 57–73.

 https://doi.org/10.3991/ijim.v17i01.36359
- Karimah, S. N., & Hasegawa, S. (2022). Automatic engagement estimation in smart

- education/learning settings: A systematic review of engagement definitions, datasets, and methods. *Smart Learning Environments*, *9*(1), 1–48. https://doi.org/10.1186/s40561-022-00212-y
- Kauffman, J. M., Mattison, R. E., & Gregory, M. (2021). Core values, technologies, neuroscience, and law/policy: Next big things for emotional and behavioral disorders. In Advances in Learning and Behavioral Disabilities. Advances in learning and behavioral disabilities.
- Keane, K., Evans, R. R., Orihuela, C. A., & Mrug, S. (2023). Teacher–student relationships, stress, and psychosocial functioning during early adolescence. *Psychology in the Schools*. https://doi.org/10.1002/pits.23020
- Kelly, M., Ellaway, R. H., Reid, H., Ganshorn, H., Yardley, S., Bennett, D., & Dornan, T.
 (2018). Considering axiological integrity: a methodological analysis of qualitative evidence syntheses, and its implications for health professions education. *Advances in Health Sciences Education: Theory and Practice*, 23(4), 833–851.
 https://doi.org/10.1007/s10459-018-9829-y
- Kielblock, S., & Woodcock, S. (2023). Who's included and Who's not? An analysis of instruments that measure teachers' attitudes towards inclusive education. *Teaching & Teacher Education*, 122, N.PAG. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tate.2022.103922
- King, M. L. (2018). A social constructivism decision-making approach to managing incidental findings in neuroimaging research. *Ethics and Behavior*, 28(5), 393–410.
- Knopik, T., Błaszczak, A., Oszwa, U., & Maksymiuk, R. (2022). Assisting strategies of the

- parents of students with special educational needs in the emergency remote learning in Poland. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, *19*(14). https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph19148783
- Koehler, K. E., & Wild, T. A. (2019). Students with visual impairments' access and participation in the science curriculum: Views of teachers of students with visual impairments. *Journal of Science Education for Students with Disabilities*, 22(1).
- Krajnc, K. (2018). Vloga Učitelja Pri Inkluziji Otroka S Čustvenimi in Vedenjskimi TeAvami/Motnjami. *Iskanja*, *57*, 90–95.
- Kurth, J. A., & Jackson, L. (2022). Introduction to the special issue on the impact of placement on outcomes for students with complex support needs. *Research & Practice for Persons with Severe Disabilities*, 47(4), 187–190. https://doi.org/10.1177/15407969221134509
- Kurth, J. A., Ruppar, A. L., Toews, S. G., McCabe, K. M., McQueston, J. A., & Johnston, R.
 (2019). Considerations in placement decisions for students with extensive support needs:
 An analysis of LRE statements. *Research & Practice for Persons with Severe Disabilities*, 44(1), 3–19. https://doi.org/10.1177/1540796918825479
- Kwon, E. Y., Cannon, J. E., Knight, V. F., Mercer, S. H., & Guardino, C. (2023). Effects of social stories on increasing social interaction and engagement of deaf and hard of hearing students with autism spectrum disorder in inclusive settings. *Journal of Autism & Developmental Disorders*, 53(5), 1915–1929. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10803-022-05430-4
- Lanterman, C., Lockwood, A. B., Sealander, K., Winans, S., & Novelli, M. (2021). Expanding the gaze and moving the needle: Inclusion for students with EBD. *Preventing School Failure*, 65(3), 185–193. https://doi.org/10.1080/1045988X.2020.1852526

- Lawrence D, Mitrou F, Sawyer MG, & Zubrick SR. (2010). Smoking status, mental disorders and emotional and behavioural problems in young people: Child and adolescent component of the National Survey of Mental Health and Wellbeing. *Australian & New Zealand Journal of Psychiatry*, 44(9), 805–814. https://doi.org/10.3109/00048674.2010.482921
- Li, C., Mu, X., Tan, Y., Gu, C., Hu, B. Y., & Fan, C. (2023). Do field-dependent individuals tend to have lower creativity than field-independent ones? The role of informational cues in electronic brainstorming. *Interactive Learning Environments*, 31(2), 1106–1125. https://doi.org/10.1080/10494820.2020.1821715
- Liu, C., Yao, X., Wang, M., & Du, L. (2020). Academic support for students with developmental disabilities in elementary schools: The roles and experiences of Chinese classroom teachers. *International Journal of Developmental Disabilities*, 66(1), 1–12. https://doi.org/10.1080/20473869.2019.1653659
- Lübke, L., Pinquart, M., & Schwinger, M. (2019). How to measure teachers' attitudes towards inclusion: Evaluation and validation of the Differentiated Attitudes Towards Inclusion Scale (DATIS). *European Journal of Special Needs Education*, *34*(3), 297–311.
- Mahabbati, A., Prabawati, W., Syamsi, I., Purwanta, E., & Purwandari, P. (2022). School connectedness, school climate and emotional and behaviour disorders in students:Examining relationships. *Cypriot Journal of Educational Sciences*, 17(5), 1774–1790.
- Mason, R. A., Gunersel, A. B., Irvin, D. W., Wills, H. P., Gregori, E., An, Z. G., & Ingram, P. B. (2021). From the frontlines: Perceptions of paraprofessionals' roles and responsibilities.
 Teacher Education & Special Education, 44(2), 97–116.
 https://doi.org/10.1177/0888406419896627

- Mathews, H. M., Lillis, J. L., Bettini, E., Peyton, D. J., Pua, D., Oblath, R., Jones, N. D., Smith,
 S. W., & Sutton, R. (2021). Working conditions and special educators' reading
 instruction for students with emotional and behavioral disorders. *Exceptional Children*,
 87(4), 476–496.
- Mathews, H. M., Myers, A. M., & Youngs, P. A. (2023). The role of teacher self-efficacy in special education teacher candidates' sensemaking: A mixed-methods investigation. *Remedial & Special Education*, 44(3), 209–224.

 https://doi.org/10.1177/07419325221101812
- Mauthner, N. S., & Doucet, A. (2003). Reflexive accounts and accounts of reflexivity in qualitative data analysis. *Sociology*, *37*(3), 413–431. https://doi.org/10.1177/00380385030373002
- May, B., & LaMont, E. (2014). Rethinking learning disabilities in the college classroom: A multicultural perspective. *Social Work Education*, *33*(7), 959–975. https://doi.org/10.1080/02615479.2014.895806
- Mayo-Dosayla, C. M., Madrigal, D. V., & Dioso, D. P. D. (2022). A qualitative inquiry on instructional strategies and assessments in teaching social science general education courses in the online learning modality. *Technium Social Sciences Journal*, *36*, 177–190. https://doi.org/10.47577/tssj.v36i1.7530
- Mazandarani, O. (2022). Philosophical Assumptions in ELT Research: A systematic review.

 *Asia-Pacific Education Researcher (Springer Science & Business Media B.V.), 31(3), 217–226. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40299-021-00554-0
- McConnell, A., Sanford, C., Martin, J., Cameto, R., & Hodge, L. (2021). Skills, behaviors,

- expectations, and experiences associated with improved postsecondary outcomes for students with significant cognitive disabilities. *Research and Practice for Persons with Severe Disabilities*, 46(4), 240–258.
- McFarland, J., Stark, P., & Cui, J. (2016). Trends in high school dropout and completion rates in the United States: 2013. Compendium Report. NCES 2016-117. *National Center for Education Statistics*.
- McGrath, V. (2009). Reviewing the evidence on how adult students learn: An examination of Knowles' Model of Andragogy. *Adult Learner: The Irish Journal of Adult and Community Education*, 99–110.
- McGuire, S. N., & Meadan, H. (2022). General educators' perceptions of social inclusion of elementary students with emotional and behavioral disorders. *Behavioral Disorders*, 48(1), 16–28.
- McKenna, J. W., Newton, X., Brigham, F., & Garwood, J. (2022). Inclusive instruction for students with emotional disturbance: An investigation of classroom practice. *Journal of Emotional and Behavioral Disorders*, 30(1), 29–43.
- McKenna, J. W., Solis, M., Brigham, F., & Adamson, R. (2019). The responsible inclusion of students receiving special education services for emotional disturbance: Unraveling the practice to research gap. *Behavior Modification*, 43(4), 587–611.
 https://doi.org/10.1177/0145445518762398
- Melloy, K. J., & Murry, F. R. (2019). A Conceptual Framework: Creating socially just schools for students with emotional and behavioral disabilities. *World Journal of Education*, *9*(5), 113–124.
- Miller, M. A. (2005). Using peer tutoring in the classroom: Applications for students with

- emotional/behavioral disorders. Beyond Behavior, 15(1), 25–30.
- Mooney, P., & Ryan, J. B. (2022). Research-based strategies to improve math instruction for teachers and outcomes for students with emotional and behavioral disorders. *Beyond Behavior*, *31*(1), 3–4. https://doi.org/10.1177/10742956211072840
- Moore, T. C., Gordon, J. R., Williams, A., & Eshbaugh, J. F. (2022). A positive version of the good behavior game in a self-contained classroom for EBD: Effects on individual student behavior. *Behavioral Disorders*, 47(2), 67–83. https://doi.org/10.1177/01987429211061125
- Morgan, P. L., Woods, A. D., Wang, Y., Farkas, G., Hillemeier, M. M., & Mitchell, C. (2023). Which students with disabilities are placed primarily outside of US elementary school general education classrooms? *Journal of Learning Disabilities*, *56*(3), 180–192. https://doi.org/10.1177/00222194221094019
- Morris, J. R., Hughes, E. M., Stocker, J. D., & Davis, E. S. (2022). Using video modeling, explicit instruction, and augmented reality to teach mathematics to students with disabilities. *Learning Disability Quarterly*, 45(4), 306–319. https://doi.org/10.1177/07319487211040470
- Moustakas, C. (1994). *Phenomenological Research Methods*. SAGE Publications, Inc. (US). https://mbsdirect.vitalsource.com/books/9781483384856
- Murphy, M., & Johnson, A. (2023). Dual Identification? The effects of English Learner (EL) status on subsequent Special Education (SPED) placement in an Equity-Focused District. *Educational Evaluation & Policy Analysis*, 45(2), 311–335. https://doi.org/10.3102/01623737221121786
- Murza, K. A., & Ehren, B. J. (2020). Considering the language disorder label debate from a

- school speech-language pathology lens. *Perspectives of the ASHA Special Interest Groups*, *5*(1), 47–54.
- Mutter, E. R., Liu, Z., Gollwitzer, P. M., & Oettingen, G. (2023). More direction but less freedom? How task rules affect intrinsic motivation. *Journal of Experimental Psychology: General*, *152*(5), 1484–1501. https://doi.org/10.1037/xge0001348.supp (Supplemental)
- Ndivhuwo Matshanisi, Kekana, T. J., & Mogoboya, M. J. (2022). Pictorial illustration challenges in texts faced by visually impaired students at the University of Limpopo: A social model of disability theory. *Special Education*, 2(43), 661–681.
- Neubauer, B. E., Witkop, C. T., & Varpio, L. (2019). How phenomenology can help us learn from the experiences of others. *Perspectives on Medical Education*, 8(2), 90–97. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40037-019-0509-2
- Note, N., De Backer, F., & Donder, L. D. (2021). A novel viewpoint on andragogy: Enabling moments of community. Adult education quarterly: *A Journal of Research and Theory*, 71(1), 3–19.
- Nukhu, R., & Singh, S. (2023). Work dynamics of work-at-home homestay hosts: A Study linking self-determination theory. *IUP Journal of Organizational Behavior*, 22(2), 24–38.
- O'Connor, R. E., Beach, K. D., Sanchez, V. M., Kim, J. J., Knight Teague, K., Orozco, G., & Jones, B. T. (2019). Teaching academic vocabulary to sixth grade students with disabilities. In grantee submission. *Grantee Submission*. https://doi.org/10.1177/0731948718821091
- Odo, D. M. (2016). An investigation of the development of pre-service teacher assessment

- literacy through individualized tutoring and peer debriefing. *Journal of Inquiry and Action in Education*, 7(2), 31–61.
- Oelrich, N. M. (2012). A New "Idea": Ending racial disparity in the identification of students with emotional disturbance. *South Dakota Law Review*, *57*(1), 9–41.
- Oliveira, T. R., Alvarez, M. C., & Gisi, B. (2023). From an offender-based to an offense-based justice: Changes in sentencing patterns in the juvenile justice system in São Paulo from 1990 to 2006. *Crime, Law & Social Change*, 79(5), 643–666. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10611-022-10065-8
- Orr, R. K., Caldarella, P., Hansen, B. D., & Wills, H. P. (2020). Managing student behavior in a middle school special education classroom using CW-FIT Tier 1. *Journal of Behavioral Education*, 29(1), 168–187. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10864-019-09325-w
- Owens, T. L., & Lo, Y. (2022). Function-based self-advocacy training for students with or at risk for emotional and behavioral disorders in general education settings. *Journal of Emotional and Behavioral Disorders*, 30(3), 185–198.
- Park, S., Lee, S., Alonzo, M., & Adair, J. K. (2021). Reconceptualizing assistance for young children of color with disabilities in an inclusion classroom. *Topics in Early Childhood Special Education*, 41(1), 57–68.
- Peltier, C., & Vannest, K. J. (2018). Using the concrete representational abstract (CRA) instructional framework for mathematics with students with emotional and behavioral disorders. *Preventing School Failure*, 62(2), 73–82. https://doi.org/10.1080/1045988X.2017.1354809
- Pereira, L. C., & Lavoie, J. (2018). Friends, foes, and self-defence: students with EBD

- navigating social conflicts and bullying. *Emotional & Behavioral Difficulties*, 23(1), 15–27. https://doi.org/10.1080/13632752.2017.1309796
- Pizana, R. F. (2022). Collective efficacy and co-teaching relationships in inclusive classrooms. International journal of multidisciplinary: *Applied Business & Education Research*, *3*(9), 1812–1825. https://doi.org/10.11594/ijmaber.03.09.22
- Plust, U., Murphy, D., & Joseph, S. (2021). A systematic review and metasynthesis of qualitative research into teachers' authenticity. *Cambridge Journal of Education*, *51*(3), 301–325. https://doi.org/10.1080/0305764X.2020.1829546
- Qazi Ha. (2011). Evaluating goodness in qualitative researcher. *Bangladesh Journal of Medical Science*, 10(1), 11–20. https://doi.org/10.3329/bjms.v10i1.7314
- Reiner, K. (2018). Least Restrictive Environments: Where segregated, self-contained special education classrooms fall on the continuum of placements and why mainstreaming should occur with same-age peers. *Michigan State Law Review*, 2018(3), 743–792.
- Riden, B. S., Kumm, S., & Maggin, D. M. (2022). Evidence-based behavior management strategies for students with or at risk of EBD: A mega review of the literature. *Remedial & Special Education*, 43(4), 255–269. https://doi.org/10.1177/07419325211047947
- Robinson, D., Codina, G., Strogilos, V., & Dimitrellou, E. (2021). Education as a catalyst for the social inclusion of people with learning disabilities. *British Journal of Learning Disabilities*, 49(4), 385–392. https://doi.org/10.1111/bld.12432
- Rodgers, W. J., Weiss, M. P., & Ismail, H. A. (2021). Defining specially designed instruction:

 A systematic literature review. *Learning Disabilities Research & Practice*, *36*(2), 96–109.
- Rodríguez Fuentes, A., Caurcel Cara, M. J., Gallardo-Montes, C. del P., & Crisol Moya, E.

- (2021). Psychometric properties of the questionnaire "demands and potentials of ICT and apps for assisting people with autism" (DPTIC-AUT-Q). *Education Sciences*, 11.
- Rosadi, K. I., Parida, Rosnawati, Milasari, Saripuddin, Maryamah, & Mariya, S. (2022).

 Management of educators and education personnel on the empowerment of educational success at SMP negeri 2 Tanjungpinang. *Journal of Positive School Psychology*, 6(5), 5324–5335.
- Rowe, D. A., Blevins, M., Kittelman, A., & Walker, V. L. (2023). Supporting inclusive practices in the least restrictive environment. *Teaching Exceptional Children*, *55*(3), 152–154. https://doi.org/10.1177/00400599231156042
- Rukavina, P., Doolittle, S., Li, W., Beale, T. A., & Manson, M. (2019). Teachers' perspectives on creating an inclusive climate in middle school physical education for overweight students. *Journal of School Health*, 89(6), 476–484.
- Ryan, R. M., & Deci, E. L. (2000). Self-determination theory and the facilitation of intrinsic motivation, social development, and well-being. *American Psychologist*, *55*(1), 68–78. https://doi.org/10.1037/0003-066X.55.1.68
- Sabayleh, O. A., & Sakarneh, M. A. (2023). Effective teaching strategies for students with learning disabilities in inclusive classroom: A comparative study. Educational administration: *Theory & Practice*, 29(1), 209–220.
- Sahakyan, T. (2023). Member-checking through diagrammatic elicitation: Constructing meaning with participants. *TESOL Quarterly: A Journal for Teachers of English to Speakers of Other Languages and of Standard English as a Second Dialect*, *57*(2), 686–701. https://doi.org/10.1002/tesq.3210
- Saldaña, J. (2013). The coding manual for qualitative researchers. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.

- Saldaña, J., & Mallette, L. A. (2017). Environmental coding: A new method using the SPELIT environmental analysis matrix. *Qualitative Inquiry*, 23(2), 161–167. https://doi.org/10.1177/1077800416679143
- Sanchez-De Miguel, M., Orkaizagirre-Gomara, A., Izagirre-Otaegi, A., Badiola, I., Ortiz de Elguea-Díaz, F. J., Gomez-Gastiasoro, A., Ferriz-Valero, A., & Goudas, M. (2023).

 Association among university students' motivation, resilience, perceived competence, and classroom climate from the perspective of self-determination theory. *Education Sciences*, *13*(2), 147. https://doi.org/10.3390/educsci13020147
- Sanders, S., Ennis, R. P., & Losinski, M. (2018). Academic and behavioral strategies to enhance the understanding of expository text for secondary students with EBD. *Beyond Behavior*, 27(2), 65–73. https://doi.org/10.1177/1074295618780975
- Sanderson, K. A., & Goldman, S. E. (2023). Factors associated with parent IEP satisfaction.

 *Remedial & Special Education, 44(3), 184–196.

 https://doi.org/10.1177/07419325221111571
- Scott, LaRon A., Elizabeth Bettini, and Nelson Brunsting. 2023. "Special education teachers of color burnout, working conditions, and recommendations for EBD research." *Journal of Emotional & Behavioral Disorders* 31(2): 97–108. doi:10.1177/10634266221146495.
- Scott, L. A., Evans, I., & Berry, R. (2022). Recommendations for teacher education programs to prepare practitioners for diverse urban schools. *Intervention in School and Clinic*, 58(2), 76–83.
- Sengupta, K., Shah, H., Ghosh, S., Sanghvi, D., Mahadik, S., Dani, A., Deshmukh, O., Pacione, L., Dixon, P., Salomone, E., & Servili, C. (2023). World Health Organization-Caregiver Skills Training (WHO-CST) program: Feasibility of delivery by non-specialist providers

- in real-world urban settings in India. *Journal of Autism & Developmental Disorders*, 53(4), 1444–1461. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10803-021-05367-0
- Sheldon, K. M., & Prentice, M. (2019). Self-determination theory as a foundation for personality researchers. *Journal of Personality*, 87(1), 5–14. https://doi.org/10.1111/jopy.12360
- Shenton, A. K. (2004). Strategies for ensuring trustworthiness in qualitative research projects. *Education for Information*, 22(2), 63–75. https://doi.org/10.3233/EFI-2004-22201
- Silvestri, J. A., & Hartman, M. C. (2022). Inclusion and deaf and hard of hearing students: Finding asylum in the LRE. *Education Sciences*, *12*(11), 773. https://doi.org/10.3390/educsci12110773
- Soares, D. A., Harrison, J. R., Melloy, K., Baran, A., & Mohlmann, M. (2022). Practice-to-research: Responding to the complexities of inclusion for students with emotional and behavioral disorders with recommendations for schools. *NASSP Bulletin*, *106*(2), 77–108.
- State, T. M., Simonsen, B., Hirn, R. G., & Wills, H. (2019). Bridging the research-to-practice gap through effective professional development for teachers working with students with emotional and behavioral disorders. *Behavioral Disorders*, *44*(2), 107–116. https://doi.org/10.1177/0198742918816447
- Stone, D. H. (2019). The least restrictive environment for providing education, treatment, and community services for persons with disabilities: Rethinking the concept. *Touro Law Review*, *35*(1), 523–590.
- Supriadi, I. R., Haanappel, C. P., Saptawati, L., Widodo, N. H., Sitohang, G., Usman, Y., Anom,I. B., Saraswati, R. D., Heger, M., Doevendans, P. A., Satari, H. I., Voor in 't holt, A. F.,& Severin, J. A. (2023). Infection prevention and control in Indonesian hospitals:

- identification of strengths, gaps, and challenges. *Antimicrobial Resistance & Infection Control*, 12(1), 1–11. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13756-023-01211-5
- Talaee, E., Bozorg, H., & Schrittesser, I. (2023). Implications of teachers' personal practical knowledge for teacher training programs: A case study of primary teachers. *International Journal of Education in Mathematics, Science and Technology*, 11(2), 407–423.
- Tamsah, H., Ilyas, G. B., Nurung, J., Jusuf, E., & Rahmi, S. (2023). Soft skill competency and employees' capacity as the intervening factors between training effectiveness and health workers' performance. *Cogent Business & Management*, *10*(1), 1–19. https://doi.org/10.1080/23311975.2023.2199493
- Tang, A. L. L., Tung, V. W. S., & Cheng, T. O. (2023). Teachers' perceptions of the potential use of educational robotics in management education. *Interactive Learning Environments*, 31(1), 313–324. https://doi.org/10.1080/10494820.2020.1780269
- Tiwari, A. (2023). How teachers view inclusion of special education students: A case from south Texas. *International Journal of Educational Reform*, *32*(3), 314–331. https://doi.org/10.1177/10567879231159083
- Turnage, L. (2020). Out of sight, out of mind: Rural special education and the limitations of the IDEA. *Columbia Journal of Law & Social Problems*, *54*(1), 1-47.
- Umemoto, T., & Inagaki, T. (2023). Relationship between motivation instability and type of motivation level in university learning based on self-determination theory: A cross-lagged panel model. *Psychological Reports*, 126(3), 1516–1530.
 https://doi.org/10.1177/00332941211067389
- Valore, P., Dainotti, M. G., & Kopczyński, O. (2021). Ontological categorizations and selection

- biases in cosmology: The case of extra galactic objects. *Foundations of Science*, 26(3), 515–529. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10699-020-09699-5
- van den Berg, Y. H. M., & Stoltz, S. (2018). Enhancing social inclusion of children with externalizing problems through classroom seating arrangements: A randomized controlled trial. *Journal of Emotional and Behavioral Disorders*, 26(1), 31–41.
- van Manen, M. (2017). But Is It Phenomenology? *Qualitative Health Research*. 27(6):775-779. doi:10.1177/1049732317699570
- Van Mieghem, A., Struyf, E., & Verschueren, K. (2022). The relevance of sources of support for teachers' self-efficacy beliefs towards students with special educational needs. *European Journal of Special Needs Education*, 37(1), 28–42. https://doi.org/10.1080/08856257.2020.1829866
- Vannest, K. J., Temple-Harvey, K. K., & Mason, B. A. (2009). Adequate yearly progress for students with emotional and behavioral disorders through research-based practices.

 *Preventing School Failure, 53(2), 73–83. https://doi.org/10.3200/PSFL.53.2.73-84
- Verret, C., Gaudreau, N., Massé, L., & Nadeau, M.-F. (2022). Ontosystemic and microsystemic conditions toward inclusive education of students with emotional and behavioral disorders in Quebec primary school. *International Journal of Special Education*, *37*(2), 33–42. https://doi.org/10.52291/ijse.2022.37.38
- Virani, Z., & Ali, N. H. (2022). Perceived challenges and parental involvement in inclusive education: An exploratory study of primary schools in Pakistan. *Journal of Education & Educational Development*, 9(2), 302–321. https://doi.org/10.22555/joeed.v9i2.669
- Vyrastekova, J. (2021). Social inclusion of students with special educational needs assessed by

- the inclusion of other in the self-scale. *PloS One*, *16*(4), e0250070. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0250070
- Wallhead, T. L., Hastie, P. A., Harvey, S., & Pill, S. (2021). Academics' perspectives on the future of sport education. *Physical Education & Sport Pedagogy*, 26(5), 533–548. https://doi.org/10.1080/17408989.2020.1823960
- Ward, P., Lundberg, N., Ellis, G., & Berrett, K. (2010). Adolescent peer followership: Self-determination theory perspective. *Journal of Park & Recreation Administration*, 28(2), 20–35.
- Webster, R., & De Boer, A. A. (2021). Where next for research on teaching assistants: The case for an international response. *European Journal of Special Needs Education*, *36*(2), 294–305. https://doi.org/10.1080/08856257.2021.1901368
- Weiss, S., Muckenthaler, M., & Kiel, E. (2021). Students with emotional and behavioral problems in inclusive classes: A Critical Incident Analysis. *Journal of Emotional & Behavioral Disorders*, 29(4), 213–225. https://doi.org/10.1177/1063426620967286
- Westling, D. L. (2019). Inclusion in the United States: Correlations between key state variables.

 *International Journal of Inclusive Education, 23(6), 575–593.

 https://doi.org/10.1080/13603116.2018.1441340
- Whitlow, D., Cooper, R., & Couvillon, M. (2019). Voices from those not heard: A case study on the inclusion experience of adolescent girls with emotional–behavioral disabilities. *Children & Schools*, 41(1), 45–54. https://doi.org/10.1093/cs/cdy027
- Wills, H. P., Caldarella, P., Williams, L., Fleming, K., & Chen, P.-Y. (2023). Middle school

- classroom management: A randomized control trial of class-wide function-related intervention teams for middle schools (CW-FIT MS). *Journal of Behavioral Education*, 32(2), 189–211. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10864-021-09455-0
- Wilson, W. J., Haegele, J. A., & Kelly, L. E. (2020). Revisiting the narrative about least restrictive environment in physical education. *Quest* (00336297), 72(1), 19–32. https://doi.org/10.1080/00336297.2019.1602063
- Yanchar, S. C. (2015). Truth and disclosure in qualitative research: Implications of hermeneutic realism. *Qualitative Research in Psychology*, *12*(2), 107–124. https://doi.org/10.1080/14780887.2014.933460
- Yell, M. L. (2019). Endrew F. v. Douglas County School District (2017): Implications for educating students with emotional and behavioral disorders. *Behavioral Disorders*, 45(1), 53–62. https://doi.org/10.1177/0198742919865454
- Yin, R. K. (2017). Case Study Research and Applications: Design and Methods (6th ed.). SAGE Publications, Inc. (US). https://mbsdirect.vitalsource.com/books/9781506336183
- Yoon, I. H. (2019). Haunted trauma narratives of inclusion, race, and disability in a school community. Educational studies: *Journal of the American Educational Studies Association*, 55(4), 420–435.
- Yue, X., Liu, L., Chen, W., Preece, D. A., Liu, Q., Li, H., Wang, Y., & Qian, Q. (2022).

 Affective-cognitive-behavioral heterogeneity of attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder (ADHD): Emotional dysregulation as a sentinel symptom differentiating "ADHD-simplex" and "ADHD-complex" syndromes? *Journal of Affective Disorders*, 307, 133–141. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jad.2022.03.065
- Zabeli, N., Kaçaniku, F., & Koliqi, D. (2021). Towards the inclusion of students with special

- needs in higher education: Challenges and prospects in Kosovo. Cogent Education, 8(1).
- Zagona, A. L., Kurth, J. A., Lockman Turner, E., Pace, J., Shogren, K., Lansey, K., Jameson, M., Burnette, K., Mansouri, M., Hicks, T., & Gerasimova, D. (2022). Ecobehavioral analysis of the experiences of students with complex support needs in different classroom types.

 *Research and Practice for Persons with Severe Disabilities, 47(4), 209–228.
- Zhang, K. A., & Markon, K. E. (2021). Age and gender measurement noninvariance of the adult ADHD self-report scale screener. *Journal of Attention Disorders*, 25(3), 403–413. https://doi.org/10.1177/1087054718808059
- Zolkoski, S. M. (2019). The importance of teacher-student relationships for students with emotional and behavioral disorders. *Preventing School Failure*, *63*(3), 236–241. https://doi.org/10.1080/1045988X.2019.1579165
- Zoromski, A., Evans, S. W., Sarno Owens, J., Holdaway, A., & Royo Romero, A. S. (2021).

 Middle school teachers' perceptions and use of classroom management strategies and associations with student behavior. *Journal of Emotional & Behavioral Disorders*, 29(4), 199–212. https://doi.org/10.1177/1063426620957624
- Zweers, I., Bijstra, J. O., de Castro, B. O., Tick, N. T., van de Schoot, R. A. G. J., & Eckert, T. (2019). Which school for whom? Placement choices for inclusion or exclusion of Dutch students with social, emotional, and behavioral difficulties in primary education. *School Psychology Review*, 48(1), 46–67. https://doi.org/10.17105/SPR-2017-0008.V48-1
- Zweers, I., Tick, N. T., Bijstra, J. O., & van de Schoot, R. (2020). How do included and excluded students with SEBD function socially and academically after 1,5 year of special education services? *European Journal of Developmental Psychology*, 17(3), 317–335. https://doi.org/10.1080/17405629.2019.1590193

Appendix A

LIBERTY UNIVERSITY. INSTITUTIONAL REVIEW BOARD

September 20, 2023

Marvin Marshall Kristy Motte

Re: IRB Exemption - IRB-FY23-24-317 INCLUSIVE CLASSROOM SETTING FOR HIGH SCHOOL STUDENTS WITH EMOTIONAL BEHAVIOR DISORDERS: A PHENOMENOLOGICAL STUDY OF EDUCATORS' EXPERIENCES

Dear Marvin Marshall, Kristy Motte,

The Liberty University Institutional Review Board (IRB) has reviewed your application in accordance with the Office for Human Research Protections (OHRP) and Food and Drug Administration (FDA) regulations and finds your study to be exempt from further IRB review. This means you may begin your research with the data safeguarding methods mentioned in your approved application, and no further IRB oversight is required.

Your study falls under the following exemption category, which identifies specific situations in which human participants research is exempt from the policy set forth in 45 CFR 46:104(d):

Category 2.(iii). Research that only includes interactions involving educational tests (cognitive, diagnostic, aptitude, achievement), survey procedures, interview procedures, or observation of public behavior (including visual or auditory recording) if at least one of the following criteria is met:

The information obtained is recorded by the investigator in such a manner that the identity of the human subjects can readily be ascertained, directly or through identifiers linked to the subjects, and an IRB conducts a limited IRB review to make the determination required by §46.111(a)(7).

For a PDF of your exemption letter, click on your study number in the My Studies card on your Cayuse dashboard. Next, click the Submissions bar beside the Study Details bar on the Study details page. Finally, click Initial under Submission Type and choose the Letters tab toward the bottom of the Submission Details page. Your information sheet and final versions of your study documents can also be found on the same page under the Attachments tab.

Please note that this exemption only applies to your current research application, and any modifications to your protocol must be reported to the Liberty University IRB for verification of continued exemption status. You may report these changes by completing a modification submission through your Cayuse IRB account.

If you have any questions about this exemption or need assistance in determining whether possible modifications to your protocol would change your exemption status, please email us at irb@liberty.edu.

Sincerely,
G. Michele Baker, PhD, CIP
Administrative Chair
Research Ethics Office

Appendix B

Consent

Title of the Project: Inclusive Classroom Setting for High School Students with Emotional Behavior Disorders: A Phenomenological Study of Educators' Experiences

Principal Investigator: Marvin Marshall, Doctoral Candidate, School of Education, Liberty

University

Invitation to be Part of a Research Study

You are invited to participate in a research study. To participate, you must be Participants must be a general or special education teacher with at least one year experience educating emotional behavior disorder students in an inclusive classroom setting. Taking part in this research project is voluntary.

Please take time to read this entire form and ask questions before deciding whether to take part in this research.

What is the study about and why is it being done?

The purpose of the study is to describe the experiences of public high school teachers educating students with emotional behavior disorders in inclusive classroom settings.

What will happen if you take part in this study?

If you agree to be in this study, I will ask you to do the following:

- 1. First procedure (participate in an in-person, audio-recorded interview that will take approximately 30 minutes).
- 2. Second procedure (participate in a focus-group, audio-recorded interview with other participants that will take approximately 60 minutes).
- 3. Additional procedure is to provide behavioral documents of students with emotional behavior disorders at the time of the individual interview meeting.

How could you or others benefit from this study?

Participants should not expect to receive a direct benefit from taking part in this study.

Benefits to society include description of expected benefits to society. Society will benefit from this study by getting a better understanding of teachers' experiences in inclusive classroom settings instructing students with EBDs. Considering the different characteristics of students with special needs, one of the factors of inclusive education is to change the negative views teachers have, which is imperative for creating a comfortable learning environment in the inclusive classroom setting.

What risks might you experience from being in this study?

The expected risks from participating in this study are minimal, which means they are equal to the risks you would encounter in everyday life.

How will personal information be protected?

The records of this study will be kept private. Published reports will not include any information that will make it possible to identify a subject. Research records will be stored securely, and only the researcher will have access to the records.

- Participant responses will be kept confidential by replacing names with pseudonyms.
 Interviews will be conducted in a location where others will not easily overhear the conversation.
- Confidentiality cannot be guaranteed in focus group settings. While discouraged, other
 members of the focus group may share what was discussed with persons outside of the
 group.
- If data collected from you is reused or shared, any information that could identify you, if applicable, will be removed beforehand.
- Data will be stored on a password-locked computer in a locked file cabinet. After three years, all electronic records will be deleted and all hardcopy records will be shredded.
- Recordings will be stored on a password locked computer for three years. The researcher will have access to these recordings.

How will you be compensated for being part of the study?

Participants will not be compensated for participating in this study.

Is study participation voluntary?

Participation in this study is voluntary. Your decision whether to participate will not affect your current or future relations with Liberty University or Columbia County School District. If you decide to participate, you are free to not answer any question or withdraw at any time without affecting those relationships.

What should you do if you decide to withdraw from the study?

If you choose to withdraw from the study, please contact the researcher at the email address/phone number included in the next paragraph. Should you choose to withdraw, data collected from you, apart from focus group data, will be destroyed immediately and will not be included in this study. Focus group data will not be destroyed, but your contributions to the focus group will not be included in the study if you choose to withdraw.

Whom do you contact if you have questions or concerns about the study?

The researcher conducting this study is Marvin Marshall. You may ask any questions you have now. If you have questions later, you are encouraged to contact him at				
Whom do you contact if you have questions about your rights as a research participant?				
If you have any questions or concerns regarding this study and would like to talk to someone other than the researcher, you are encouraged to contact the IRB. Our physical address is Institutional Review Board, 1971 University Blvd., Green Hall Ste. 2845, Lynchburg, VA, 24515; our phone number is 434-592-5530, and our email address is <u>irb@liberty.edu</u> .				
Disclaimer: The Institutional Review Board (IRB) is tasked with ensuring that human subjects research will be conducted in an ethical manner as defined and required by federal regulations. The topics covered and viewpoints expressed or alluded to by student and faculty researchers are those of the researchers and do not necessarily reflect the official policies or positions of Liberty University.				
Your Consent				
By signing this document, you are agreeing to be in this study. Make sure you understand what the study is about before you sign. You will be given a copy of this document for your records. The researcher will keep a copy with the study records. If you have any questions about the study after you sign this document, you can contact the study team using the information provided above.				
I have read and understood the above information. I have asked questions and have received answers. I consent to participate in the study.				
☐ The researcher has my permission to audio-record me as part of my participation in this study.				
Printed Subject Name				
Signature & Date				

Appendix C

Recruitment Letter Email to Interviewee Participant

Dear Recipient:

As a student in the School of Education at Liberty University, I am conducting research as part of the requirements for a doctoral degree. The purpose of my research is to describe the experiences of public high school teachers educating students with emotional behavior disorders in inclusive classroom settings, and I am writing to invite eligible participants to join my study.

Participants must be a general or special education teacher with at least one year experience educating emotional behavior disorder students in an inclusive classroom setting. Participants, if willing, will be asked to attend a 30-minute individual interview and a 60-minute focus-group interview with other participants. Documents of students with emotional behavior disorders will be obtained at the individual interview meeting. Member-checking will be conducted by asking the participants to review the individual interviews and focus group discussions that were transcribed to ensure accuracy, which should take approximately 15 minutes. Names and other identifying information will be requested as part of this study, but participant identities will not be disclosed.

To participate, please contact me at	or	for more
information.		

A consent document will be given to you at the time of the interview. The consent document contains additional information about my research. If you choose to participate, you will need to sign the consent document and return it to me at the time of the interview. Doing so will indicate that you have read the consent information and would like to take part in the survey.

Sincerely,

Marvin Marshall Researcher

Appendix D

Audit Trail

September 4, 2023, received site approval.

September 20, 2023, received Liberty University IRB approval for the study.

September 22, 2023, contacted all participants via email asking them to participate in the study.

September 29, 2023, sent invitations, consent forms, and questionnaires to candidates.

October 13, 2023, received all consent forms to conduct study.

October 17, 2023, conducted interview with Benny.

October 19, 2023, conducted interview with Harry.

October 19, 2023, conducted interview with Beth.

October 23, 2023, conducted interview with Pam.

October 24, 2023, conducted interview with Nancy.

October 26, 2023, conducted interview with Troy.

October, 30, 2023, Behavioral Intervention Plan and Modification documentation received.

November 1, 2023, conducted interview with Gayle.

November 3, 2023, conducted interview with Robbie.

November 3, 2023, conducted interview with Preston.

November 6, 2023, conducted interview with Taylor.

November 6, 2023, conducted interview with Sara.

November 9, 2023, conducted interview with Becky.

November 13, 2023, conducted interview with Wanda.

November 14, 2023, conducted interview with Hooper.

November 14, 2023, focus group conducted with Benny, Harry, Beth, Robbie, Nancy, Hooper, and Becky.

November 17, 2023, focus group conducted with Pam, Preston, Taylor, Sara, Gayle, Wanda, and Troy.